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p1oMa.io4Foreword
This small volume is the outgrowth of two purposes.The first was apersonal one, to learnmore about

the area’s past history ‐ the facts and events in their relation to its present state.
As the search proceeded, revealing widely scattered material, such as written and oral reports,

photographs, old land grants and letters which may soon be hard to retrieve, a second purpose emerged.
This was to put the findings into such form asmight be preserved, in context, for pleasure-reading, aswell
ascertain convenience for similar future quests.

Reference to reports on recent discoveries relating to men of pre-historic times is included because of
the widespread interest recently focused on Russell Cave, and because of the new light the findings reflect
on the habits of early man in this corner.

While certain parts of the political history may betedious reading for some, it is included for its value
to abetter understandingof today’s government, language, customs, education and human behavior.

The area discussed here is small, but asapart of the Southeastern UnitedStates, it has felt, directly or
indirectly, each dramatic struggle by great powers for dominance. This could not beby-passed.Nor could
reference to its importance in the CivilWar beoverlooked since by the strategy of the UnionArmy and by
Bridgeport’s location on a vital water route and railway to the military target at Chattanooga, it was
destined for enemy occupation and the hardships of war. Ironically, too, while fighting in its own defense,
its facilities were lending themselves to Union Victory.

The next act in this local drama, the spectacular investment in industrial development of the late
1880's and 1890’s,demands its own particular place in this story.

The power of comeback affected by the native population after this financial overthrow isworthy of
comment.

Loyalty to the cause of World War I and sacrifices made for it make an interesting study in contrast
between the gravity of that time and the rebellious aspects of the period of materialism that followed.

The Great Depression is one of the gloomiest acts in the drama since human need was so great that
local resources demanded the aid of the government.

During the Second World War an open-ended program of affluence was initiated with defense
spending, and it is with this continuing prosperity that new hope and plans have taken shape. If realized,
they will dethrone the long established image of “Boom and Bust” for Bridgeport, and bring it into the
mainstreamof this valley’s development.

Such achain of experiences presents alongand powerful dramawhere the processesof each link act as
a sort of catalyst, passing their product on to the next, down to the present time, thus what appears here
today reflectsanunbroken chain of human effort, struggling for adjustment to the conditions of a changing
environment and lengtheningthe chainby another link.

It is a story with deep roots in the past.



Acknowledgments
Among the many individuals, organizations and institutions, we are especially indebted to the

following for making available to usspecific information and photographs:
Mr. RalphAbbott Mr.& Mrs. Robert Littlejohn
Mrs, Nero Atkins Miss Allie Mae Loyd
Mr. DavidAtnip Mr. F, Marion Loyd
Mr.G. C. Barham Mrs.Alberta McFarlane
Mr. James Barham Miss Ida McFarlane
Mr. R. K. Barham Mrs.William H.Marsh
Mrs. Nina Rebecca Blazer Mr, Perry Morgan
The late Mr.George F. Browning, Jr. Northeast State Junior College Library
Mrs. MeredithBynum Mr.& Mrs. Albert Phillips
Mr.& Mrs, F. W.Carr,Jr. Mr. Charlie Phillips
Mrs. Ellis E, Couch Mr. Ed.Raulston
Mr, Ellis Couch, I I I Mr.Walter Raulston
Mrs. Una Ellis Mrs. Cecil Ridley
M r , Ab. Gentry Mrs. Katherine Riggs
M r, Ben L. Hill Mrs. Dessie Roth
Mr.James Hill Mr.& Mrs. John A. Tanner
Mrs.Millie Hill University of the South Library
Mr. Harold Hughes Mr.RobertWalraven
Mr.William J. Hughes Mrs.BettyWatson
Mr, & Mrs. E. P. Jacobs Mrs.WilliamW.Whitcher, Sr.
Miss EvelynJones Mr.& Mrs. JohnWilliams
Mrs.Gertrude Jones Mrs. LeeAnnWimberly
Mrs. Harry Kelly Mrs. Bessie Young
Mrs. Leslie Lawhorne Mrs. Lois Young

To the followingPublishers for permission to use quotations and photographs, our sincere thanks:
A.S. Barnes& Company, Inc.: From The PhotographicHistory of the Civil War.

and
Battles and Leaders of the Civil War, ft

University of Alabama Press: From The Alabama Confederate Reader by Malcolm C.McMillan.
and

Slavery in Alabama by James B. Sellers.
University of Tennessee Press: FromTribes that Slumber by Thomas M. N. Lewis and Madeline Kneberg.
National Geographic Magazine: From The National Geographic Magazine, October 1956 and March 1958.
University of Tennessee at Chattanooga: From Chattanooga Country by Gilbert E. Govan and James W.

Livingood.
Press Argus: FromReminiscencesof the Indian by CephasWashburn.
RandMcNally& Company: For all maps

And, to Mr. Bob Woodfin our special thanks for the excellent reproduction of many of the
photographs in this book.

Acknowledgments
Among the many individuals, organizations and institutions, we are especially indebted to the

following for makingavailable to usspecific information and photographs:
Mr. RalphAbbott Mr.& Mrs. Robert Littlejohn
Mrs. NeroAtkins MissAllie Mae Loyd
Mr.DavidAtnip Mr. F, Marion Loyd
Mr.G. C.Barham Mrs,Alberta McFarlane
Mr. James Barham Miss IdaMcFarlane
Mr. R. K. Barham Mrs.William H. Marsh
Mrs.Nina Rebecca Blazer Mr, Perry Morgan
The late Mr.George F, Browning, Jr. Northeast State Junior College Library
Mrs. Meredith Bynum Mr.& Mrs. Albert Phillips
Mr.& Mrs. F. W.Carr, Jr. Mr. Charlie Phillips
Mrs. Ellis E. Couch Mr. Ed.Raulston
Mr. EllisCouch, I I I Mr.Walter Raulston
Mrs. Una Ellis Mrs. Cecil Ridley
Mr.Ab. Gentry Mrs.Katherine Riggs
Mr. Ben L. Hill Mrs.Dessie Roth
Mr.James Hill Mr.& Mrs. John A. Tanner
Mrs. Millie Hill University of the South Library
Mr. HaroldHughes Mr. RobertWalraven
Mr.William J. Hughes Mrs, BettyWatson
Mr.& Mrs. E. P. Jacobs Mrs,WilliamW,Whitcher, Sr.
Miss EvelynJones Mr.& Mrs. JohnWilliams
Mrs. Gertrude Jones Mrs. LeeAnnWimberly
Mrs. Harry Kelly Mrs. Bessie Young
Mrs. Leslie Lawhorne Mrs. Lois Young

To the following Publishers for permission to use quotations and photographs, our sincere thanks:
A.S. Barnes& Company, Inc.: From The PhotographicHistory of the Civil War.

and
Battles and Leaders of the Civil War. '

University of Alabama Press: From TheAlabama ConfederateReader by MalcolmC.McMillan.
and

Slavery in Alabama by James B, Sellers.
University of Tennessee Press: FromTribes that Slumber by Thomas M. N. Lewisand MadelineKneberg.
National Geographic Magazine: From The National Geographic Magazine, October 1956 andMarch 1958.
University of Tennessee at Chattanooga: From Chattanooga Country by Gilbert E. Govan and James W.

Livingood.
PressArgus: FromReminiscencesof the Indian by CephasWashburn.
RandMcNally& Company: For all maps

And, to Mr. Bob Woodfin our special thanks for the excellent reproduction of many of the
photographs in this book.



ayxipuaddy

LOtttetsAydessorqrg

CQttttenteeeeeeAquadsorg[R10UaypurJ]IeA\PLOAL

CQrtetesteseeeeeeeeeeeeeeesistuorssaidagyoy

IQttt teeteesseesYIUIIDYJVSPpue|JePOM

Aulouooqpasuryyoy}0}sidepywodespug
Seeeeeeeeeapnpioquyaejnorqoodsy

Seeeeeeyorqaurojenperyayy,
aanstsPUPTOIJJOATTSIOIP[OSuoTUA

Awryuoluyay]JO}osegksawooegWodaspug
sarjiojwodaspug
yodespig Jo ae

SSpaSaisagumoL¥

aaaraysdojaaaqwodospug

res]SodaqU]LONYOY‘UOFsI[aY‘uoNLoNpY
SSOIATOY[PID0G‘saWOHMOY]‘s19]}9gJOoIde|SuowyayI7

Aderapajuoyoy}JojoudeyAresodwaysourosagewegqryy
AJUNODUOSyoeLJOUONLZTULTIG[PUL]
vestrayerstseeluegrly

AIOPLUS]BseeUIRGRLy
saajoageueqryy

beeeneeeeeeeeteetteeteeteeeeeeeenSofaatq19puy

[Poeeeeepunosssoyou91,

GPteeeeeeuetuyre0105oq

Leccespunoyyatduia02sxeworg
[ee“tots@MOHOM“SoUTBOAY

sjuaju0sd

Aborigines, Who? How? When? 2... 2. ee ee ee
From Caves to Temple Mounds

De Soto at Chiaha

|

eeeeeeee SS i 0,SrOr Sr Yra)
Cherokee:Ground « ss«cs 886SS S E R O R E R E E S E R R A ERE E R D R Y RActen fd

Under Five Flags 2 . . . ee ee ee ee eee ee ee
Alabama EVOWES cz « « 6oo e e ] SWISS E E S OH W R U B R E ee ee O R S Bs
Alabama asa Territory
Alabama asa State 2 . . . ee ee ee es
Final Organization of Jackson County 2 . 0 . 2 . . .00.cee eee eee ee eee
Alabama Becomes Temporary Capitol o f the Confederacy . . . . . . . , . . . . . - - .

2

Life Among Taproot Settlers, Their Homes, Social Activities,
Education, Religion, Political Interests . 2 . . . 2 . . . 22 ee ee es

Brideeport WevelOps ence: « m w mn #8 U R E RwOe enERee! BKRe R e w Ble G E S

A Town Besi€géd. 2 sncnar e ow ew eG R R O OOK ew OW NEES 8 R W S A B O E ew

Bridgeport Fort ies 2 zs cs ch I S U BEE E E RE&@P W R S R E SRB E S S O R E B E S

Bridgeport Becomes a Base for the Union Army
Union Soldiers Live O f f the Land .. 1.2... . . ee
THe GradualComevack: <2 44 S e e s Be E E S S P W S B E R E T ESSW TE RS

i

A Spectacular Interlude 2 . . . ee ee ee ee ee

Bridgeport Adapts to the Changed Economy .. 1.1... e e e ee ee

World War band i ieAt ie rmath , « x o wine: Ke ee wo G U E EEee ww eORne! ye

IEHe Depression Crisis! os. oc x we wow wewawEERURS Be ew RSSEROUE Bone HB eG WOE w w w

World War II and General Prosperity . . . . . 0 . . . 0 . 0 0 ee e e e e e s

Bibliopraphy &ss Sse. 8 E E S ER B S S D R E ES W O R E E R E ESES B T R BRBS

Appendix A 2 . . .ee ee eee

37

50



Introduction
In the extreme northeastem corner of Alabama, the town of Bridgeport stands like an outpost

between two frontiers. To its east lies Georgia, to its north, Tennessee, and hardly more than a stone’s
throw away, the three states share boundary lines. A more beautiful and promising location for a town
could hardly be found. From this high vantage point, the mighty Tennessee River can be seen for miles,as
it winds through the broad valley like a great pulsing artery, feeding the land along its shores, carrying
cargoes of merchandise, and, by its glimmering movement, accenting the broodingstillness of the outlying
mountainwalls.

The Tennessee is a charming river of many moods. Under prolonged rain or snow it charges against its
banks roaringwith the muddy loadwithwhich it feeds the valley, but under aclear sky it glides along like a
fluid mirror, reflecting the fringed borders along its shores. Long ago asit roared into this corner from
Tennessee, it parted its stream to make room for Long Island, its six-mile gift of alluvial soil.This wide river
valley with its numerous fingers of rich cove land, constitutes an unrivaled granery, while its wooded hills
and ridgeswith their gushingsprings provide perfect ranges for livestock.

Embracing this valley are two arms of the Appalachian Mountain System.On its east stretches the
heavily forested Sand Mountain range, streaked with veins of coal, various minerals and covered by avast
plateau of light, loamy soil. Facing this, across the valley, the Cumberland range reaches far with its
Storehouse of coal, other minerals, limestone and timber. Viewed asa whole it is a majestic setting, one
where nature seems to have lavished many of her richest resources, Tradition says thiat it was known to the
Cherokees as“EnchantedGround.” That is alyrical phrase and one that must have expressed not only their
deep devotion to the land, but a nostalgic emotion for kindred forebears who had hunted over its
mountains and fishedin its streams before them.

As seen today, Bridgeport is spread thin over the undulating hills and hollows of this part of the
valley, enclosed within the broad limits of the lost dream of a great industrialized city. It is a town of
marked contrasts, resulting from its longpast, its loss of the great influx of eastern capital, its unfulfilled
plansand its slow adjustment to the native economy.

The same natural resources that once attracted industry,however,are still here and have beengreatly
increased by abundant electric power, improvedtransportation facilities and growing civic interest.General
prosperity is already makingitself felt by the appearanceof new industrial development.

While the bulk of material included in this volume is focused on the town of Bridgeport, the
surrounding country isno less interesting,and it ishere that the story must begin.
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Aborigines
Who? How? When?

Interest in the first people to occupy this corner of the state has been greatly increased
recently by the discovery of their tools and weapons along the Tennessee River and by the
nation-wide attention focused on the Russell Cave deposits, a few miles from Bridgeport.
Similarity of the objects found here, with those of other places, previously identified with
the “Ice Age,” indicates that this area was occupied by people of the same period. A look at
the research and study revealing the identity of these early people will give more meaning to
local discoveries.

In the belief that people lived here long before the Indians who were found by
Columbus, a long and constant search for evidence as to their origin and type, aswell asto
how and when they came here, was carried o u t ,

In their studies of the American Indian, for traits that would identify him with the
stock of his origin, physical anthropologists were led to agree that he belonged to the
mongoloid division of mankind, and that possibly his ancestors came from Asia, the original
home of this stock.

Discoveries of fragments of bone and stone in the dry climate of the West revealed
something of the physical characteristics of early man. Two types were found there. The
earliest with long heads and convex, narrow faces, and their successors, around-headed
people of the Pueblo culture. These variations were taken to mean that there had been
mixture before the ancestral groups reached this continent. Similar variations are found in
Asia today, as well as among the American Indians, and these are believed to be a
characteristic common to the mongoloid stock.

Many theories have been advanced as to the route by which these people reached
America, but the most acceptable one is that they came from Siberia to Alaska by way of
Bering Strait. Opinion differs on the method by which they crossed, but two reasonable
assumptions are offered. One is based upon the possibility that maximum glaciation could
have lowered the adjacent water level enough to provide a land passage from Siberia to
Alaska. The other proposes that they could have made the crossing on boats by way of the
islands in the Bering Sea, thence down the ice-free river corridors into this continent.

When these people started coming to America has long been onlya calculated guess,
but the recent scientific method of dating ancient objects by use of radioactive carbon or
Carbon 14 has eliminated much uncertainty in setting such dates. It sets a time-table in this
way: radioactive carbon is present in the air and hence in all living organisms, animal or
vegetable. When an organism dies, the substance begins to decay at the rate of half its
amount in 5700 years. The measurement of the remaining part, by means of the Geiger
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counter, determines the age of the organism, up to 25,000 years, at which time the
substance has entirely disappeared.

It is the reliability of the Carbon 14 method that gives special importance to this
particular area asa storehouse of prehistoric evidence.

Two examples are given here asbases for comparison in determining about what time
the earliest prehistoric men lived round Bridgeport. 2

Excavations near Folsom, New Mexico, in 1926, unearthed beautifully chipped and
fluted spearpoints with the bones of long-extinct bison. These points differed from those
used by American Indians or by Stone Age hunters in Europe. Because of their uniqueness
and location, they were called Folsompoints.With these points, flint rasps used for cleaning
and scraping hides were found.

Such a combination of certain tools and the bones of pre-ice age bison implies the
presence of hunters before the extinction of mammoth animals,by a great ice sheet which s
covered much of NorthAmerica.

In 1932 similar but larger fluted points were found sticking in the bones of mammals
near Clovis, New Mexico. Analysis of the bones of these mammals, for Carbon 14 content,
gave them a date of 8000 B. C., and further indicated that man was living in America before
the great mammals disappeared, possibly 10,000years ago.

By a comparison of the findings in this area with those above, it seems evident that the
IceAge Man was living here at about the same time.

__, Thomas M. N. Lewis and Madeline Kneburg, in their book, Tribes That Slumber, have
this to say: ®

Ice Age hunters, whose technology included similar equipment, were the Tennessee region’s first
inhabitants, Hundreds of their fluted spearpoints and stone tools have been found throughout theTegion.
Because they are particularly numerous in the Highland Rim area, it appears that this was one of their
favorite hunting grounds, The Highland Rim is an upland that extends from northern Alabama across
Middle Tennessee and up into Kentucky.Although the Tennessee, the Cumberland, and other smaller rivers
flow through it , most of it is poorly watered, and the vegetation is less dense than in the lowlands, This
condition, undoubtedly, was similar in IceAge times. Since various species of prairie plants still grow there,
the area may have been predominantly a grassland where herds of grazing animals congregated. Many
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the adjacent lowlands along the riversand streams, actual campsites have been discovered.

One of the most important of these, in northern Alabama near Decatur, is known asthe Quad site.
Not only are fluted points very numerous on this site, but there is also awide variety of scrapers,gravers,
drills and choppers. Many other sites that were used ascamping places by these people have been found in
the same general area.

. . . .Seven of Alabama’s northem counties ‐ Franklin, Jackson, Lauderdale, Limestone,Madison,
Marshall and Morgan ‐ have produced at least a hundred fine examples of fluted points, and several
thousand ancient tools of various types. Most of the spearpoints resemble the Clovis type used by the
elephant hunters of the West. Remains of two elephant species,mammothandmastodon, have been found
in the Southeast at Natchez,Mississippi,andat Vero andMelbourne,Florida, under conditions that suggest
hunters were present. Undoubtedly, the Tennessee region’s first inhabitants also were huntersof elephants
aswell asother game,

So far no organic materials suitable for radiocarbondating have beendiscoveredon any of the IceAge
sites in the Tennessee region. However, in Russell Cave in northern Alabama the remains of a later group
have been dated at more than eight thousand years ago. Evidence of these later people overlies that of the
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IceAge hunters at the Quad site in Alabama. There is good reason, therefore, to believe that man reached
the Tennessee region long before the end of the Ice Age which lasteduntil about nine thousand years ago.

In summary, the evidence now available implies that the earliest predecessors of the
American Indian were of Mongoloid stock, that they entered this country by way of Bering
Strait, and they were living in this area 8000 years ago and possibly longer.

FROM CAVES TO TEMPLE MOUNDS
With the disappearance of large mammals, these Ice Age people are lost in oblivion.

They were possibly absorbed by a new migration of people of amore advanced culture, It is
with their successors that the findings in RussellCave are chiefly concerned. Excerpts from
a leaflet on the Cave, now a national monument, issued by the Department of the Interior,
tells of its importance:

Here hundreds of generations of prehistoric Americans lived a rigorous and demanding life.For most
of this time agriculture was unknown, and hunting and gathering were their only livelihood.These people
had little time for anything but securing food and shelter.

Early Man in Russell Cave. This scene from the diorama in Russell Cave National Monument’s Visitor
Center portrays life in Russell Cave 6,000-7,000 years ago. At this time Archaic Man possessed no
knowledge of cultivation. His survival depended upon his ability of huntingand gathering from the nearby
forests. Cou r t e s y, Russell Cave National Monument
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The tools and weapons they used, the bones of the animals they ate, the charcoal of their fires, and
the debris of their camps accumulated layer upon layer as the years ‐ and thousands of years ‐ passed.
When the last occupants departed,Russell Cave held beneath its surface the recordof life there.

A description of this discovery by D r, Carl F. Miller, leader of the excavating
expedition sponsored by the National Geographic-Smithsonian Institution,appearing in The
National Geographic Magazine, October 1956, gives his idea of the Cave’s importance.

As an archeological site the cave is in many respects unique on this continent. No other site has
tevealed so detailed a record of occupancy for so longa period ‐ from 6200 B. C. or earlier until about A.
D. 1650. Its contents ‐ bones, tools, weapons, and implements ‐ have lain buried for thousands ofyears,
protected from rain, wind, erosion, silting, and flood. They lie where the occupants left them, layer upon
layer, a record aseasy to read asthe tree tings in agiant sequoia.

Among the two and a half tons of artifacts collected, there were found types of tools
and implements never before seen in the southeastern part of the United States,

A cross-section of this perfectly stratified floor, to a depth of twenty-three feet tells,
step by step, the advance in culture by succeeding migrations for thousands of years, At this
low level, charcoal was found showing a date of 9020 years plus or minus 350 years, by
Carbon 14 test.

In the second season of excavation at Russell Cave in 1957, National Geographic Society-Smithsonian
Institution teams made discoveries that date 9,000 years back. The chain link fences protected their
discoveries from curiosity seekers. ( c ) National Geographic Soc ie t y
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QaIssooonsYyIedJOAIOJSOY}PO}‘pessorSoidSwuBSrpoy}se‘poyyreounsoryoroyLThe relics unearthed, as the digging progressed, told the story of each successive
culture. The first relics, from the most recent occupants, were finely shaped arrowheads and
decorated pieces of broken pottery. These products of the Mississippi culture dated from
about A. D. 1500 to 1650.The next layer held relics of the Woodland Culture, 500 B. C. to
A. D. 1000,which left bone needles, stone arrowheads and pierced shell ornaments.

Beyond this layer no pottery or arrowheads were found. This evidently marked the
beginning of the Archaic period when man knew nothing of the bow and arrow or pottery
making. His main weapon was the atlatl, a spear-throwing device used for killing animals.
One of these was found at this level. Its use by the Indians of Mexico seemed to indicate
very early contacts with peoples of a southern culture.

Although the final finds of the excavations failed to reveal aFolsom point, Dr.Miller
reported that other objects bore enough similarity to those of the Folsom period to be
attributed to early man himself.

Scattered throughout these artifacts were several objects which suggested exchanges
with peoples of other regions, North, South, and West, and indicated that Russell Cave
might have been a meeting place for migrating peoples for thousands of years.

By 1650, prehistoric peoples had abandoned the Cave for life in the open. It is believed
that the Mound Builders, who buried their dead under great mounds of dirt, were an
extension of the Woodland peoples but far more advanced in culture. As their range of
travel increased, they made contacts with other cultures, adapted themselves to changing
needs and thus modified their way of life. They no longer required caves for shelter, since
they had learned how to build primitive houses and congregate within settlements which
provided a new setting for social, religious and ceremonial patterns of living.

With greater security these Indians developed a keener interest in the disposal of their
dead and the preparation of their bodies for the “Happy Hunting Ground.” At the same
time a reverence for religion was encouraged. The mounds they built revealed these new
concepts. These were built by much hard labor and deep emotional feeling. With the dead,
they buried their richest treasures. This was a great change from burial in the trash heap, as
was practiced by their early ancestors ‐ the Archaic people. Several examples of these
moundsare evident around Bridgeport today.

The early Mound-Building period was followed by the Temple Mound Builders who
constructed much more elaborate mounds for wider use. This advance ushered in drastic
changes. By this time, long tenure of the land as farming peoples had provided a settled way
of life composed of large groups who spokea single language. Political organizations
consisting of the town or village, and the confederation, accompanied by complex
ceremonial patterns, evolved,

The villages were all built by the same plan ‐ on highground. Sometimes amoundwas
built for this purpose. The Chief’s house was built on top and other Indian homes were
spread out according to rank. These houses were built of bark or skins stretched over poles
and lined with clay. None had floors, but all had fireplaces consisting of a hole in the center
of the ground with a vent on top of the house for smoke to escape. An animal skin flap was
used asa door. Long IslandTown, across the river from Bridgeport, was anIndian village of
this type.

Building of these mounds, and the fortifications around their towns, was their hardest
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work because dirt for the mounds had to be carried in bucketfuls by hand, and trees had to
bedragged asfar asnecessary for the fortifications.

The final aim of every Indian boy was to becomea great warrior, and his whole life was
directed toward this goal.

Each tribe had its chief and a group of warriors who were consulted at any threat of
war. If the time seemed right for victory, the warriors underwent a tigorous preparation by
purification which included fasting, drinking a vicious potion, called “‘black drink,” body
painting, and head shaving.

If they survived this ordeal and the priest considered the signs favorable, violent
dancing for strength followed. Those who withstood it were ordered to begin their quest for
scalps.

These must have been the Cherokee people that De Soto met when his famous
expedition passed through this country in the summer of 1540,
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DYDIYD+POf0SaqDe Soto at Chiaha

In 1540 Hernando De Soto, Spanish soldier and explorer, entered this corner of
Alabama at the head of his famous expedition, As Governor of Cuba hehad been authorized
to explore, conquer and take possession of the loosely-defined territory of Florida. Urged
on by false reports of fabulous riches to the north, he leftTampa in 1539 with a spectacular
array of armored knights, military vans, cannons, and herds of animals in pursuit of wealth
and power.

After a year of exhaustive hardships and travel, he turned his battered caravan from the
mountains of east Tennessee, in a southwesternly direction, to the Tennessee River. They
were met there by a group of Indians from Chiaha, June 3, 1540, and on the following day
they reached Chiaha which, according to Govan and Livingood in their book, Chattanooga
Country, has now been placed definitely on Burns or Long Island in the Tennessee River
where it enters Alabama. These authors quote one chronicler, Biedma, of the expedition, as
saying: “We were detained twenty-six or twenty-seven days to refresh the horses which
arrived greatly fatigued, havingworked hard and eaten little.”

Another chronicler, Ranjel, who kept ajournal recorded these words:
The Indians spent fifteen days with the Christians in peace, and they playedwith them, and likewise

among themselves. They swamwith the Christians andhelped themvery much in every way. They ran away
afterwards,onSaturday, the nineteenthof the month, for something that the Governor asked of them; and,
in short, it was because he asked for women. The next day in the morning the Governor sent to call the
chief and he came immediately; and the next day the Governor took himoffwith him to make hispeople
come back, and the result was they came back. In the land of Chiaha was where the Spaniards first found
fenced villages,

The Spaniards left Chiaha on Monday, June 28, and probably crossed the Tennessee
River on the shoals of the “Old Creek and Cherokee Crossing,” at the foot of Battery Hill,
at the spot which has been commemorated by a huge stone boulder placed there by the
Daughters of the American Revolution.

From Chiaha, De Soto led his expedition in a southwesternly direction, along aroute
approximating U. S.Highway 72 from Bridgeport to Scottsboro.

Albert James Pickett whose History of Alabama was published long before the final
placement of Chiaha, had this to say about De Soto’s visit there:

The noble young Chief receivedDeSotowith unaffectedjoy, and made himthe following address:
Mighty Chief: Nothing could have made me so happy as to be the means of serving you and your

warriors. You sent me word from Guazule to have corn collected to last your army two months. Here I
have twenty bams full of the best which the country can afford. If I have not met your wishes, respect my
tender age, and receivemy goodwill to do for you whateverI amable.
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The Governor responded in a kind manner, and was then conducted to the Chief’s own house,
prepared for hisaccommodation.

Chiaha contained a great quantity of bear’s oil in gourds, andwalnut oil asclear asbutter and equally
palatable; and for the only time upon the entire route were seen pots of honey.The Spaniards, irregularly
quartered in the fields,andscatteredabout at their will, reposedunder trees and loitereduponthe banks of
the rivers. The horses, reduced in flesh and unfit for battle, grazed upon the meadows. Unaccustomed to
allow such loose discipline, DeSoto now winked at i t , for the natives were friendly, andevery soul in the
camp needed repose. One day the Chiefpresentedthe Governor witha string of pearls, two yards in length,
and aslarge asfilberts, for which he received in return pieces of velvet and other cloth muchesteemed by
the Indians. He said that the temple of this town, where the remains of his ancestors were deposited,
contained a vast quantity of these valuables. He invitedhisdistinguished guest to take from it asmany ashe
desired. But the latter declined, remarking that hewishedto appropriate nothingto himself from sosacred a
place. The Chief, to gratify him in regard to the manner of obtaining these pearls, immediately dispatched
some of his subjects in four canoes, with instructions to fish all night for the oysterswhich contained them.
In the morning he caused a fire to be made upon the bank. The canoes returned laden, and the natives
throwing the oysters upon the glowing coals, succeeded in finding many pearls the size of peas,whichDe
Soto pronouncedbeautiful, but for the fire which had robbed them of some of their brilliancy. A soldier, in
eating some of the oysters, or, rather, muscles, found one of great size uninjured, and offered it to the
commander for Dona Isabel. He declined the kindness intended his wife, and urged the generous fellow to
keep it to buy horseswith at Havana.

Thus it is evident that De Soto and his incomparable expedition camped for almost a
month in sight of the present town of Bridgeport, and that they were the first white men to
appear here.
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hundreds of years when De Soto passed through their country and received their hospitality
at Chiaha. For more than a hundred years after his visit they lived, undisturbed by white
intruders.

During this time, their chiefs had learned the value of fertile land, and with their tribes
had settled along the great rivers where their farmingmethods had advanced so asto include
such crops as melons, tobacco, beans, corn and squash. Their men hunted over the
mountains and fished in the rivers for the meat that supplemented their vegetables. Their
manual skills had also advanced to include artistic effects in their pottery, wooden bowls,
finely woven baskets and ceremonial masks.

The area along the Tennessee River, from Bridgeport to Guntersville, was thickly
populated by the Cherokees. John Gunter, white founder of Guntersville in 1760,married a
daughter of the Chief of the “‘Paint Clan,” and they became the maternal great grandparents
of Will Rogers.

Here.they lived on the rich lands of the river valley and the adjoining mountain coves,
leaving their record in innumerable arrow points, utensils and tools scattered over the earth
and buried in their mounds.

This seems to have been the general situation among all the Cherokee tribes when the
white traders first penetrated their country bringing their bright trinkets and baubles.

As reports of their enviable situation spread among the hemmed-in colonists beyond
the Appalachians, white migrations increased to include land-hungry farmers in search of a
foothold on good landwhich they might obtain for as little aspossible in exchange.

By 1700, the Cherokees were under the constant threat of white intruders who
introduced smallpox, an illness which threatened the Cherokee population with extinction.
From 1756 until the early nineteenth century they were continuously faced witha tide of
white encroachment.

Whatever hope might have been aroused, by the British Proclamation Line, purported
to protect their claims after 1763, was soon dispelled, for not only was it constantly
violated, but the independence of the United States in 1783 opened the way for greater
white migration. With this change, the Indianssimply became stakes in the hands of amore
threatening power.

In this same year, while Georgia and South Carolina were quarreling over the
twelve-mile strip of land lying across Alabama north of the Tennessee River, a group of
North Carolinians formed a company and petitioned the Georgia Legislature for the right to
settle there, saying that they had previously bought the land from the Indians. Investigation
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revealed that they had made a deal with some of the Cherokees for this body of land in
exchange for a small quantity of merchandise.

On February 20, 1784, the Georgia Legislature selected seven commissioners to
determine the quantity and quality of this land and to set a limit of 1000 acres to be sold to
any one person, at a price not less than 12% cents per acre. The commissioners consisted of
four men from Georgia and three men from NorthCarolina.

In October 1785 John Sevier and John Donelson of the NorthCarolina Company and
Thomas Carr and William Downes of Georgia, all members of the Commission, with eighty
others opened a land office.in the Cherokee Village of Long Island Town, across the river
from the present site of Bridgeport, for the proposed sale of lands in the “Great Bend.”
These men promptly organized a county, called it Houston, and elected Valentine Sevier,
Jr., asRepresentative to the Georgia Legislature. They then proceeded to survey the lands.
The Cherokees refused to recognize the claims of Georgia, consequently, they drove the
speculators out and the land company failed.

Donelson was killed on his way home. The Georgia Legislature refused to seat Sevier as
a representative, and on August 7, 1786, the bill to establish Houston County was defeated
by a vote of 26 to 23.

This was the first attempt at white settlement in the present area of Bridgeport.
A second attempt to settle in this valley was made in 1789 by the Tennessee Land

Company, This company was organized by Zachariah Cox and Mathias Maher of South
Carolina. The company purchased 3,500,000 acres of land from Georgia at less than two
cents per acre. This tract included the Alabama counties bordering Tennessee. When
settlement started, Chief Glass of the Cherokees with a body of warriors threatened the
settlers with death if they remained. Cox and his men withdrew safely, and the Indians
destroyed all that was left. So the second attempt at settlement failed.

South Carolina finally ceded her twelve-mile strip to Georgia, and on April 24, 1802,
Georgia sold her claim to the United States for $1,250,000,

As early as 1805, President Thomas Jefferson, realizing the constant threat of conflict
with the Indians, proposed anexchange of Indian claims for homes in the newly-acquired
LouisianaTerritory. A few tribes accepted the offer and moved peaceably westward. Among
these, members of the Cherokee tribes were reported to havegone voluntarily.

In a final effort to defend their land against white power, the Cherokees set about
restructuring their society for greater strength against the intruders. By the help of their
white missionaries and teachers, they formed a Cherokee National Council, established the
Cherokee Nation, set up a unicameral legislature, and adopted a constitution. Executive
power was placed in the hands of a principal chief. John Ross held this office for forty
years. The invention of a syllabary by Sequoyah lifted them to a literate level. The
publication of a newspaper and their organized government brought greater unity and
placed them at the top among the Indians of the United States. But it was too late, No
effort could withstand the white pressures against the Indians.

The Creek uprising in Alabama, involving the merciless massacre of men, women, and
children at Fort Mims, resulted in their final defeat by Major GeneralAndrew Jackson and
his army of volunteers, in the Battle of Horseshoe Bend.

In the treaty which was signed August 9, 1814, by American Commissioners and
Indian Chiefs at Fort Jackson, on the Tallapoosa River, all the Creek territory east of the
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POpNfoUrsIY]“soJeIgPeyUey}0}pap2dsemSISATYBSOODoY}JOJsamPURsoqQSIquIO]Tombigbee and west of the Coosa Rivers was ceded to the United States. This included
nearly one-half of the present state of Alabama.

This treaty was protested, since many Creeks refused to fight the whites. Only the
“Red Sticks” spurred on by Tecumseh andWilliamWeatherfood participated. The peaceful
tribes had hoped for protection of their lands.

On the other hand, the Cherokees, many of whom volunteered to join General Jackson
against the Creeks, were shocked to find that a vast tract of their land was included in the
treaty. Lengthy controversy followed, but the land was never restored to them. With the
lands of the Cherokees narrowing and the threat of further loss increasing, the tribes of this
area emigrated west of the Mississippi River to seek a more independent life. On July 8,
1817, General Andrew Jackson, General David Meriwether, and Governor Joseph McMinn,
representing the United States Government, met with the Cherokee leaders and signed a
treaty in which they ceded four small areas of their land for a tract in the present state of
Arkansas, The government agreed to pay the Indians for their improvements and furnish
boats and supplies for the journey.

Many of the Cherokees refused to comply with the terms of the treaty, but by 1819,
several thousand more hadmoved,and this included those living in the Bridgeport area.

Cephas Washburn, Missionary to the Cherokees in Arkansas, in his Reminiscences of
the Indians, edited by HughParks,Editor of PressArgus, Van Buren,Arkansas, says:

A large portion of Cherokees, perhaps not less than one-third of the whole [nation] voluntarily
migrated to the upper waters of Arkansas, at least twenty years before the remainder were forcibly removed
by the government.

They went there because of their jealousy of the white man, and with the fixed determination to
make the Mississippianimpassable barrier between them andwhite men.

By 1830 public pressure for Indian removal had become a part of the national policy,
and any further struggle for protection under Federal guarantee was futile.

In 1835 the Treaty of New Echota provided for their removal beyond the Mississippi
and payment of $5,000,000 for their lands.

After resistance for two years, Federal troops were called in to round them up for
removal. About 14,000 Cherokees began the 800-mile journey on foot to the Indian
territory which is now Oklahoma. Almost one-fourth died during the six-month ordeal. This
tragic march in Cherokee history is known asthe “Trail of Tears,”

The influence of these people did not disappear with their removal, but served asa
springboard into the white civilization that followed. They loved the land, and they knew
the value of good land. By their agricultural skill they had fed wandering whites for 300
years. They passed their knowledge of the rivers as a source of food and as a means of
transportation, as well as much of their wood lore, to their white successors. Their trails
provided the first roads. The mounds they left have yielded much mute evidence of our
early history, and finally, they surrendered their claims to the land, leaving behind them
perpetual memorials, in the names they had inscribed on its physical features.
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Under Five Flags

Froma historical point of view, no part of the United
States has experienced more political changes than the
Southeast. Since the area under discussion here is a part of that
region and was affected by these changes, this story would not
be complete without a review of the conflicts between great
European powers, in their attempts to build an empire in North
America. Such a review should serve to explain why our
Janguage, customs, and religious and political beliefs are English
rather than Spanish or French.

Spain was the first European country to set up a claim in
the new world in 1492. As a result of the later discoveries of
Ponce de Leon in 1513, and DeSoto in 1539-1542, aclaim to
the land called Florida was made, and the founding of a
settlement at St. Augustine in 1565 confirmed the claim, While
the boundary lines were not clearly defined, the area loosely
covered all the Southeast.

In 1498 the king of England authorized John Cabot to
search for new lands. His voyage took him along the Atlantic
coast from Florida to Newfoundland, and this gave England a
right to claims in North America. Colonization was neglected,
however, because of domestic problems faced by England.

In 1534 France joined in the race for exploration and sent
Jacques Cartier on a voyage, during which he discovered
Newfoundland and the Gulf of St. Lawrence, and claimed the
land in the name of New France.

Predating these explorations were those of the American
Indians who held a claim to all the land in North America, by
reason of longoccupation.

Any wide expansion of a claim by either of these three
European powers was destined finally to conflict with another
and also with the claims of the Indians.Herein lay the cause for
the future struggles and violence which were to be felt by the
whole country, directly or indirectly, affecting even this small
corner of Alabama.
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Southeast, lay within the loosely defined claims of Spain ‐ a power resented by the Indians.

By the early seventeenth century great changes were on the move. Both England and
France had overcome their domestic problems sufficiently to turn their efforts toward
colonizing their claims in NorthAmerica.

With Spain already established, this grand scale movement made it imperative that
some kind of agreement be reached whereby these European claims could be made legally
secure. Under the instrument agreed upon, title was to be given to the country responsible
for the discovery, against the claims of all other European countries, and this title was to be
confirmed by possession. Silence of the instrument, in regard to Indian claims, implied that
the Indians were nomadic people without any valid claim to the land they occupied. This
implication prepared the way for future trouble.

English colonies ranged along the Atlantic Coast from Canada to Spain’s indefinite
northern boundary of Florida and to an unknown Pacific Coast on the West. As these
colonies grew in population, they needed more land. When Virginia widened her colony, a
legal boundary line had to be agreed upon between English and Spanish claims. After some
resistanceSpain yielded to 36°north latitude,but not 36°30’that Virginia demanded.

Again in 1663 King Charles II of England began giving grants, on a sliding scale, down
the Atlantic Coast from 36° to 29’ north latitude, about 50 miles below St. Augustine. Spain
contested the southern boundary and held to 32° but finally yielded to 33°north latitude,
not 29°. Under this agreement the strip of land in which the Bridgeport country lies passed
from Spain to England.

By 1718 France had founded New Orleans and extended her claim down the entire
lengthof the Mississippi Riverand to the Appalachians, adding the whole area to New France.
This part of Alabama lay within the French claim. This signaled future conflict with
England,whose colonies had first claim to much of the same land under their charters.

In 1729 the Carolinas were cut loose from Virginia and divided into North and South
Carolina. This act brought the narrow strip of North Alabama, in which Bridgeport lies,
within the English colony of South Carolina, part of which was also claimed by France.

Only a brief glance at the situation at that time reveals an inevitable, future conflict
with many angles: Spain still claimed 33° north latitude asher northern boundary; France
had established her claims from the Mississippi River to the Appalachians; the English
colonies overlapped France on the West: and the Indian claims underlay all the others,
although unrecognized asvalid, by these European powers.

In 1732 James Oglethorpe applied to the King of England for a charter to the land
lying between the Savannah and Altamaha Rivers as a home for imprisoned debtors and
Protestant refugees, Because of this new interpretation of human rights, it was hoped that
the colony would serve asadeterrent to Spanish and Indian invasion.

This Georgia charter finally included the narrow strip across northAlabama, formerly a
part of South Carolina, and so transferred its control to the new colony of Georgia.

By the middle of the eighteenth century it was clear that the three great European
powers were contending for dominance in Europe and control of the colonies in North
America, France began strengthening her defenses on the West and North and building good
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relations with the Indians by friendly fur traders and missionaries. White traders,
missionaries, land-hungry farmers and speculators began a steady infiltration across the
Appalachians into the great, rich river valleys, particularly the Ohio. On the South, Spain
constantly fomented trouble by inciting the Indiansagainst the whites, hoping to hold their
trade,

By 1749 the “count down” for the war between France and England was approaching
the “blast o ff ! ” That year the King of France sent anagent over to clinch the French claim
to the rich Ohio Valley, the gateway for the English into the Mississippi Valley. As proof of
France’s possession, the agent buried leadplates along the Ohio River and nailed tinplates,
bearing the arms of France, to the trees. While doing this he saw many signs that English
traders had been in that country.

In that same year KingGeorge of England chartered the Ohio Company, and granted it
one-half million acres along the Ohio to be sold for settlements. The French reacted by
building a fort on the upper waters of the Ohio, The English governor of Virginia hastened
to send George Washington to the commander of the fort to order the French to leave.The
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SBMSIL“MPIPYIIAM0}[eSNJoIUIDsB3NQ‘UOIuTYseAJOUOT]dad0IsNOd}INODBSEMIOMSUEanswer was a courteous reception of Washington, but a stern refusal to withdraw. This was
the “blast o f f ” signal, and the war began. A l l the Indians except the Iroquois Nation, of
which the Cherokees werea part, gave their aid to the French. Thus it was called the French
and Indian War, in America.In the long struggle, from 1756 to 1763, the British defeated
the French.

The treaty concluding the war was drawn up and signed in Paris in February 1763. By
it France ceded to great Britain all her claims east of the Mississippi, except NewOrleans. As
Spain had aided France in the war, she received New Orleans and the land west of the
Mississippi to the Rocky Mountains. During the war, Great Britain had taken Cuba under
this treaty, Spain gave up her claim to Florida in return for Cuba. The British now held all of
North America east of the Mississippi River from the Gulf of Mexico to the Arctic Ocean,
except Greenland, New Orleans, and two tiny islands near Newfoundland. Thus asFrance
withdrew from North America, her imperial domain was divided between her rivals, Britain
and Spain. The Indians on these lands resented the fact that they had not been allowed any
voice in the treaty.

This step left the northeast Alabama land under the uncontested control of England.
Realizing the inevitable friction with the Indians in developing the Mississippi Valley,

an imaginary line, known asthe Proclamation Line of 1763,was set up by Britain along the
top of the entire Appalachian watershed. West of this line and between the Great Lakes and
Florida, the land was to be reserved for the Indians, and white settlements were forbidden
there. This great expanse of fertile land held too much promise for land-starved men,
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consequently the line was violated from time to time by the English. The Indians, already
indignant because no concessions had been made to them by the Treaty of Paris, swore
vengeance against encroachment by white settlers. A wholesale plan of destruction was
undertaken against the white settlements along the full length of the mountain barrier.
Burningand scalping were so widespread that the settlers and their property were constantly
faced with extinction.

Following the Treaty of 1763 the southern portion of the Mississippi Valley, lying
between the Mississippi and the Appalachicola Rivers, was divided by Great Britain into East
and West Florida, and was placed under military government. The northern boundary line, ~
32° 28" north latitude, cut the territory into two provinces: the British Province of Illinois,
which reached to Lake Michigan, and British West Florida on the south. The northeast
Alabama corner, asa small part of the area, then fell under military rule within the British
Province of Illinois.

The Revolutionary War which began in 1775 between the 13 English Colonies and
Great Britain, did not involve the great British domain in the Mississippi Valley. The
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AUPUTSOTUO[OO34}PreO}PosnjorpubUMOL)oY}0}[BAO]POUTeWIdIEPL]soJOdouLAOIdprovince of West Florida remained loyal to the Crown and refused to aid the colonies in any
way. Spain recognized the area asan easy prey, and in 1779, after war was declared between
Spain and England, Spain reconquered that province and later seized Mobile and Pensacola.
This was followed by the surrender of West Florida and Spain’s title was recognized and
confirmed by Great Britain in the Treaty which ended the Revolutionary War in 1783. This
treaty resulted in the serious misunderstanding over the northern boundary of West Florida.
Spain claimed all the land formerly claimed by England, up to the northern boundary of
West Florida, as the natural effect of England’s retrocession of Florida to her. However, the
treaty was silent on this point, and this silence freed Great Britain and the United States to
set the western boundary and to fix the thirty-first parallel of north latitude asthe southern
boundary.

Spain was angry, and for ten years she carried on a continuous quarrel. Finally
President Washington sent Thomas Pinckney to Madrid to reach a settlement with Spain, On
October 20, 1795, a treaty was signed there. It provided the thirty-first degree to the
Chattahoochee River, thence down the Chattahoochee to the mouth of the Flint River, and
thence on a line due east to the Atlantic. The Mississippi River was to be the western
boundary from its source to the southern line of demarcation (as fixed by the treaty), and
the whole river from its source to the sea should be free to the people of the United States.
This settled the controversy with Spain over the southern boundary, and thus confirmed to
Georgia all the lands that she had held aslegal claims under her charter, aswas agreed in the
Treaty of 1783,and this strip of North Alabama again becamea part of Georgia.

By the time this treaty had concluded the controversy with Spain, on the south and
west, the population of the area had increased to territorial requirements, with the
boundary lines on the North (32° 28’) from the line set by the Madrid treaty, and on the
west by the Mississippi River. In 1802 Georgia ceded her rights within the territory to the
United States for $1,250,000 with all claims to the district north of the territory and south
of Tennessee. In 1804 this narrow strip was added to the Mississippi Territory by an act of
Congress, lifting the northern boundary to 35° which is the present northern boundary of
Alabama, Georgia and Mississippi. At this point the land around Bridgeport becamea part of
the Mississippi Territory.

With all foreign rule now ended within the MississippiTerritory, the next move was to
end the power of the Indian tribes. Encouraged by the angry Spanish, and further incited by
the British during the War of 1812, the Indians were making development impossible by
their hostile acts. With Major-General Andrew Jackson in command of Georgia, Tennessee,
and Alabama Volunteers, the campaign was begun to end for all time the power of the
Creeks who promoted the fierce uprising. In every engagement the Creeks were so weakened
that they finally agreed August 9, 1814, to sign a treaty ceding most of their land which
comprised nearly half of the present state of Alabama to the United States. This opened the
territory to settlement.

ALABAMA EVOLVES

Most of the early settlers in this corner of Alabama entered from Tennessee where they
had stopped temporarily, in their westward migrations from Virginia and North Carolina. A
few probably entered by way of the Tennessee River, but the wild rapids around the
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mountains of east Tennessee, and the reports of tragic past experiences of Indian attacks
from the river banks, made this an unpopular route.

Peaceful access across the Tennessee state line was possible by 1805, asa result of a
treaty between the Chickasaw Indians and the United States. In this treaty the Indians
ceded 300,000 acres of landnorth of the “Great Bend” to the FederalGovernment. In 1806
Huntsville was founded, and the adjacent country filled in so fast that by 1808 some form
of local government was urgent. To meet this need the Governor of the Mississippi
Territory, Robert Williams, ordered the organization of Madison County by Proclamation ;
that year. In 1811Huntsville was incorporated, and it was the first town in Alabama to have
that dignity.

It was the policy of the Governor of the Mississippi Territory to refuse permission to
white settlers to encroach on Indian lands, but the temptation was so great that
“Squatters,” or farmers without title to land, slipped in and settled wherever possible,
without detection. A Federal census of Madison County in 1809 reported white occupation
of Indian lands in some of the mountain coves of this area.

With safe passage into the territory assured, the tide of white population advanced and
spread out in all directions threatening encroachment on Indian lands adjoining Madison
County. To avoid serious conflict, United States Commissioners were appointed to meet
with the Cherokees, Chickasaws and Choctaws to secure further relinquishment of Indian
lands. In the three treaties signed in 1816, the Federal Government acquired the land
reaching from the headwaters of the Coosa to the Tombigbee River,and north to a point on
the Tennessee River.This expanse, added to that lost by the Creeks to General Jackson, laid
the greater part of the Alabama country open to white settlement.

ALABAMA AS A TERRITORY
By 1816 the population of the territory had increased until Mississippi was ready to

apply for admission asa state of the Union. The prospect of including the eastern half of the
territory within the new state was opposed by the settlers along the Tennessee River because
of the great distance to the capitol at Natchez. A division of the territory seemed more
desirable to them. Strong feeling in Congress also, over holding a balance between “free”
and “slave” states; made Southern Congressmen keenly aware of the opposition. Thus,
through the influence of Southern Senators the territory was divided so as to include the
western half in Mississippi which was admitted as a state in 1817, The eastern half was
approved, by the same Congress, for organization asAlabama Territory, and St. Stephens, in
the southwest corner, was designated as the territorial capitol. This division acceded to the
desire of the Tennessee Valley population for a separate government, and provided a capitol
until grounds and buildings could be prepared for a permanent seat at Cahaba.

To facilitate the survey and sale of public lands in North Alabama, a Federal Land
Office was opened in Huntsville, and on February 27, 1819, a treaty was signed by the
Federal Government and the Cherokees whereby they ceded their land north and west of
the Tennessee River to the United States. This resulted in the removal of most of the Indian
occupants to western land reserved for them. The land thus acquired was later incorporated
into Jackson County.

The rapid and massive increase in population over the Alabama Territory made it
necessary to apply for statehood. On March 2, 1819, Congress admitted Alabama asa state.
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mountains of east Tennessee, and the reports of tragic past experiences of Indian attacks
from the river banks, made this an unpopular route.

Peaceful access across the Tennessee state line was possible by 1805, as a result of a
treaty between the Chickasaw Indians and the United States. In this treaty the Indians
ceded 300,000 acres of landnorth of the “Great Bend” to the FederalGovernment. In 1806
Huntsville was founded, and the adjacent country filled in so fast that by 1808 some form
of local government was urgent. To meet this need the Governor of the Mississippi
Territory, Robert Williams, ordered the organization of Madison County by Proclamation
that year. In 1811Huntsville was incorporated, and it was the first town in Alabama to have
that dignity.

It was the policy of the Governor of the Mississippi Territory to refuse permission to
white settlers to encroach on Indian lands, but the temptation was so great that
“Squatters,” or farmers without title to land, slipped in and settled wherever possible,
without detection. A Federal census of MadisonCounty in 1809 reported white occupation
of Indian lands in some of the mountain coves of this area.

With safe passage into the territory assured, the tide of white population advanced and
spread out in all directions threatening encroachment on Indian lands adjoining Madison
County. To avoid serious conflict, United States Commissioners were appointed to meet
with the Cherokees, Chickasaws and Choctaws to secure further relinquishment of Indian
lands, In the three treaties signed in 1816, the Federal Government acquired the land
reaching from the headwaters of the Coosa to the Tombigbee River, and north to a point on
the Tennessee River.This expanse, added to that lost by the Creeks to General Jackson, laid
the greater part of the Alabama country open to white settlement.

ALABAMA AS A TERRITORY
By 1816 the population of the territory had increased unti l Mississippi was teady to

apply for admission asa state of the Union.The prospect of including the eastern half of the
territory within the new state was opposed by the settlers along the Tennessee River because
of the great distance to the capitol at Natchez. A division of the territory seemed more
desirable to them. Strong feeling in Congress also, over holding a balance between “free”
and “slave’’ states; made Southern Congressmen keenly aware of the opposition. Thus,
through the influence of Southern Senators the territory was divided so as to include the
western half in Mississippi which was admitted as a state in 1817. The eastern half was
approved, by the same Congress, for organization asAlabama Territory, and St. Stephens, in
the southwest corner, was designated as the territorial capitol. This division acceded to the
desire of the Tennessee Valley population for a separate government, and provided acapitol
until grounds and buildings could be prepared for a permanent seat at Cahaba.

To facilitate the survey and sale of public lands in North Alabama, a Federal Land
Office was opened in Huntsville, and on February 27, 1819, a treaty was signed by the
Federal Government and the Cherokees whereby they ceded their land north and west of
the Tennessee River to the United States, This resulted in the removal of most of the Indian
occupants to western land reserved for them. The land thus acquiredwas later incorporated
into Jackson County.

The rapid and massive increase in population over the Alabama Territory made it
necessary to apply for statehood. On March 2, 1819,Congress admitted Alabama asa state.
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a1VLSVSVVWVEVIVALABAMA AS A STATE
After complying with all constitutional requirements for admission, on December 14,

1819, President James Monroe approved the Congressional Resolution to admit Alabama to
the Union.

Promptly after the selection of members of the State Legislature, members of Congress
and the inauguration of Territorial Governor WilliamWyatt Bibb asthe first state governor,
the Alabama Legislature assembled in Huntsville to organize the state government. Before it
adjourned, six counties, including Jackson, were added to the list to be entitled to
representation in the legislature. The statute creating Jackson County at that time set its
boundaries as “all that tract of country lately obtained from the Cherokee Nation of
Indians, lying on the north side of the Tennessee River, south of the Tennessee state line,
and east of the Flint River, after it leavesMadison County.”

Two years later, on December 13, 1821, the Legislature approved an act to create
Decatur County to include “all that tract of country lyingwest of Jackson County, south of
the Tennessee state line, east of Madison County, and north of the Tennessee River” and the
northern part of Marshall County.

FINAL ORGANIZATION OFJACKSON COUNTY
A commission was named to select a county seat and Woodville was chosen asthe site,

The Legislature of 1825 abolished Decatur County on the ground that it failed to meet
constitutional requirements as to the territory included. As a result, that part of Marshall
County north of the Tennessee River reverted to Jackson, and that part east of Flint River
was added to MadisonCounty.

That part of Jackson County lying east and south of the Tennessee River acquired
from the Cherokee Indians by the New Echota Treaty of December 29, 1835, was added
January 9, 1836. This completed the removal of the Cherokees from this area except a very
few who were spared for particular reasons.

With the Indians removed, the state and county organized, and with the assurance of
valid titles to the land by the Federal Land Office, pioneer farmers poured into the new
country doubling and redoubling the population within a few years.

ALABAMA BECOMES TEMPORARY CAPITOL OF CONFEDERACY
Asa final step in the long fight for political power, between the NorthandSouth, over

opposing economic interests, Alabama, with the other southern states, seceded from the
Union. On February 4, 1861, their representatives met in a convention in Montgomery and
founded a new government ‐ the “Confederate States of America.”’ Again authority over
the Bridgeport domain changed, and it became a part of one of the Confederate States of
America. Four years of war followed, and during this struggle Bridgeport played an
important part.

After General Lee’s surrender, April 9, 1865, a long political battle, between the
Congress and the President over aplan for restoring the seceding states to their places in the
Union, followed. This period lasted five years during which time all the seceded states
(except Tennessee which had been restored on her acceptance of the fourteenth

27



amendment) were placed under Federal military rule, in spite of the fact that all three
branches of government had agreed that the war had ended.

In 1868 Alabama, with seven other southern states, was restored to the Union and was
allowed to vote in the election that year. By 1870 the three remaining states were restored
to statehood. So this small corner had felt the trying experiences of military government
before being restored as a part of the sovereign state of Alabama into the Federal System of
the United States. This has been its political status down to the present time.

Through 300 years of contention for power, the English speaking people ultimately
predominated and projected their culture over the entire country.
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Life Among
Taproot Settlers
THEIR HOMES, SOCIAL ACTIVITIES, EDUCATION, RELIGION, POLITICAL INTERESTS

There is good reason why this corner of Alabama should have experienced, very early,
the surge of the high tide of pioneer farmers. When seen from the high elevations that
enclose i t , the land spreads out like an open fan, ribbed from its corner pivot outward, by
ridges and foothills, and guarded on its sides by two divergent mountain ranges. These
elevations are webbed together by floors of rich “bottom” land, washed down from its
many hills and mountain watersheds.

Lying between these mountain peaks and ridges are five stretches of fine land. In the
center spreads the big valley of the Tennessee, to its east lies Hogjaw Valley, a slender
tongue of land held between the jaws of a ridge on one side and Sand Mountain on the
other; to its west lie King, Doran and Jeffries Coves. All of these valleys were level, fertile
and well drained. This was the “Promised Land,” too tempting to be resisted by these
land-hungry farmers who had been pushed into the mountains by the wealthy Tidewater
planters along the coast.

So they entered in a trickling but constant stream, with barest essentials for living, and
by whatever transportation they could afford.

The first need of these early settlers was shelter which had to be constructed from raw
nature. Stone and timber were abundant, but only a few rough tools and man’s muscle were
present to do the work which included felling, sawing, scaling, hewing and dragging the logs
to the home site for building. There the ends of the logs had to be notched in such a way as
to fit together at the corners in forming a r o om , The joints were then reinforced by wooden
pegs. The gaps between the logs required calking with sticks and dirt to shut out the wind
and rain. Floors consisted of split logs with the flat sides up , and the roof called for
hand-riven boards. Windows and doors had wooden shutters hung by rawhide hinges.

The chimney required a skilled stone worker, who knew how to construct it for a draft
of air for the most effective heating and cooking. It had to bebuilt of native rock, allowing
for a huge fireplace that would hold big logs and support pot-hooks from which vessels
could be hung for cooking.

Al l furniture had to be made from parts cut from trees, and the first mattresses were
stuffed with straw.

Surrounding ground demanded fencing for protection against roving animals, and rails
for this purpose had to be split from certain selected trees.

Laws regulating stock ranges were unknown; so as livestock increased, this problem was
resolved by a law requiring each farmer to use a particular brand or earmark, and have it
recorded at the county courthouse,
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The Pioneer’s diet was coarse. Wild game was plentiful, and every settler had corn as
early as he could grow i t . This was used in various ways three meals a day. A garden soon
supplied a limited variety of vegetables. Wild honey helped to supply the need for sugar, and
sassafras tea was a fair substitute for coffee or imported tea.

Every farmer had a few tobacco plants to meet the need for chewing, smoking and
dipping,

As milch cows, hogs, and chickens were raised,milk, eggs, and smoke-cured meat were
added to the diet.

Clothing was of minimal concem. As soon assheep and cotton weregrown, the fibers
were carded and spun into thread which was woven into cloth. It was then ready to be cut
and made into clothing by the fingers. Garments obtained at this price were very precious,
so that most rigid economy was practiced in cutting and mending. Garments were turned,
patched and remade as long asenough cloth was left for use.

Every man was his own family cobbler. Some shoes were made from tough hides, and
all were mended, asthey wore thin, on an iron last which fitted into the shoe and stood on a
stand, In this way tacks could be hammered in and bradded. As time passed and someone
especially good at this kind of work appeared, the busy settlers passed more and more of it
out of the home to him. Here was a beginningof division of labor.

This was true also of the blacksmith who wasa very useful man in the community.
The problem of family laundry was met by the use of an iron wash pot for boiling the

articles, wooden tubs for washing and rinsing, and a battling block with a heavy bat for
beating the dirt out of the garments.

Soap was made from wood ashes which were deposited in an ash hopper and watered
so as to allow the filtered lye-water to pour through aspigot.When this product was boiled
with fat and water, it became soap and was ready for use.

Floors were kept clean by scrubbing with a scrub brush made of awooden slab with a
handle and perforations filled with rolls of corn shucks which served asbristles. Sand served
asan abrasive to cut the dirt, and lye soap was used for softening it.

Social life was not neglected but was often interwoven with work , These neighbors
shared both pleasure and labor. Occasions like house raising, corn husking and log rolling
were highly socialized. While the men did the outside labor, the wives and daughters
prepared a feast which was joyously shared.

Quilting Bees were popular with the women. Many attended these gatherings, and, in
addition to the pleasure of gossip and food, the day ended with several finished quilts for
the hostess.

Young people enjoyed singings which were held on Sunday afternoons in the churches.
Candy pullings were popular in the homes in the evenings. Hay rides offered another form
of pleasure. Youth devised various other kinds of entertainment so that they never lacked
diversion compatible with their time.

School held high priority with these settlers. As soon asthey could turn their attention
away from their homes, they planned for their children to go to school. They either built a
one-room log house to be used for both school and church services, or they arranged for
their children to attend such services asexisted within walking distance, usually several miles
away.

The Pioneer’s diet was coarse. Wild game was plentiful, and every settler had corn as
early as he could grow i t . This was used in various ways three meals a day. A garden soon
supplied a limited variety of vegetables. Wild honey helped to supply the need for sugar, and
sassafras tea was a fair substitute for coffee or imported tea.

Every farmer had a few tobacco plants to meet the need for chewing, smoking and
dipping.

As milch cows, hogs, and chickens were raised,milk, eggs, and smoke-cured meat were
added to the diet.

Clothing was of minimal concern. As soon assheep and cotton were grown, the fibers
were carded and spun into thread which was woven into cloth. It was then ready to be cut
and made into clothing by the fingers. Garments obtained at this price were very precious,
so that most rigid economy was practiced in cutting and mending. Garments were turned,
patched and remade aslong asenough cloth was left for use.

Every man was his own family cobbler. Some shoes were made from tough hides, and
all were mended, asthey wore thin, on an iron last which fitted into the shoe and stood on a
stand. In this way tacks could be hammered in and bradded. As time passed and someone
especially good at this kind of work appeared, the busy settlers passed more and more of it
out of the home to him. Here was abeginning of division of labor.

This was true also of the blacksmith who was avery useful man in the community.
The problem of family laundry was met by the use of an iron wash pot for boiling the

articles, wooden tubs for washing and rinsing, and a battling block with a heavy bat for
beating the dirt out of the garments.

Soap was made from wood ashes which were deposited in an ash hopper and watered
so as to allow the filtered lye-water to pour through a spigot. When this product was boiled
with fat and water, it became soap and was ready for use.

Floors were kept clean by scrubbing with a scrub brushmade of a wooden slab witha
handle and perforations filled with rolls of corn shucks which served asbristles. Sand served
asan abrasive to cut the dirt, and lye soap was used for softening i t .

Social life was not neglected but was often interwoven with work. These neighbors
shared both pleasure and labor, Occasions like house raising, corn husking and log rolling
were highly socialized. While the men did the outside labor, the wives and daughters
prepared a feast which was joyously shared.

Quilting Bees were popular with the women. Many attended these gatherings, and, in
addition to the pleasure of gossip and food, the day ended with several finished quilts for
the hostess.

Young people enjoyed singings which were held on Sunday afternoons in the churches.
Candy pullings were popular in the homes in the evenings, Hay rides offered another form
of pleasure. Youth devised various other kinds of entertainment so that they never lacked
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bright, was reported, in a local paper, ashaving attended school eighteen months and then
becoming a teacher in Jackson County. Salaries were as low as $15.00 per month, and
school terms lasted only three months in the year. Some communities staggered their terms
so as to have six months of school attendance for their children. Teachers had a regular
itinerary among the patrons who, in turn, provided them with free board.

Schoolhouses were equipped with a rostrum which was occupied by the teacher during
school hours except Friday afternoons. On these days parents were invited to attend and
hear their children recite, sing or take part in a ‘SpellingBee’’ on the rostrum. Memorizing
played a big part in these schools, and the child who could recite the longest poem from
memory won special plaudits.

The course of study usually reached no higher, in reading, rudiments of writing and
arithmetic, than the sixth grade. Education beyond this level had to be sought in distant
schools, so very few left home for this purpose. The old church in Doran Cove is a fine
example of the earliest schools. It was one of the best, asit had two teachers and boarding
pupils.

Church held an important role in the lives of these early settlers. It satisfied their social
aswell as spiritual needs, as it provided them with a place where they could meet, talk, sing
and pray with their neighbors without restraint. It meant a brief respite from the everyday
hardships, deprivations and fears that they faced daily in a raw and untamed country.

So, to meet this urgent need, church service was arranged asearly aspossible for each
neighborhood. The building was made of logs, consisting of one room equipped with rough
homemade seats. It usually provided for worship by all denominations. This was convenient
as the membership and economy of any single sect was not ready for a full-time minister.
The building also served the joint use of church and school.

In this, aswell asevery other phase of pioneer life, democracy was making its influence
felt. Old established institutions were being strained to meetthe requirements of life in the
wilderness. Restrained emotions and high passion called for free expression. Thus various
denominations reached out to serve these needs, and in the process bridged the gap between
the old and the new patterns of worship and preserved religion.

Political life offered diversion and information to these settlers. They had no way of
knowing about their government’s business except by the campaign visits and speeches of
candidates for public office. These men visited the settlement only when stumping the
country for votes. With spread-eagle oratory, they briefed their hearers with government
activities, offered their programs of reform, shared a hearty barbecue picnic, toasted their
constituents, praised the food and women, kissed the babies and asked for votes. After a
day’s excitement for all, they departed to be seen no more until another race for office
when they could bereminded of the unfulfilled promises of their previous programs.
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Bridgeport Develops
These early men were predominately small farmers whose first aim was to secure a

piece of land and support a permanent home, and here, on this fan-spread web of fertile soil,
eager, weathered farmers met to create a new economy. There was no delay in starting the
task; the land was cleared, broken and planted, and large families supplied the labor. The
black, bottom land was found to be best adapted to the growth of grains and the raising of
livestock, while the rolling upland was suited to cotton.

With the harvesting of their crops came the need for markets, aneed which demanded
transportation. As no other means of shipping was available, the river provided the sole
highway for traffic. Thus a landing spot, within the present town of Bridgeport, was selected
as a shipping point for outgoing farm products and such incomingmerchandise asmight be
demanded.

Soona gravitation of settlers, with their farm products, turned to this spot. Cotton,
lumber and grains were brought in on wagons drawn by mules or oxen and loaded on
flatboats, barges, or keelboats. These boats were propelled by poles, pushed or pulled by
hand.

The chief cotton market was in New Orleans, but this trip by river imposed terrible
shipping hazards at Florence, because of the shoals which could not be crossed in dry
weather. Often movement of cotton was delayed until the winter freshets which permitted
the boats to float over the shallows.

The return trip was sostrenuous that the boats were frequently sold in NewOrleans to
avoid the fight against the downstream current toward home. Upstream markets were
almost equally hard to reach because of the dangerous rapids around the mountains of east
Tennessee. Consequently shippingwas largely restricted to limitations within the river. Since
cotton was the predominant money crop of the time, the problem of eliminating the shoals
hazard was never forgotten.

In the meantime an active trade developed between this point and river towns such as
Guntersville and Huntsville, creating a young business nucleus for this farming area. General
stores called saloons sprang up around the river landing. These placeswere not restricted to
the usual business of saloons, but they also supplied farm tools and “furnishings” for the
growing of another crop aswell asbasic items for home use. A limited trade was carried on
with the Cherokees asthe tribes east of the river remained until 1836.

As com was a main part of the diet, a grist mill became a necessity. This was a
waterpowered grinder erected on a stream and accessible to the community. There farmers
had their corn ground into meal or grits and paid for the work witha toll or part of the
grist.
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As farming grew in importance,many kinds of labor passed from the home to a kind of
specialist who ultimately set up his shop and earned his living by his skill. Such were the
origins of wooden manufacturers, blacksmiths, and cobblers who were as necessary as
farmers themselves.

The price which enabled farmers to grow cotton for a profit led to an increase in its
production, which in turn called for the erection of cotton gins, where the fiber could be
separated from the seed, compressed into bales, and made ready for shipment. This focused
closer attention on the shoals problem at Florence, and looked to the extension of
navigation in the river.

In 1828 this local landing witnessed the operation of a steampowered boat. T h eAtlas,
a flat-bottomed, light-draft boat stopped here on its way from Wheeling, West Virginia,
where it was built, to Knoxville, creating great excitement all along the way. From
Knoxville it returned to Decatur and operated in the river for about two years.

This method seemed to be the best way to meet the urgent need of effective upstream
traffic, so a canal was dug as a by-pass around the shoals, but it proved to be inadequate to
the needs of navigation. Despite the hazards of shipping, however, steamboats gradually
came into limited use while flatboats continued in downstream traffic asthe cheaper way of
shipping heavy freight, such ascotton.

The first steamboats burned wood for fuel. To supply this they had to tie up along the
bank about every twenty-four hours for a load of wood. Frequently the crew went into the
woods and cut and hauled the wood to the boat. This was later handled by contractors who
had it ready when the boat landed.

By 1850 most of the handicaps of the early ships had been met, and the larger
steamboats carried both freight and passengers. The captain became a well-known person,
and the landing of the boat an exciting and popular occasion for farmers on business, or
idlers in search of excitement. Well-dressed ladies made frequent excursion trips on the
r i v e r .

Early signs of the decline in steamboat transportation appeared when the first railroad
was built in Alabama. The original purpose of this railroad was to help river traffic by
assuring satisfactory passage around the shoals where the canal had failed. About 1830
David Hubbard, a wealthy Tennessee Valley planter, used his influence with the state
legislature to secure a charter and capital for a railroad around the shoals. This was
completed in 1831.

In 1832 a second railroad, the Tuscumbia-Courtland-Decatur, was chartered. It was
completed in 1834. It moved at a speed of ten miles per hour with frequent stops to satisfy
curious crowds. It was operated by unskilled men.The capital for this road was furnished by
individual subscriptions, supplemented occasionally by counties and towns. Much of the
capital was in the form of labor and material. If this failed to show up, the project was
delayed. Public sentiment was opposed to the use of public funds for this purpose.

With increased business and shipping and a growing population, a need for a post office
became urgent. This need was met by the U. S. Post Office Department on January 21,
1852, under the name of Jonesville, with John W. Alley asits first postmaster.

The N. C. & St. L. was the first railroad built through Jackson County. It was
authorized by the Tennessee Legislature in 1845, and approved by the Alabama Legislature,
wi th provisions for a bridge across the Tennessee River, January 21, 1850, This track had a

33



span of twenty-four miles across the coun ty, extending from Bass to Carpenter. It was built
in 1852 through 1853, and in May 1853 the railroad was open from Nashville to Jonesville.

From Jonesville, river steamers carried freight and passengers to Chattanooga when the
river was navigable. Early in 1854 the large truss bridge at Jonesville was completed, and on
February 11 the first train crossed.

On December 15, 1854, the town’s name was changed from Jonesville to Bridgeport
because of the establishment of a river po r t and the completion of the railroad bridge.

January 7, 1850, the legislature chartered the Memphis and Charleston Railroad.
Jackson County citizens subscribed freely to this, as away of securing better access to
markets. The contractors were citizens of this county. Road grading was done in 1853-54,
and tracklaying from Stevenson to Decatur was finished in March 1856.The destruction by
fire of one of the bridges at Bridgeport delayed completion of the Memphis and Charleston
Railroad by ninety days.

In 1857 the Memphis and Charleston Railroad contracted with N. C. & St. L. for the
use of their track from Stevenson to Chattanooga.

In 1860 a branch line was authorized from Bridgeport to Jasper, but it was not built
until 1867.A span of 2.9 miles of this line lay within Jackson County and was known asthe
“Jasper Branch.” An eyewitness of the completion of this track, W. L. Kirkpatrick, gives
this account. The engine was small with a large smokestack; cars used had a capacity of from
12 to 15 tons; the rails were made of “U-iron” very light and brittle, causing a daily
occurrence of broken rails, The ties were too far apart and were made of various inferior
woods.

The spring floods of the Tennessee River were common, but the excessive rains in the
spring of 1867 established a high-water record. On March 4 at 10 p.m. the drawbridge
washed away with A. M. Kirkpatrick and Jack O’Neal on it. Both men were later rescued.

The first shipment of freight over the “Jasper Branch” consisted of nine bales of
cotton shipped by O.R. Beene on March 12, 1867.

In 1905 a branch railroad line was completed from Bridgeport to Orme, Tennessee, a
distance of ten miles.

This railroad bridge was originally
completed in February 1854. The
first bridges, built of wood, had a
passage way for a horse and buggy
under the top trestle. The piers of
this bridgeare the originals.
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to explain why Bridgeport was considered of vital importance in the final years of the war.
This strategy for Union offensive was dictated by the physical features of the

Confederacy, the land, the rivers and its long coastline. The Appalachian System and the
Mississippi River cut the Confederacy into three nearly equal parts, and two sides were
bordered by the sea. Each of the land areas was assigned an army with a specific purpose,
and the navy was ordered to establish ablockade around the coast.

Very early the FederalGovernment organized three great offensive movements. In the
East the purpose was to defend the Federal Capitol at Washington and gain control of the
Confederate Capitol at Richmond; west of the mountains the plan included the occupation
of Kentucky and Tennessee and final penetration of the South to the sea. The
trans-Mississippi objective was to split the Confederacy and so cut off all troops and supplies
from Louisiana, Arkansas, and Texas. Occupation of the Mississippi River aided by a naval
blockade of the long coastline would entwine the Confederacy in a death squeeze.

BATTLE OF BRIDGEPORT
On Apri l 10, 1862, after the Federal victory at Shiloh, the third Division,Army of the

Ohio, under the command of General O. M. Mitchel, was ordered to march from
Fayetteville, Tennessee, to Huntsville. He reached Huntsville the next day and reported
capturing about 200 prisoners and 15 locomotives and rolling-stock. On the 12thhe sent an
expedition to Bridgeport, burning many bridges in that direction and capturing five more
locomotives. About the same time he dispatched a force from Huntsville to the bridge at
Decatur. As a result of these expeditions, Confederate railroad communications were
stopped throughout NorthernAlabama.

In an effort to loosen Federal hold on Huntsville, the Confederates cut the telegraph
lines and attacked one of General Mitchel’s brigades. This harassment caused Mitchel to lead
an expedition commanded by Colonel Joshua W. Sill to Bridgeport where a Confederate
force was encamped.

At Bridgeport General Leadbetter’s division and Kain’s Tennessee Light Artillery
occupied the elevation (Battery Hi l l ) overlooking the river and valley. From this point they
had a commanding view of the surrounding country. As Mitchel’s troops came in sight,
some of Leadbetter’s cavalry mistook them for Confederates and dashed across awheat field
in full sight of the enemy. Mitchel’s cavalry gave them a chase while his artillery fired on
them. Soon Leadbetter’s whole force was on the retreat across the truss bridge. Leadbetter
prepared a blast for the western end of the bridge, but it failed. He then set fire to the
eastern end and burned 450 feet of the structure.
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From this sketch which appeared in Harper’s Weekly can be seen Confederate General Leadbetter’s force
camped on the hill which in later years became known as Battery Hill. Confederate troops are shown
crossing the railroad bridge which Leadbetter partially destroyed in his retreat from the Federals
commanded by GeneralMitchel.April 29, 1862. Cour tesy, M r s , Will lam Marsh

Under the enemy’s fire, Leadbetter abandoned two iron six pounders and Kain’s
battery on the east bank of the river.

Casualties reported for both sides were:
Casualties U.S. Confederate
Killed 3 31
Wounded 8 42
Captured 0 350
Total 11 423

Mitchel reported Leadbetter’s force as 5000 infantry and one regiment of cavalry, and
again asfive regiments of infantry and 1800 cavalry. Leadbetter reported 450 raw infantry
and 150 cavalry. Mitchel, at Huntsville, on May 1, closed his report as follows: “This
campaign is ended, and I can now occupy Huntsville in perfect security, while all of
Alabama north of the Tennessee floats no flag but that of the Union.” The following is from
Mrs.W. D. Chadick’s Diary of May 10, 1862:

There has been a small fight at Bridgeport,which the Federals claim asagreat victory. They brought
down a great many wounded and 41 prisonerswho are in theWest HuntsvilleMethodist Church. Have been
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F rom ‘ ‘The Alabama Confederate Reader," by Malcolm C. McMillan, copy r i gh t (c ) 1963 by the Un ivers i t y of Alabama
Press.

Before Mitchel’s withdrawal from Bridgeport in August 1862, he ordered the large
truss bridge to be totally burned.

BRIDGEPORT FORTIFIES

By late 1863 Tennessee was practically under the control of the Union Army. The
Confederate loss of Gettysburg had strengthened Federal hope for victory in the East; the
surrender of Vicksburg had given the Union Army full control of the Mississippi River, and
the blockade could now beextended up the Mississippi River with strangling effect.

The favorable signs now directed the Union Army on a campaign of subjugation
through Tennessee and on to the sea.

The immediate target was Chattanooga, as a gateway through Georgia. This city had
the advantage of water transportation, and it was the junction of the Richmond-Memphis‑
Knoxville Railway systemwhich was the very heart of the Confederate transportation and
communication systems.

Bridgeport’s location on the Tennessee River and main rail lines to Chattanooga
marked it asan important base of operations for the Union Army.

By the spring of 1863 the Confederacy was beginning to realize the possible
importance of Bridgeport’s location to Union strategy. The direction of the next campaign
was becoming evident, and the success of this would require lines of supply and
communication. Bridgeport could become a useful base in supplying these needs with its
river and rail transportation.

Consequently, early in the year of 1863, construction of fortifications was begun in
Bridgeport by the Confederacy, using slave labor. This was a first step toward resistance of
the anticipated Federal occupation. The following excerpt from a Huntsville newspaper,
“The Confederate,” of June 7, 1863, carried this notice to the owners of slaves employed
there:

Major James Nocquett, Corps of Engineers, C. S. A. has the honor to inform the citizens who had
some negroes employed on fortifications at Bridgeport, Ala., that hewill remain at the Huntsville Hotel
until the 10th inst. for the purpose of settling all accounts, as well as for overseers as for laborers. He
respectfully invites all persons having claims on the Confederate States on the grounds above mentioned, to
call on himbefore heleaves the city. After his departure, it will beextremely difficult to settle any account
of that kind.
From ‘S l ave r y in Alabama’ by James B, Se l le rs ,c o p y r i g h t (c ) 1950 by t h e Un ive rs i t y o f Alabama Press,

In the early summer of 1863, Federal Major General William S. Rosecrans advancing
from Murfreesboro, forced Confederate Major General Braxton Braggover the Cumberland
Mountains. Hoping to delay the march of Rosecrans’ army, Bragg destroyed the truss bridge
at Bridgeport in June, 1863, and entrenched his army in and around Chattanooga.
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This was the scene left by Braggin June 1863,after hedestroyed the railroad bridge crossing
the “slough” on the east side of Long Island,opposite Bridgeport.

Cour tesy, A. S. Barnes & Company, Inc.

To delay Rosecrans’ advance to Chattanooga, Bragg destroyed the two truss bridges at Bridgeport in the
early summer of 1863. It was the second and not the final time during the war that this huge truss bridge
was destroyed. To meet the situation, Rosecrans’ army constructed a pontoon bridge at Caperton’s Ferry,
the crossing for the town of Stevenson, and constructed a pontoon bridgeat Bridgeport.

Cour tesy, National Archives
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To delay Rosecrans’ advance to Chattanooga, Bragg destroyed the two truss bridges at Bridgeport in the
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the crossing for the town of Stevenson, and constructeda pontoon bridge at Bridgeport.
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Federal troops constructingapontoon bridgeat Bridgeport below the destroyedNashvilleand Chattanooga
Railroad bridge in August 1863. The pontoons were made from lumber cut at the captured Confederate
sawmill at Bridgeport. After the Federals crossed the pontoon bridge on this side of the river, the pontoon
part of the bridgewas then floated around the islandto be reassembled on the other sideof the river knownas“theslough.”

Cour tesy, L i b r a r y of Congress

On July 29 Colonel Laiboldt of the Union Army reached Bridgeport at 6 a.m. and
captured the machinery of a large steam sawmill that had been taken apart and carried to
the river for shipment on a Confederate steamboat. General W. F. Smith reassembled the
sawmill at the foot of Battery Hill and immediately started operation. Logs were moved on
rafts down the river where they were cut into lumber to be used in constructing a pontoon
bridge at Bridgeport and one near Stevenson. Later, steamboats were constructed at
Bridgeport from the lumber that came from this mill.

In August 1863 Major General Philip H. Sheridan, division commander of McCook’s
corps, constructed a pontoon bridge at Bridgeport a short distance below the truss bridge
that had been destroyed. Since he lackedenough pontoons to complete the pontoon bridge,
he had to finish the job with trestle work. Sheridan then began rebuilding the truss bridge, a
part of which had collapsed while under construction.

General Rosecrans’ army was forced to halt at Stevenson, because it was found
impossible to transport needed supplies over the terrible roads of eastern Tennessee, There
they were detained until the Nashville and Chattanooga Railroad was repaired as far as
Bridgeport. With repairs complete, on August 16, the army began its advance to
Chattanooga.

Two routes of approach to Chattanooga were open to General Rosecrans, one from the
north side of the river, a seventy-mile march through a rough, mountainous country, with
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little water and forage; the other on the southwest, requiring passage across the Tennessee
and over Sand and Lookout Mountains. A small portion of his force took theseventy-mile
route; the latter route was chosen for the remaining army. By September 2, when most of
Rosecrans’ army was over the river, the truss bridge at Bridgeport was repaired and ready for
use.

General Bragg, who was still entrenched at Chattanooga, expected Rosecrans to move
in from the north, consequently he concentrated his forces at and above Chattanooga, while
the Federals did the unexpected thing; they crossed the Tennessee River at Bridgeport and
Stevenson and arrived by way of Lookout Mountain. Rosecrans, through his skillful
maneuvering, forced the Confederates to evacuate Chattanooga, the important gateway to
the East, and withdraw into northern Georgia. Believing that they were in full retreat,
Rosecrans drove on in pursuit of them.

Alarmed at the loss of this key point, President Davis rushed General Longstreet with
11,000 men to reinforce Bragg. General Bragg in the meantime concentrated his forces at
Lafayette, Georgia, where he received the reinforcements. Rosecrans realized that Braggwas
getting ready to strike, so heordered hisarmy to regroup near Chickamauga Creek. Now the
stage was set, and the Battle of Chickamauga was fought September 19-20, 1863.The Union
line cracked and broke, but General George H. Thomas used the bayonet to hurl back
Confederate attack unti l reserves saved the day.

FollowingRosecrans’ defeat, he withdrew to Chattanooga, and Bragg took positions on
Missionary Ridge, Raccoon and Lookout Mountains. From these heights he was able to
besiege the entire Army of the Cumberland, by his command of the railroad, the river, and
the shortest and best wagon roads both south and north of the Tennessee River, between
Chattanooga and Bridgeport.

In answer to Rosecrans’ urgent demand for reinforcements, General-in-Chief Halleck
ordered Grant and Sherman and the Eleventh and Twelfth Corps under Major General
Joseph Hooker to Chattanooga. Grant received orders on the twenty-second and
immediately instructed four divisions under Sherman to march from Vicksburg to
Chattanooga. Major General Joseph Hooker’s army was to leave the Army of the Potomac
and be rapidly transported to Bridgeport. On September 24 Oliver Otis Howard’s Eleventh
Corps and Henry Slocum’s Twelfth Corps received their marching orders. These troops
marched to Manassas Junction, entrained on September 25, and five days later on
September 30, the first trains arrived at Bridgeport.

BRIDGEPORT BECOMES A BASE FOR THE UNION ARMY

These two corps, comprising 20,000 troops and more than 3,000 horses andmules had
traveled 1,157 miles. At Bridgeport, the Eleventh and Twelfth corps were ordered to guard
the depots of supplies and the lines of communication between Bridgeport and Nashville,
since all Rosecrans’ supplies had to be sent from Nashville over the railroad.

From Bridgeport to Chattanooga, Rosecrans had to depend exclusively upon a long
and mountainous wagon road for all of his supplies. The distance between Chattanooga and
Bridgeport by rail was only twenty-six miles, but the mountainous wagon road increased the
distance to over sixty miles, starting at Bridgeport and following the river to Jasper,
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impassable. Travel over the part of the road to Jasper, Tennessee, was comparatively easy,
by comparison with that from Jasper up the muddy Sequatchie River Valley, a distance of

i] about 20 miles. Heavy rains had made most of the fords unusable, and the roads were axle
deep in mud. From Sequatchie Valley the road turned southeast across Walden’s Ridge,

& where it was hardly better than a trail, and the wagons had to be half pulled and half
carried. Sometimes as many as 16 mules were harnessed to a wagon, one man with a whip
assigned to each mule. As many foot soldiers as could find room around the wagon shoved
or worked with the muddy spokes of the wheels.

Rosecrans’ situation was worsened when General Bragg sent General Joe Wheeler to
destroy Federal supply trains as they moved over Walden’s Ridge to and from Bridgeport.
On October 3 General Wheeler captured a supply train that was moving through Sequatchie

§ Valley to Chattanooga. The Confederates made the best of the opportunity to fil l their
Pi haversacks. Wagons were burned and the mules were shot or sabered. General Rosecrans

placed the loss at five hundred wagons. Conditions already bad within Chattanooga became
increasingly worse. The Federal soldiers received less and less food. Horses and mules were
on a starvation diet and many died each day.

At Bridgeport Captain Arthur Edwards, Assistant Quartermaster from Detroit, had
been striving, since the siege began, to build a steamboat. He had under construction a
150-foot flatbottomed scow that hewas building from lumber that was cut at the sawmill in
Bridgeport. He planned to mount a stern paddle wheel, a boiler and an engine taken from a
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The U. S. S. Chattanooga was built at Bridgeport by Federal troops. The steamer was the first steamboat
built at Bridgeport and the first boat built by Federal troops themselves. The boat was christened October
24, 1863,andon the thirtieth she made her first voyage, weathering aviolent storm on that voyage.

Cour tesy, N a t i o n a l Archives
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nearby factory, The diary of BrigadierGeneralWilliam G. LeDuc has this to say about i t :
October 5, 1863 ‐ General Hooker was over yesterday . . . and examined the little scow. He

appreciated the probable importance of the boat, and ordered meto take it in hand personally and see that
work was crowded on it assoon aspossible . . .Captain Edwards has employed a shipbuilder from Lake
Erie ‐ Turner, an excellent mechanic, who is no t sofamiliar with the construction of flat-bottomed,
light-draught river steamers. ...The frame of the boat is set on blocks,and is only five or six feet above the
present water of the river.This mountain streammust be subject to sudden floodswhich may make trouble
for the boat.

The rain that had made Rosecrans’ supply road impassable was now making trouble for
Turner at Bridgeport. LeDuc’s diary has this entry:

October 16 ‐ . . . I found Turner, the master mechanic, in trouble with the hull of the little boat. The
planking was nearly all on, and he was getting ready to calk and pitch her bottom when I went to
Stevenson.The water had risen so rapidly that it was within sixteen or eighteen inchesof her bottomplanks
when I returned, and Turner was loading her decks with pig-iron that the rebels had left near the
bridge-head. He thought hewould thus keep the hull down on the blocking, and after the water went down
would then goonand finish.

“But,” I said, “ Tu e r , if the planking gets wet, you cannot calk and pitch until it dries.” “That’s
true; and it would take two weeks, and may be four, to dry her after she was submerged, andwho knows
how high it may rise andwhen it will abate?”

Cour tesy, National Archives
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The U, S. S.Missionary was completedand launchedat Bridgeport on January 2, 1864.The many steamers
built at Bridgeport kept supplies steadily moving to Chattanooga. This river line was the only line of
communication to Chattanooga in the latter part of 1863 and the early part of 1864. The railroadwas in
complete shambles between Bridgeport and Chattanooga. The bridges at Bridgeport and the 780-foot-long
and 116-foot-hightrestle-bridge at Whiteside,Tennessee,were completely destroyed.

Cour tesy, National Archives
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Action, Skirmish
Reconnaissanceor Scout.

1864
March 31-April 2
April 12-16

LeDuc suggested raising the hull by cross-timbering the blocks, but Turner said that the
water was rising faster than the hull could be cross-timbered. LeDuc, staring vacantly toward
the pontoon bridge, saw a number of pontoons tied to shore. These boats were 10-12 feet
wide and 30 feet long; the sides were 18 inches high. LeDuc wrote:

I counted them, and then started double quick for the boat-yard, hallooing to Turner, “Throw off
that iron, quick! Detail methree carpenters; one to bore with atwo-and-a-half or three-inch auger, and two
to make plugs to fill the holes. Send some laborers into all the camps to bring every bucket, and find some
careful men who are not afraid to go under the boat and knock out blocks asfast as1bring them down a
pontoon.”

The pontoons were put under the boat, and by 2 o’clock on the morning of October
16, the boat was riding safely on the risingwater.

General Grant was informed that Rosecrans had considered falling back from
Chattanooga. A retreat at this time would have been the loss of a most important strategic
position to the Federal Army, and it would also have been the loss of all the artillery still
left with the Army of the Cumberland. General Grant realized this. He telegraphed the order
from Washington to Rosecrans, relieving him of duty at Chattanooga and assigningThomas
to the command of the Army of the Cumberland. Grant sent an additional wire to Thomas
telling him to hold Chattanooga at all hazards. He also asked Thomas how longhis present
supplies would last. Thomas gave a prompt reply saying that he had five days’ rations on
hand, with about two days’ rations expected the next day. He ended his reply, “I will hold
the town ti l l we starve.”

To supplement their meager rations, the Federalswere forced to hunt in the woods for
acorns. Some of the soldiers stole the ears of corn that were occasionally given to the horses
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and mules, but when they were ordered to stop, they combed the ground for kernels that
the animals might have overlooked.

Grant reported:
On the morning of the 21st (of October 1 8 6 3 ) ,wetook a train from the front, reachingStevenson,

Alabama, after dark. Rosecrans was there on his way north. He came into my car and we helda brief
interview, in which he described very clearly the situation at Chattanooga and made some excellent
suggestions as to what should be done. My only wonder was that he had not carried them out. We then
proceeded to Bridgeport where we stopped for the night.From here we took horses and made our way to
Jasper and over Walden’s Ridge to Chattanooga. . . . The roads were strewn with debris of brokenwagons
and the carcasses of thousands of starved mulesand horses... .

When Grant reached Chattanooga on October 23, he found that Brigadier General
William F. Smith had devised a plan to open a new supply line. This plan depended upon the
terrain and the configuration of the river between Chattanooga and Bridgeport, the railhead
and base of supplies for the Federal Army.

On the night of October 24,Grant issuedorders for opening this line of supply. The plan
called for 1,800 men on pontoons to float down the river from Chattanooga at 3 o’clock in
the morning of October 27, while another force marched across Moccasin Point to support
the landing of the river-borne troops. The pontoon-borne troops struck the west bank at
Brown’s Ferry and drove off the Confederate Pickets. Other troops that marched across the
land came up to the east side of the ferry, joined the group, and constructed a pontoon
bridge.

Hooker advanced from Bridgeport coinciding with this action. He marched along
Raccoon Mountain into Lookout Valley, and there hemet aConfederate brigade. Hedrove
it back. Major General O. O. Howard’s Eleventh Corps marched to Brown’s Ferry, while
Brigadier General John W.Geary of the Twelfth Corps remained at Wauhatchie to guard the
road to Kelley’s Ferry.

This line of supply known as the “Cracker Line,” ran from Bridgeport to Kelley’s
Ferry by boat. From there it went by road to Brown’s Ferry, and crossing the pontoon
bridges there and at Moccasin Point, finally landing in Chattanooga. From Kelley’s Ferry to
Chattanooga, there were only eight miles of good road. In the river between Kelley’sFerry
and Brown’s Ferry there was a vortex or whirlpool called the “Suck.” To cross its rapids,
steamboats had to be pulled over by ropes from the shore. This condition made it
impossible for steamers to go all the way to Chattanooga from Bridgeport.

The trial trip for the Chattanooga (christened name of the boat built at Bridgeport)
was set for October the 29th, but that date found it unfinished. All that night the mechanics
worked on the pilot house and boiler deck while the boat and two barges were being loaded
for the trip. At 4 o’clock in the morningof October 30 she set out on the 45-mile journey,
against unfavorable winds. Excerpt from LeDuc’s letter dated November 1, 1863, says:

And in due time we tied the steamboat and barges safely to shore, (at Kelley’s Ferry) with 40,000
rations and 39,000 pounds of forage, within five miles of GeneralHooker’smen,who hadhalf abreakfast
ration left in haversacks; and within eight or tenmiles of Chattanooga,where four cakes of hardbread and
a quarter pound of pork made a three days’ ration. In Chattanooga there were but four boxes of hardbread
left in the Commissary warehouse on the morning of the 30th. About midnight I started an orderly to
teport to General Hooker the safe arrival of the rations. The orderly returned about sunrise, and reported
that the news went through the camps faster than his horse, and the soldiers were jubilant, and cheering
“The Cracker Line open. Full rations, boys! Three cheers for the Cracker Line,” asif we had won another
victory; and wehad.
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JOIUOSpaystiqeiseAjaiULjap‘aryoyeyNeAAJO9]33eqdy}UT“TaYOOH[RIDUSyYSIUyeY]That night General Hooker, in the battle of Wauhatchie, definitely established control
of the “Cracker Line” from Kelley’s Ferry to Chattanooga.

There was already one steamer at Chattanooga, upstream from the Confederate
artillery, on Lookout Mountain. Grant ordered Thomas to get this boat down to Bridgeport
at once, and before daylight on October 30 the steamer made the trip. This gave two
steamboats to run supplies from Bridgeport to the UnionArmy in Chattanooga.

The four divisions under Sherman,which Grant instructed to march to Chattanooga,
were at Bridgeport by November 15.Their route of travel was by boat to Memphis, then by
railroad and overland marches to Chattanooga. From Memphis, the troops followed closely
the Memphis & Charleston Railroad, which Sherman was ordered to repair ashe advanced.

On November 23rd the two armies came to grips in the Battle of Chattanooga,
Lookout Mountain and Missionary Ridge. Thomas had replaced Rosecrans, and by
reinforcements, he was now ready for the offensive. Hooker drove Bragg off Lookout
Mountain, but he soon concentrated his forces on Missionary Ridge. The heavy fog which
covered the mountain side most of the morning while Hooker and his men were in skirmish
gave the name of “The Battle above the Clouds” to this attack. On the 25th Thomas cleared
the Ridge to the crest and put Bragg to rout.
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After the Confederate defeat at Chattanooga, General Sherman started to prepare for
his drive for Atlanta. His success in this drive depended upona steady line of supply, and
this meant building storehouses at Bridgeport and Chattanooga, rebuilding the railroad from
Nashville to Bridgeport and on to Chattanooga, and having a fleet of steamers on the upper
Tennessee River.

After the sawmills at Bridgeport and Chattanooga started operation in August 1863,
they had been kept busy cutting lumber for crossties and the building of steamboats and
warehouses, Storehouses were under construction at Bridgeport in the early spring of 1864,
and by May 1, 1864, the following military storehouses had been completed:

Transfer storehouse 450 x 30 feet
Transfer storehouse 315 x 30 feet
2 storehouses 100 x 30 feet
2 storehouses 300 x 90 feet
Ordinance Storehouse 256 x 30 feet
Depot building 65 x 30 feet

Following the success of the U. S. S. Chattanooga, the boat-building yards at
Bridgeport had been enlarged and spurred to great activity. Captain Edwards started
building steamboats, gun-boats, and barges. The engines for the steamboats were sent from
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ay}‘v8nvwnyr14Dsy}‘PBoounisvYDBY}0}UOINPpeUl“POSTABWAqpukeol[IAsINOTLouisville and by May 1864, in addition to the Chattanooga, the Chickamauga, the
Lookout, and the Missionary had all been built and completed at Bridgeport. The Kingston
was sent partially built from Kingston, Tennessee, to Bridgeport where it was completed and
had its engines installed. In addition to these steamboats, fourteen barges and two
gun-boats,Gun-boatAand Gun-boat B, had been built at Bridgeport by May 1864.

During April 12-16, 1864, General John W. Geary, with 800 men, made a bold
reconnaisance down the Tennessee River from Bridgeport to Triana and back on a
steamboat with two scows in tow. He had four pieces of artillery on the deck of the boat.
His purpose in this expedition was to destroy ferry and other boats and to warn the citizens
of the penalty for permitting boat-building on their land. Geary was fired upon several times
by Confederate scouts.

The railroad from Bridgeport to Chattanooga was completely destroyed by the
Confederates in a desperate effort to cut o f f supplies to the UnionArmy. Only three of the
nine spans in the 1,500-foot truss bridge at Bridgeport were left, and the 800-foot trestle
bridge at RunningWater Creek, near Whiteside, Tennessee, was destroyed. The raiiroad had
to be completely rebuilt. The credit for its rebuilding goes to Colonel Daniel C.McCallum,
who was appointed by the War Department on February 11, 1864, asmilitary director and
superintendent of railroads in the UnitedStates.

Colonel McCallum went to work with 285 men, and two weeks later the track had
been replaced from Nashville to Chattanooga, and the bridges were ready for trains to cross.
Even then, supplies from Nashville came to Bridgeport and Chattanooga with no regularity.
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The U.S.S.Lookout was built in the fall o f 1863 at Br idgepor t .This steamer, along with the other
steamerson the UpperTennessee, supplemented the Federal supplies that came by rail from Nashville to
Bridgeport by runningsteady forage parties upand down the river. Cour tesy, National Archives

Unionstorehouses at the foot
A view of the truss bridge after its completion in 1864. Notice the wagon-way of Battery Hill in 1864,
below the railroad tracks on the bridge. Cou r t e s y, A . S . Barnes a n d C om p a n y Cou r t e s y, A . S . Barnes a n d C om p a n y
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steamers on the Upper Tennessee, supplemented the Federal supplies that came by rail from Nashville to
Bridgeport by r unn i n gsteady forage parties up anddown the river. Cou r t e s y, National Archives

s i e ‐ ‐ ‐ Unionstorehouses at the foot; .
A view of the truss bridge after its completion in 1864. Notice the wagon-way of Battery Hill in 1864,
below the railroad tracks on the bridge. Cour tesy, A, S, Barnes a n d C om p a n y Cou r t e s y, A. S. Barnes a n d Company
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was frequent. To make this rail supply line more efficient, Colonel McCallum relaid 115
miles of track toward Nashville. Supplies then arrived in Bridgeport and Chattanooga on
schedule.

After General Grant was placed in command of the Army of the West and ordered to
the relief of Chattanooga, hequickly discerned the strategic importance of Bridgeport to the
Union Army beseiged in Chattanooga. I ts location where rail and water routes converged
could be of vital value asa supply depot and means of transporting both supplies andmen;
the facilities of the river, if used for building ships for this purpose, could determine the
success of this military campaign.

So construction went forward with feverish haste, fulfilling its carefully planned
purpose of assuring a Union Victory at Chattanooga and on to the sea.
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U, S. S. Wauhatchie, Federalsteamboat built at Bridgeport in 1864.
Courtesy, National Archives

After military operations turned toward Richmond and the Peninsula, activity at
Bridgeport was less hectic, but the base was held intact until the end of the war.

The Southern Armies were quickly demobilized after General Lee’s surrender. Those
who returned to Bridgeport found the land denuded of every object of civilized life. Long
occupation by an army that had appropriated all the substance of the earth to its own needs
had left little more than the indestructible earth behind.

UNION SOLDIERS LIVE OFF THE LAND

In a petition to the Commissioner of Claims, Washington, D. C., Mr. James Williams,
who lived about one mile southwest of Bridgeport, listed the things the Union Army took
from his farm during 1862-1865. In this petition,Mr.Williams stated that he could not, nor
did not always get the information to enable him to know what particular division of the
Union Army his property was carried. Many times such information was unwillingly offered,
so many other times not offered at all. Very few vouchers were ever given or received for
the goods taken. Such things were taken from his farm as barley whisky, buckets, pork,
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tools, grindstones, lime, counter balances and weights, window glass, sheep, and hay. In
addition to these things taken were such things as bees and honey, potatoes, onions, all
poultry, turkey, pea fowls, and guinea fowls, household and kitchen furniture, books,
pictures, bookcases, trunks, and clothing, “‘in fact everything in the house and out of the
house” was taken. Rail fences were torn down and used asfirewood. The army did not take
only what was ripened and harvested, but they went into the fields taking not only the corn,
but also the stalks which were used for forage. The houses on the farm were torn down so
that the buildingmaterials could be used to build quarters for soldiers and shelters for stock.
With the ending of the war, Mr. Williams, like so many other people in and around
Bridgeport during the war, was left with nothing but his Jand.

What could not be taken by pillage and plunder was laid bare by continual skirmishing
between opposing forces. Stories handed down are rife with encounters of the women
against enemy soldiers on foragingvisits to their homes.

Feeling ran feverishly high in various directions. The black men not yet certain of their
new freedom exchanged suspicions with the returned veteran; certain hostilities were shared
with Union sympathizers who were comparatively numerous here, and the Confederate
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defectors to the Union were held in disdain. A l l of these differences, in the mind of the
war-weary Southerner, added up to the impoverished environment to which he had
returned.

THE GRADUAL COMEBACK
Gloomy as the prospect must have seemed, the spirit of man remained, and all the

ingredients of the earth were still present for man’s use in restoring his losses and creating a
better life. So he pulled the pieces together, pu t himself to the plow and started the job of
rebuilding. With unyielding effort the land was brought back to profitable production.
Increased farm products and the great need for consumer goods again stimulated
transportation by water and rail. Local trade led to the gradual appearance of various small
businesses. Growing railroad traffic required more employees who came in with their
families. As they bought their homes and settled here, the town began to grow.

Supply train shown crossing the truss bridge in 1864. Thisbridge was the last one that the
Federals built at Bridgeport before the end of the war. The Confederates destroyed the
bridge three times during the war. Courtesy, A. S. Barnes a n d Company, Inc.

Commander of this post at Bridgeport. Cour tesy, A.S,Barnes & Company, I n c ,
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Supply train shown crossing the truss bridge in 1864. This bridge was the last one that the
Federals built at Bridgeport before the end of the war. The Confederates destroyed the
bridge three times during the war. Cour tesy, A. S. Barnes and Company, Inc.

Federal fort atop Battery Hill as it appeared April 2, 1865. PrinceFelix Salm-Salmwas the
Commander of this post at Bridgeport. Courtesy, A,S,Barnes & Company, Inc.
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UTaIMJNOLSEpuejseqpueYONoy}urAIYsNPUIJOJaPIOSIWOUOdAdaISNJOXOP[OYLThe old exclusive economic order of industry in the North and East and agriculture in
the South, toward the turn of the century, was beginning to feel the winds of change. As
Southern factories began opening at the very fountainhead of their raw materials, Eastern
competitors, separated hundreds of miles from raw resources, were faced with losing the
race in competition. This prompted business promoters to make exploratory trips into the
South with a view toward the relocation of old plants or the building of new ones. Some
idea of the industrial potential of Bridgeport had spread during its occupationby the Union
Army and attention was drawn here.

Such a group of promoters came to Bridgeport during the latter part of 1887 for a
general survey of its possibilities. Their conclusion favored it for industrial development.
The men were impressed by its location in the midst of abundant raw resources, its cheap
and easy transportation, its mild climate and scenic charm, and by the friendly attitude of
the people toward the intrusion of Eastern Capitalists.

The situation seemed right for immediate planning. The basic forces of production
were present: abundant capital and reputable “know-how” on one side and a wide variety of
raw resources, rail and water transportation and friendly labor on the other.

The prospects reported by this group began to take shape immediately. The following
year Frank J. Kilpatrick and his brother, with a group of wealthy businessmen from New
York and Boston, came to Bridgeport to initiate plans of development.

With local participation the Bridgeport Land and Improvement Company was
incorporated in 1889 with offices in New York City and Bridgeport.

The first officers and directors of the Bridgeport Land and Improvement Company
were:

OFFICERS
David Bonner, President
Arthur B. Claflin, First Vice President
Jesse E. Brown, Second Vice President
Eugene A. Hoffman, Jr., Secretary and Treasurer

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
George N. Messiter J. V. V. Olcott
A. L. Soulard R. C. Johnson

E. J. Nellis
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GENERAL MANAGER
Frank J. Kilpatrick

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
David Bonner William M. V. Hoffman
Arthur B. Claflin Edward Kilpatrick
Jesse E. Brown George M. Hahn

A_ 1900 photograph of Frank J. Eugene A. Hoffman, Jr. Edward J. Nellis
Kilpatrick. Mr. Kilpatrick, New J. Van Vechten Olcott John H.Gunter
‘ork investor, was the builder o! cthe Kilpatrick Residence and Hamilton Busbey J.W. Hudson

Clubhouse, and Kilpatrick Row on Andrew L. Soulard R.C. Johnson
Hudson Avenue; he was the general James A. Roberts William Hamlin
manager of the Bridgeport Land George N. Messiter S. H. Chisholmprovemel mpany, al . S a n eBridgeport’s first mayor in 1891. A. Newbold Morris David Giles

Cou r t e s y, Miss Ida McFar lane H. N. Longstreet

Bridgeport was laid out within broad limits to accommodate the magnitude of expected
growth. Streets were opened and stretches of native flagstone sidewalks were put down
along the most highly frequented streets. Awater system was installed in 1891. The city’s
water supply was provided by a pipeline from a spring on Summerhouse Mountain and was
supplemented during the summer months by a pumping station near the river, A
750,000-gallon steel reservoir was built below the spring giving water pressure of 110
pounds per cubic inch in the business district.

Fire insurance was comparatively low in the 1890’s because the city was well equipped
with a fire department and double fire-plugs along its streets. The water pressure from these
plugs was sufficient to throw a stream of water over the highest building.

A sewer system was planned. A terra cotta works in Bridgeport made the pipe and the
system was completed in 1892. The city expended $60,000 on the grading of the roads and
installation of the sewer system.

The Sweeny building was erected during this active building period. It was built of
locally manufactured bricks and consisted of a line of connected but separate units each
with a basement. The first floors were appropriate for stores, and the second floor was built
for apartments. This building lay at a right angle from Alabama Avenue, the main
thoroughfare.

As this building program proceeded, the river front was a place of unrivalled activity as
industry was lining the banks.

The Chattanooga Pipe Works started production in 1890. It employed 300 men and
shipped its products as far west as California and eastward to Connecticut. This industry
made the pipe that was used in Bridgeport’s water system. O. A. Giles, president of the
Chattanooga PipeWorks, was responsible for the installation of the Bridgeport Water Works.
This plant made all sizes of water and gas pipes up to 40 inches in diameter.

In 1890 the American Handle Company built a plant in Bridgeport, and in 1891 it
employed 30 workers. It won an award for excellence at the Chicago World’s Fair in 1893.
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The American Handle Company was established in 1890. It manufactured hickory handles
of all kinds, porch columns, newels, and banisters. The company received first award at the
World’s Fair at Chicago in 1893. In 1897 this company leased its facilities to NixonHandle
Company. Courtesy, M r , Perry Morgan

This planingmillwas in productionby 1890.It probably started production muchearlier.
Courtesy, Mr. Perry Morgan

The American Handle Company was established in 1890. It manufactured hickory handles
of all kinds, porch columns, newels, and banisters. The company receivedfirst award at the
World’s Fair at Chicago in 1893. In 1897 this company leased its facilities to Nixon Handle
Company. Courtesy, Mr. Perry Mo r g an

This planingmillwas in production by 1890.It probably started productionmuch earlier,
Courtesy, M r , Perry Morgan
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all kinds of temperance drinks, was operating with H. J. Renker as lessee.
The Bridgeport Electric and Ice Company was probably in production by 1891. It was

the first ice plant between Chattanooga and Huntsville. A. L. Soulard was president, E. J.
Nellis was treasurer, and J. W. Hudson was manager of the company. Later this company

‘ was bought by the Mountain Spring Ice Company,
In 1891 the Bridgeport Land and Improvement Company advertised the following:

“The Steel Car Works, where 500 men will find employment, is underway and will start up
as soon as the machinery is in place. This great concern will construct steel passenger, postal
and freight cars, anovelty which by reason of its exemption from the disastrous fires which
often add to the horrors of railway wrecks, must commend itself to the railroad world and
the general public.”

z The Steel Car Works was built about one and a half miles from the depot, down the
Jasper branch railroad line. And it was equipped for work with track laid and connected

: 4 This is a drawing of the Steel Car Works, Bridgeport, asit appeared after completion in 1891, The foundation and walls are still
z . standing today about two miles down the Jasper Branchrailroad line. Cou r t e s y, M r . Pe r r y Mo r g a n
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with the railroad, but for some reason work was never started. The buildings were probably
moved to another location.

W. A. Willingham moved to Bridgeport in 1892 and built the Willingham
Manufacturing Company which manufactured furniture. He built a handsome residence in
front of the present Methodist parsonage where his family lived until decline in profits drove
him away.

The Basket and Crate Factory was owned by Dietzen Brothers. In February 1893 it
had a payroll of 175. Since employment here was seasonal, the number of employees
fluctuated. After February 1893,employment reached 225 men, women and children.

The Baxter Nail Factory was the first wire nail factory in the South. It started
production in March of 1893, and was owned and operated by T. T. Baxter. The factory
was unable to compete with other wire nail factories after the Panic of 1893, and it
therefore closed in the fall of that year. Mr. Baxter then formed the Bridgeport Milling
Company.

The Gunter Stove Works, later known as the Bridgeport Stove Works, started
operations in 1890. Before many years it had an extensive trade throughout the South and
asfar west asCalifornia. The plant was sold in 1910 to J. C. Jacobs and was placed under
the management of E. P. Jacobs. The name was then changed to Jacobs Manufacturing
Company, and the business gradually developed into one of widespread dimensions.

Basket Factory as it appeared in 1900. courtesy, mrs. N e r o A t k i n s
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had a payroll of 175. Since employment here was seasonal, the number of employees
fluctuated. After February 1893, employment reached 225 men, women and children.

The Baxter Nail Factory was the first wire nail factory in the South. It started
production in March of 1893, and was owned and operated by T. T. Baxter. The factory
was unable to compete with other wire nail factories after the Panic of 1893, and it
therefore closed in the fall of that year. Mr. Baxter then formed the Bridgeport Milling
Company.

The Gunter Stove Works, later known as the Bridgeport Stove Works, started
Operations in 1890. Before many years it had an extensive trade throughout the South and
asfar west asCalifornia. The plant was sold in 1910 to J. C. Jacobs and was placed under
the management of E. P. Jacobs. The name was then changed to Jacobs Manufacturing
Company, and the business gradually developed into one of widespread dimensions.

Basket Factory as it appeared in 1900. courtesy, Mrs. N e r o A t k i n s
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C. & St. L. Railway between Nashville and Chattanooga. In connection with the Southern
Railroad, traffic lines were open to all parts of the country. Added to this was the local
advantage of being the only outlet for the shipments over the Jasper Branch railroad. In
1891, 18 passenger trains were cleared through the Bridgeport depot daily, and by 1900
there were 28.

The Bridgeport Stove Works was established in 1890 by John H. Gunter.
The stove works had anextensive trade throughout the South and West. In
1910 the stove works was sold and became known as the Jacobs
Manufacturing Co. with Mr.E. P. Jacobs, Sr.,asmanager.

Cour tesy, M r s , N e r o A t k i n s

, : 2 <R ; i es
wBE Seo P P P O E h lLia e e T u h h
SUUUAT {HE RPL SR ae ce
B E S LE RRS TREES, }

F Nine | A ee *p a  s a t
The R. C. Gunter residence was built several years after the Civil War. This house was built
near the railroad bridge.Photographtaken in 1891. C o u r t e s y, M r . Perry Morgan
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Steamer R. C Gunter owned and operated by the Gunter brothers ran regular trips up and down the
Tennessee River, and also made frequent trips up and down the Mississippi and Ohio R ive rsin the 1880’s
and 1890's, Itscapacity was ratedas565 tons.

Cour tesy, Mrs . Flossie Carmichael

Steamer NV. B. Forrest was owned and operated by the Gunter brothers, This Picturewas taken in the early
1890's.Notice the slabs of meat hanging from themain deck. Courtesy, Mrs , Flossie Carmichael i

Steamer R. C Gunter owned and operated by the Gunter brothers ran regular trips up and down the
Tennessee River, and also made frequent trips up and down the Mississippi and Ohio Rivers in the 1880's
and 1890's, Its capacity was ratedas565 tons.

Cou r t e s y, Mrs. Flossie Carmichael

Steamer NV. B. Forrest was owned and operated by the Gunter brothers,This picture was taken in the early
1890's.Notice the slabs of meat hanging from the main deck. Courtesy, Mrs. Flossie Carmichael
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This letter written on Packet Line stationery in 1890, to the IndianTerritory, is reminiscent of a half
century of slowbut sure progress.

61



R. C.Gunter John H. Gunter
These two brothers were involved the greater part of their lives in the
development of this area, and they directed their various business interests to
that end .

During this time of rapid freight movement, the Gunter steamboat lines, which had
started operation in 1886,expanded service to meet the increasing needs for handling heavy
freight. The three Gunter brothers, W. M., R. C. and John H. owned and operateda fleet of
steamboats from Decatur, Alabama, to Chattanooga. Sometime laterW. M. sold his interest
to his brothers and went to Texas where he invested in land. The largest of these boats, the
R. C. Gunter, Wyeth City, and N. B. Forrest had capacities of 565, 255, and 134 tons
respectively.These were supplemented by smaller craft.

A grain elevator was completed by 1892 to facilitate the transfer of river freight to rail
cars. Another grain elevator was built about 1907 but burned several years later.

On February 18, 1891, Bridgeport was incorporated under the laws of the State of
Alabama, and on March 24, 1891, a city election was held with R. E. Alley, Frank J.
Kilpatrick and John H. Gunter in charge. A mayor and four aldermen were elected for a
term of two years, Frank J. Kilpatrick was elected mayor, and R. B. McBryde, city clerk.

To accelerate business, the First National Bank was opened in 1890with R. A. Jones,
President, and Thomas R. Patterson, cashier.

In 1893 this bank hada capital stock of $50,000 and surplus of $4,000. Officers at this
time were: Dr. E, L. Lee, President; R. C. Gunter, Vice President; Thomas R. Patterson,
Cashier. Directors were Dr. E. L. Lee, R. A. Jones, R. C. Gunter, R. A. McFarlane, George
W. Messiter, John H. Gunter and J. C. Morgenthau.

In 1891 the following statement was given wide circulation:
The Bridgeport Land and Improvement Company is now ready to negotiate with firms and

corporations for the establishment of industrial works at this point. The early completion of extensive
works will augment the considerable population already gathered here, and merchants who wish to open
stores will find a good patronage assured. Bridgeport is not atransient speculation; it isnot anexperiment
of uncertain solution. It is the nucleus, at present, of a populous, busy, intelligent city, the product of an
era of progress, in the creation of which those who are early in the field will always have occasion to be
proud. The gentlemen who are now engaged in this company are nearly all resident here,and are building
tasteful homes for permanent occupation. They havenot been identifiedwith any former enterprises in the
South, nor is there any “boom” whatever at Bridgeport. Real estate operators are not permitted to
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they are to beutilized for the location of buildingof a substantial character within a reasonable period.
The Alabama College of Dental Surgery was opened for students about 1890.This was

the first one of its kind in Alabama, and was said to have been sustained by more financial
help than any college of its kind in the country.

The president of this college was a Mr. Holmes. Drs. W. K. Spiller and J. S. Hill were
the deans, and Dr. Samuel Lutz Zurmhley was professor of Anatomy and Physiology.

Dr. Spiller was a general practitioner in Bridgeport for many years.
Dr. Zurmhley moved his family to Bridgeport in 1900, and he also did local practice

for many years.
Dr. J. S. Hi l l was born in Courtland, Alabama, and educated at Barton Academy in

Mobile and at St. Louis College of Physicians and Surgeons where he graduated in medicine
in 1886. He practiced his profession in Courtland unt i l 1888. From there he went to
Huntsville where he practiced until March 1892 when hewas elected dean of the Alabama
College of Dental Surgery at Bridgeport.

The first commencement of the Alabama College of Dental Surgery was on Friday,
February 24, 1893. President of the graduating class was S.W. Allen; Vice President was H.
C. Stephens, and secretary was MissA. Irene Yokum who was also valedictorian.

The dental college moved from Bridgeport shortly after 1900.
A second city election, held in 1893, reelected Frank J. Kilpatrick asMayor, with the

following aldermen: R. A. Jones, Dr. E. L. Lee, C. P. Shook andO. W.Whitcher.
This was a period of explosive population and full employment and construction

moved rapidly in two directions: toward industry and toward the housing of an alien tide of
transient residents. Hotel accommodations became urgent with the rapid influx of people.

Three brick yards were opened and additional sawmills were erected to maintain a
steady flow of buildingmaterials.

Cou r t e s y, Miss Dessie Ro th



The Hudson Hotel as it appeared about 1912. This hotel had a restaurant, and in the days of the silent
movies, i t hada theatre. The hotel burnedDecember 26, 1931, Cour tesy, Mrs. Dessie Roth

The J. W. Hudson residence was built on Battery Hill about 1891.Notice that it conforms
to the general type of modifiedVictorian architecture that prevailed in Bridgeport at that
time. The house burnedFriday morning,February 3 , 1893. Cou r t e s y, M r. Perry Morgan

The Hudson Hotel as it appeared about 1912. This hotel had a restaurant, and in the days of the silent
movies, i t hada theatre. The hotelburnedDecember 26, 1931. Cour tesy, Mrs. Dessie Ro th

The J. W. Hudson residencewas built on Battery Hill about 1891.Notice that it conforms
to the general type of modifiedVictorian architecture that prevailed in Bridgeport at that
time. The house burnedFridaymorning,February 3 , 1893. Cou r t esy, Mr. Perry Morgan
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In the period 1890-1893, downtown Bridgeport was taking on the appearance of a
metropolitan center, the river front was being lined with manufacturing plants and
residential requirements were taking over choice property.

Among the principal downtown buildings these were ready for use by 1893.
The Hudson Hotel, built in 1891, was a large brick structure provided with rooms for

stores on the first floor, and offices, halls and lodge rooms on the second and third floors.
The massive triangular, three-story Whitcher building, built in 1890 by Mr. O. W.

Whitcher, was adaptable to various kinds of business. The basement served for storage space,
the first floor for stores, second floor for offices, and the third for clubrooms. The
Ala-Ga-Tenn Club, comprised of active businessmen of the tri-state area, Alabama, Georgia,
and Tennessee, maintained a clubroom here.

The Aldhous bu i l d i ng was dedicated February 3, 1893. It was built by Frederick
Aldhous of New York. This imposing, native sandstone building of four stories was modeled
after the triangular architecture of the Flatiron Building in New York City. The interior was
finished with native-grown wood paneling. The basement was used for a bowling alley, the
ground floor for a bank and stores, the second and third floors for apartments, offices, and
lodge rooms. The fourth floor was reserved for the Masonic Hall. It was on the fourth floor
that many balls were held during the “Gay Nineties.”

Construction of the large and costly Hoffman House was begun in March 1891. This
hotel was built by the Reverend Dr. Charles F. Hoffman of New York, owner of the
Hoffman House in New York City. It was built of brick and trimmed with stone. The



The Aldhous Building was dedicated February 3, 1893. Its builder was Fredrick Aldhous, Abowling
alley was located in the basement; the First National Bank, Bridgeport’sfirst bank,occupied part of the
ground floor. Apartments were on the second and third floors,and on the fourth floor was the Masonic
Hall. The stone for the building came from the Bonner Stone Company that had quarries at Bridgeport
and Pikeville,Tennessee. Cour tesy, Mrs. Nero Atk ins

The Aldhous Building bumed early Saturday morning,
January 23, 1937. Trapped on the top floors, oneperson
was killed and five others received burns and injuries in
jumping to safety. The loss was estimated at $200,000.
Alabama Avenue was closed to traffic Saturday and
Sunday. The vault of the American National Bank was
reached Saturday aftemmoon, where scorched and
water-soaked records were recovered, and the money, safe The Aldhous Building,Saturday morning,
in the vault, was lifted out and moved to safety. Dorothy January 23, 1937, after the fire. The
Toliver, who jumped from a third-story window onto the building was rebuilt to one story.
pavement below, died in a Scottsboro hospital Saturday
night. Cour tesy, M r . a n d Mrs. F. W. Carr, J r. Cour tesy, Mr. a n d Mrs. F. W. Carr, Jr.

BROT ENC CHAT T A N D o h

The Aldhous Building was dedicated February 3, 1893. Its builder was Fredrick Aldhous. A bowling
alley was located in the basement; the First NationalBank,Bridgeport’sfirst bank,occupied part of the
ground floor. Apartments were on the second and third floors,and on the fourth floor was the Masonic
Hall. The stone for the building came from the Bonner Stone Company that had quarries at Bridgeport
andPikeville,Tennessee. Cour tesy, Mrs. Nero Atk ins

The Aldhous Building bumed early Saturday morning,
January 23, 1937. Trapped on the top floors, one person
was killed and five others received burns and injuries in
jumping to safety. The loss was estimated at $200,000.
Alabama Avenue was closed to traffic Saturday and
Sunday. The vault of the American National Bank was
reached Saturday afternoon, where scorched and
water-soaked records were recovered, and the money, safe The Aldhous Building,Saturday morning,
in the vault, was lifted out and moved to safety. Dorothy January 23, 1937, after the fire. The
Toliver, who jumped from a third-story window onto the building was rebuilt to one story.
pavement below, died in a Scottsboro hospital Saturday
night. Cour tesy, Mr. a n d Mrs. F. W. Carr, J r. Cour tesy, Mr. and Mrs. F. W. Carr, Jr.
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Hoffman House when finished would “‘. . .not only be completed and furnished in the most
substantial manner, but will be kept as regards its menu, fully up to the metropolitan
standards of excellence” The hotel was equipped with electric lights, steam heat, baths, and
large sample rooms. This building also conformed to the triangular plan of architecture and
was fitted into the corner at the convergence of Hudson and Alabama Avenues.

In 1888 Frank J. Kilpatrick built the beautiful Kilpatrick Residence and Clubhouse at
the Point on Battery Hill, overlooking the Tennessee River, from the heights which were
fortified during the Civil War. This majestic view of the river, the mountains, and the valley
was made visible to the public by the construction of a scenic road around Battery Hill. The
building was erected to serve jointly asahotel and aclubhouse. Its enthusiastic builder was
keenly aware of what was required to attract guests and make them comfortable during
their visit to the town. Most elegant entertaining was carried on here, for capitalists and
celebrated guests who visited Bridgeport.

The first floor of the 40-room, three-story, frame building contained a large ballroom,
reception and reading rooms, office, dining room and kitchen.The guest rooms were on the
second and third floors. The interior walls were finished with gum, oak, walnut, and maple
paneling. The building was heatedby steam. One of the most popular areas of the hotel was
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The Kilpatrick Residenceand Club House was a three-story building of frame construction and contained forty rooms.The building
was built about 1890, The first floor of the building contained a large ballroom, dining room, reading room, and kitchen. On the
second and third floors were the guest rooms. The interior walls of the building were furnished with native oak, walnut, gum, and
maple paneling. The building was owned by Mr. Frank J. Kilpatrick and was torn down shortly after 1920. Steel Car Works in
background, Courtesy, Mr. Pe r r y Mo r g an

the observatory above the third floor from which there was an extraordinary view of the
river valley and the adjacent mountain ranges.

Housing was provided for horses, tally-hoes and phaetons which were the mode of
travel before the automobile.

At the foot of the hill along the river’s edge, boating docks were constructed for
private boats which plied up and down the river daily.

In 1890 R. A, Jones built a three-story frame hotel for the general flow of passenger
traffic on the railways. This was the Cottage Inn, and it was visible from the N. C,& St. L.

The Cottage Innwas built in 1890 by Mr. R. A. Jones, It was locateddirectly across from the
oldN. C.and St. L. Depot.The buildingwas torn down about 1925.

The Kilpatrick Residence and Club House was a three-story building of frame construction and contained forty rooms.The building
was built about 1890. The first floor of the building containeda large ballroom, dining room, reading room, and kitchen. On the
second and third floors were the guest rooms. The interior walls of the building were furnished with native oak, walnut, gum, and
maple paneling. The building was owned by Mr. Frank J. Kilpatrick and was torn down shortly after 1920. Steel Car Works in
background. Cour tesy, Mr. Perry Mo r g an
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Housing was provided for horses, tally-hoes and phaetons which were the mode of
travel before the automobile.

At the foot of the hil l along the river’s edge, boating docks were constructed for
private boats which plied up and down the river daily.

In 1890 R. A, Jones built a three-story frame hotel for the general flow of passenger
traffic on the railways, This was the Cottage Inn, and it was visible from the N. C. & St. L.

The Cottage Inn was built in 1890 by Mr. R. A. Jones, It was locateddirectly across from the
oldN. C,and St. L. Depot.The buildingwas torn down about 1925.
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Olcott Avenue, Battery Hill,about 1905
Cou r t e s y, M r . Pe r r y Morgan

depot, a distance of only a few yards across the tracks. A l l space was regularly occupied
during the high tide of activity. J.W. C. Critchell was general manager of the inn during this
period.

The demand for living quarters was beingmet simultaneously with other construction.
Olcott Avenue, the scenic street around both sides of Battery Hill, was soon lined with

handsome residenceswith full basements, two main floors and huge attics.
O. W. Whitcher, one of the heavy investors, built his home on the west side of this

drive. It consisted of ahandsome Stanford White residence and carriage-house complex. The
latter burned, but the residence is still astately reminder of that historic period.

The Bridgeport News was organized in 1890 by W. W. Douglas and E. L. C. Ward. The
paper was issued by the Bridgeport PublishingCompany and edited by Mr. E. L. C.Ward. In

This home of John H. Gunter, on Olcott Avenue, Battery Hill, was This house, built by O. W. Whitcher of
built in the 1890’s and burned May 25, 1919, Boston, was completed in June 1892. The

home and carriage house complex was
designed by StanfordWhite of NewYork.



An 1891 view of the N. C. & St. L. Depot at Bridgeport.There were 18 passenger trains
that arrived daily in that year. The buildingwas torn down in the summer of 1966.

Cou r t e s y, M r . Perry Mo r g a n

1891 the News was a four-page weekly that was issued every Thursday. George R. Van
Arsdale owned and edited the paper for several years; then C. D. Cargile, once owner of the
Stevenson Chronicle, was editor of the Bridgeport News in 1915. The paper was later known
as the Bridgeport News-Herald. R. C. Hornbeak was editor and manager for several years,
and F. W. Carr, Sr., was owner and publisher. The paper was later edited by Miss Eleanor
Whitcher unti l its last publication in the early 1940s.

Church building, but not church services, moved more slowly than business and
residence plans. Ample auditorium space in several of the large new buildings plus the
limited capacity of existing small churches, allowed for regular worship until separate
buildings could be provided. :

Social life was varied, active and gay. Ample space had been included in the downtown
buildings for dances, club meetings and lectures, some of which occurred almost nightly. i
The hotels were prepared to serve the most lavish banquets. Clubs reserved permanent

An 1891 view of the N. C. &St. L. Depot at Bridgeport.There were 18passenger trains
that arrived daily in that year. The buildingwas torn down in the summer of 1966.

Cou r t esy, Mr. Pe r r y Mo rgan

1891 the News was a four-page weekly that was issued every Thursday. George R. Van
Arsdale owned and edited the paper for several years; then C. D. Cargile, once owner of the
Stevenson Chronicle, was editor of the Bridgeport News in 1915. The paper was later known
as the Bridgeport News-Herald. R. C. Hornbeak was editor and manager for several years,
and F. W. Carr, Sr., was owner and publisher. The paper was later edited by Miss Eleanor
Whitcher unti l its last publication in the early 1940’s.

Church building, but not church services, moved more slowly than business and
residence plans. Ample auditorium space in several of the large new buildings plus the
limited capacity of existing small churches, allowed for regular worship until separate |
buildings could be provided. ia

Social life was varied, active and gay. Ample space had been included in the downtown
buildings for dances, club meetings and lectures, some of which occurred almost nightly. 4
The hotels were prepared to serve the most lavish banquets. Clubs reserved permanent {

The Peyton Building was built about 1893. The first floor contained six stores; the secondand third floors
were for apartments, This buildingwas built on HudsonAvenue facing the railroad.

Cou r t e s y, Mrs. Nero A t k i n s
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yoaytyoueAqpausisap‘anueayuospnyuosasnoyxadnpjy3IeayThe eight duplex houses on Hudson Avenue, designed by architect
Stanford White, in Victorian Style,were completed in 1896.They were
built by Frank J. Kilpatrick.

quarters for their own meetings and entertainment. The Hunter’s Club met in the Hoffman
House. This club was made up of active sportsmen, and one of their favorite pastimes was
hunting deer in the mountains around Bridgeport. Water sports were highly popular
including boating, swimming, picknicking, and fishing.

The Ala-Ga-Tenn Club, an organization of active businessmen,held regular meetings in
their club room in the Whitcher Building.

In the midst of this gigantic undertaking a financial alarm was sounded. President
Cleveland had entered his second administration in 1893 with an ill-fated treasury problem.
The high tariff of McKinley’s administration had cut down the inflow of gold from exports



while draining the country of gold for imports; President Harrison’s heavy pension bi l l had
added another drain on the gold supply, and the Sherman Silver Purchase Act requiring the
treasury to purchase 4,500,000 ounces of silver each month at market price and to pay for
it in notes redeemable in gold, constituted an endless drain on the U. S.Treasury. The total
effect was a threatened depletion of the country’s gold supply.

People, fearing a panic, rushed in to exchange their notes for gold and the depression
was on. Eastern financial groups feared that the country might be pushed o f f the gold
standard by cheap silver. This forced a tightening of money and curtailed further spending.

| This was the plight of the Bridgeport promoters. Soasthe depression became evident, work
. slowed to a stop and many of the investors returned to the East to protect their interests

there.
) The First National Bank was closed to business after the depression forced northern
) businessmen home.
| Mr. Frank J. Kilpatrick resigned as mayor on December 2, 1893, and left for New
| York. He later returned to Bridgeport and built eight duplex houses, designed by Stanford
) White, on Hudson Avenue. These houses were completed in 1896. He started building his
) home on Battery Hill, but this was far from completion when he finally left Bridgeport in
| 1907. The framework was covered and boarded up for protection against the weather until
) his possible return.
| Bridgeport development never again seemed practicable to these New England
| businessmen, so disposal of their property for whatever it would bring proceeded. The

|
)

dream had been too big. There was no local demand for it, so manyoft h e businesses closed
out with little better than total loss.

With a few exceptions every businessman returned to his home, chiefly in New York,
and Bridgeport felt the trembling effect of economic collapse.

while draining the country of gold for imports; President Harrison’s heavy pension bill had
added another drain on the gold supply, and the Sherman Silver PurchaseAct requiring the
treasury to purchase 4,500,000 ounces of silver each month at market price and to pay for
it in notes redeemable in gold, constituted an endless drain on the U. S.Treasury. The total
effect was a threatened depletion of the country’s gold supply.

People, fearing a panic, rushed in to exchange their notes for gold and the depression
was on. Eastern financial groups feared that the country might be pushed o f f the gold
standard by cheap silver. This forced a tightening of money and curtailed further spending.
This was the plight of the Bridgeport promoters. Soasthe depression became evident, work
slowed to a stop and many of the investors returned to the East to protect their interests
there.

The First National Bank was closed to business after the depression forced northern
businessmen home.

Mr. Frank J. Kilpatrick resigned as mayor on December 2, 1893, and left for New
York. He later returned to Bridgeport and built eight duplex houses, designed by Stanford
White, on Hudson Avenue. These houses were completed in 1896. He started building his
home on Battery Hill, but this was far from completion when he finally left Bridgeport in
1907. The framework was covered and boarded up for protection against the weather until
his possible return.

Bridgeport development never again seemed practicable to these New England
businessmen, so disposal of their property for whatever it would bring proceeded. The
dream had been too big. There was no local demand for i t , so many of the businesses closed
out with little better than total loss.

With a few exceptions every businessman returned to his home, chiefly in New York,
and Bridgeport felt the trembling effect of economic collapse,

HoffmanHouse, 1893,Manager,J. M. Adams The Reverend Dr. Charles Frederick Hoffman, the great
Episcopal philanthropist, who built the magnificant .
HoffmanHouse in Bridgeport in 1891. '
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The Changed Economy

The formidable buildings stood asmemorials to a glorious and magnificent interlude.
Some were left closed, others almost empty, and still others were torn down and moved
away.

The elegant Hoffman House with all its equipment was offered to the University of the
South for a grammar school at Bridgeport. The University expressed disapproval of such a
project but said that the material and furniture of the hotel might be used in building a
dormitory at Sewanee. Reverend Dr. Hoffman died March 4, 1897, but in his dying
moments requested his son to carry out his wishes in building adormitory at Sewanee.

After some delay because of an injunction filed by the Bridgeport Land and
Improvement Company, the Hoffman House was dismantled in the early part of 1898 and
loaded on 82 train cars for transport to Sewanee where most of the material was used in
building a dormitory. This elegant 5-story 105-foot dormitory, HoffmanMemorial Hall,was
dedicated Thursday, May 11, 1899. It burned to the ground April 5, 1919.

With a loss of adequate fire equipment and protection in Bridgeport, one fine home
after another went up in flames, astime passed, leaving a snaggy space in lines of beautiful
residences.

The town of Bridgeport was again catapulted into a change. As it had flexed its muscles
to climb the rising tide of growth in the past, it n ow had to use this strength to avoid
disaster from the undertow of financial withdrawal. But this was not the first look at reality.
Twice before these people, who had hacked their community out of the wilderness and then
restored it from the ravages of war, had faced raw nature with a determined spirit and had
won. So after the first shock, an assessment of resources revealed that all the natural assets
that had attracted men from the earliest times, plus a residue of know-how, facilities and
culture left by the wealthy promoters, were still here, and, with renewed effort, they started
on a scale that could be supported by the local economy.

New industry was sought for the town, and it was found on a smaller scale for a few
years. By 1900 there were such industries asthe U. S.Cast Iron Pipe and Foundry Company
which had a capacity of 150 tons daily; Nixon Handle Company which had an extensive
export business; Bridgeport Woodenware Company which manufactured a full line of
baskets, fruit packages, and butter dishes; and the Bridgeport Stove Works which was
founded by the Gunters in 1890.

The Bridgeport Board of Trade advertised the following in 1900:
Life in Bridgeport has its sunny side, for means of recreation are abundant. Horseback riding is

especially enjoyable, and there are innumerable shady roads in valley and over mountain to afford endless
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Frank J. Kilpatrick was in the midst of
building this large three-story home,
designed by Stanford White, when he was
finally forced to return to New York City.
Only the framing was completed; and in
order to protect it from the weather, it was
covered and boarded up with rough lumber
during his absence. It turned out that this
absence was for the rest of his life, so the
house remained in this state for almost 15
years. About 1913J. W. Jones,owner of the
Bridgeport Lumber Yard, purchased the
unfinished house and completed i t . This
complex arrangement included a carriage
house and servants’ quarters and a
smokehouse of co-ordinatingarchitecture.

variety of scene to add to the interest in the sport. The mountains abound in game and offermany
charming bits of scenery to tempt the lover of Nature. Cascades, rocky glens and weird caverns lend
objectives for excursion parties, Steamboat excursions on the Tennessee will disclose some of the most
impressive sights to be found onany Americanwaterway.The Flora of the country is peculiarly diversified
and attractive. No regular boating club has been formed yet, although it is hard to understand why the
straight, broad course of the river here should no t tempt the athletes of aquatic sports. All about is historic
ground. Chickamauga,Mission Ridge and LookoutMountainare within anhour’s ride by rail.

In 1907 the Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company installed an exchange,
telephone lines, and telephones in Bridgeport. The same year the stock of the Bridgeport
Realty and Trust Company was purchased by a St. Louis Syndicate. The company was
reorganized with the following personnel: Rudolph Shellhammer, President; Frank
Dameron, Vice President and Manager; Charles H. Currens, Second Vice President and
Financial Agent, and C. J. Ward, Secretary. Offices were to bemaintained in St. Louis,but
Mr. Dameron was to have charge of offices in Bridgeport.

Interviews by Bridgeport News officials of DeLoachMillManufacturingCompany, Lea
Brothers, the Basket Factory, Planing Mill, Modern Canner Company,N. C. &St. L. freight
agent, all expressed an increase in business that year and much optimism for the future.

In 1908 the First State Bank was organized with Luke R. Lea aspresident andWyeth
Rorex ascashier.

The L. H. Hughes store which was opened as a partnership business between L. H.
Hughes and J. E. Johnson in 1904 was by 1908 the private enterprise of Mr. Hughes who
started dealing in general merchandise, fertilizers and farm implements. It reported
increasing business at this time.

In 1910 J. C. Jacobs BankingCompany was opened in the Aldhous Buildingwith F. P.
Jacobs aspresident and J. A. Sentell ascashier.

J. W. Jones came to Bridgeport and set up a sawmill in 1912. Oneofh i s projects was
the completion of the Kilpatrick home which had been boarded up when Mr. Kilpatrick
made his final return to New York. The residence was completed about 1918, and shortly
afterward Mr. Jones moved to Florida, after selling both sawmill and residence to E. P.
Jacobs.
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charming bits of scenery to tempt the lover of Nature. Cascades, rocky glens and weird caverns lend
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impressive sights to be found on any American waterway. The Flora of the country is peculiarly diversified
and attractive. No regular boating club has been formed yet, although it is hard to understand why the
straight, broad course of the river here should not tempt the athletes of aquatic sports. Al l about is historic
ground. Chickamauga,MissionRidge and Lookout Mountain are within anhour’s ride by rail.

In 1907 the Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company installed an exchange,
telephone lines, and telephones in Bridgeport. The same year the stock of the Bridgeport
Realty and Trust Company was purchased by a St. Louis Syndicate. The company was
Teorganized with the following personnel: Rudolph Shellhammer, President; Frank
Dameron, Vice President and Manager; Charles H. Currens, Second Vice President and
Financial Agent, and C. J. Ward, Secretary. Offices were to bemaintained in St. Louis, but
Mr. Dameron was to have charge of offices in Bridgeport.

Interviews by Bridgeport News officials of DeLoachMillManufacturingCompany, Lea
Brothers, the Basket Factory, Planing Mill, Modern Canner Company, N.C. & St. L. freight
agent, all expressed an increase in business that year and much optimism for the future.

In 1908 the First State Bank was organized with Luke R. Lea aspresident andWyeth
Rorex ascashier.

The L. H. Hughes store which was opened as a partnership business between L. H.
Hughes and J. E. Johnson in 1904 was by 1908 the private enterprise of Mr. Hughes who
started dealing in general merchandise, fertilizers and farm implements. It reported
increasing business at this time.

In 1910 J. C. Jacobs BankingCompany was opened in the Aldhous Buildingwith F. P.
Jacobs aspresident and J. A. Sentell ascashier.

J. W. Jones came to Bridgeport and set up a sawmill in 1912. One of his projects was
the completion of the Kilpatrick home which had been boarded up when Mr. Kilpatrick
made his final return to New York. The residence was completed about 1918, and shortly
afterward Mr. Jones moved to Florida, after selling both sawmill and residence to E. P.
Jacobs.
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Cou r t e s y, Miss Eve l y n Jones the left and the Aldhous Building i s o n the right.
Cou r t e s y, Miss E v e l y n Jones

In 1914 the Bridgeport News advertised the following: “ I n the manufacturing line we
have the Ketner Mill, producinga fine line of cereal products; the Hickory Spoke Works; J.
W. Jones Lumber Company, producers of rough and dressed lumber; Bridgeport Broom
Works; the E. P. Jacobs ManufacturingCompany, turning out a complete line of stoves, and
the DeLoach Mill Manufacturing Company, manufacturers of the celebrated DeLoach
Sawmill.”

J. Luther Troxell, real estate dealer and mayor in 1914, built a two-story brick building
across from the Hudson Hotel in about 1925. The first floor was used for stores and a
restaurant, the second for offices. Dr. J. P. Lasater practiced dentistry there for many years.

For several years after 1914 Bridgeport had three physicians, Dr. C. F. J. Hartung,Dr.
W. C. Williams and Dr. D. C. Haggard. They traveled over this entire area visiting patients in
their homes before automobiles had come into general use. Many roads were impassable in
winter, so these trips had to be made on horseback and sometimes on foot. Pay for services
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Methodist Church and parsonage as it appeared in The United Methodist Church was completed in
1900. This was the second Methodist Church in 1925.
Bridgeport.This church was built in 1890.

Courtesy, Mrs. Ne r o A t k i n s

Cour tesy, Miss Eve l y n Jones:

was often produce or barter. A good horse and buggy were indispensable for doctors on
these trips, but as soon as the roads permitted, this method was abandoned for the Ford
Roadster.

In 1925 John R. Loyd built the three-story brick building directly across the street
from the Hudson Hotel and opened a general merchandise business. The first floor was used
for general merchandise, the basement and second floor for storage and the third floor asa
Masonic Hall.

So business moved ahead according to the economy. Farm income was increased as
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four-story building was built of Pikeville brown
sandstone, finished above in shingles, with amansard
roof. The building’s interior was finished in oak. An
auditorium: equipped with a stage covered the entire
third floor. The building was later occupied by the
Tennessee River Institute,aBaptist school,and about

This church, originally built by the Presbyterians in 1932 the building was bought by the city of
1896, was used by the Church of Christ until April Bridgeport for the public school system.
1966. Cou r t e s y, Mrs. Katherine Riggs

more land was opened and better farming methods were used. For the benefit of both the
surrounding farmers and the town, the Albino Mills and Cotton Gin went into operation
under the management of E. T. Boyd about 1914.

The convulsive change, felt by business during the long depression, seemed to spare
schools and churches. If anything, it seemed to promote their growth. Plans that had been
dormant while church groups worshipped in the commercial buildings now began to develop
churches by various denominations. The Methodists had already moved into a building of
their own on Cunningham Avenue in the late 1890’s,but moved into a new one on Alabama
Avenue in the heart of town in 1925. In 1914 the Baptists built and moved into the church
they are using today. The Episcopal Church, at the corner of Alabama Avenue and Seventh
Street, was built shortly after 1900, and the Church of Christ moved into the Presbyterian
Church that was built in 1896.

Three of these churches had regular ministers, but the Episcopal ministers came from
the University of the South by regular appointment as the localmembership was too small
to provide for a resident minister.

Methodist ministers served a circuit includingConcord Church a few miles below town.
Both ministers and qualified laymen from the churches gave freely of their service to

tural churches without regular pastors.
C. W. C. Hall, for many years an elder in the Church of Christ, made regular visits to

Christian Home Church on SandMountain and preached to the congregation.
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Schools likewise moved on without interruption. In 1902 the Alatennga College was
opened with J. W. Grant asPresident; Professor A. B. Blazer asVice President and Secretary;
and the following faculty: Miss Alda Camborn, B. A.; Honorable J. S. Benson; Miss Canna
Wynne; Miss Lula Burger; Miss Ollie V. Hughes and Miss Mattie Holder. The school was
located in a new four-story sandstone building that was built on the corner of Alabama
Avenue and Eighth Street. The course of study was included in five departments: Collegiate,
Preparatory, Commercial, Primary and Intermediate.Optional courses were offered in Bible,
Art, Elocution and Music. The college closed about 1908 when Alatennga sold its property
to the Southem Baptist Association. They promptly opened the Bridgeport Academy to
local and boarding students. A few years later this became the Tennessee River Institute,
offering college courses. It was widely publicized and well attended. Ample dormitory space
for boys and girls accommodated the boarding students. When the TRI closed, the property
was purchased by the Adventist Church and a school was administered under that
sponsorship unti l it closed in 1933.

In 1913 Bridgeport Elementary School was built to provide for the increasing number
of young school children. This was a two-story frame building with six rooms and an
auditorium. It was located on the present football field of the high school.

Vanderbilt Training School was organized in the 1890’s to prepare students for college
entrance.

In 1923 the first state-supported high schoolwas opened in the Whitcher Building. The
faculty consisted of O. C. Chisom, Principal, and Daisy Parton, Ruth Daniels and Juanita
Kelly asteachers.

The senior class was made up of only two students, Maurine Hughes and LeslieQuarles.
They were graduated at the end of the term.
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The city of Bridgeport built this school in 1913.The buildingwas locatedon
the present high school football field. The building was torn down about
1935. Cou r t e s y, Miss E ve l y n Jones

The elementary school faculty for the 1923-24 term was composed of A. S. Hill,
Principal; Katherine Riggs, Ruby Deese, Kathleen Lassater, Lucille Jenkins and Millie Sue
Gentry as teachers. This school occupied the old frame building which was built in 1913.

In 1925 the high school moved into a new brick building on the back side of the
present high school. This building was never completed and never adequate, so, about 1933,
the Home Economic Department was moved into the girls’ dormitory of the old TRI
building. When this property was purchased by the city, much of the furniture was left in
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the building. Miss Jewell Carmack was in charge of the department, and under her guidance
the interior was redecorated and the dilapidated furniture was so well renovated by the
students, that the department was soon classed asone of the best in the state by federal and
state supervisors. The rest of the high school and elementary grades occupied the
TRI administration building.

The next high school building was made possible by federal financing through the
Public Works Administration. It was opened for the 1939-40 term with Wilson Gonce as
Principal. The deteriorated brick building was renovated and used for elementary pupils.

The full list of high school principals from 1923 were as follows: O. C. Chisom,
1923-25; O. C. Robinson, 1925-26: Wesley McLeod, 1926-27; H. T. Foster, 1927-29;H. T.
Standefer, 1929-36; Wilson Gonce, 1936-37; J. Lincoln Hall, 1941-48; John C. Lewis,
1948-53; E. Rudder Knox, 1953-58; Neil Knox, 1958-59; E. R. Knox, 1959-63; J. E.
Edmonds, 1963-65; James Warren, 1965-69.

The following list includes elementary school principals from 1913 when the frame
building on the present site of the high school football field was opened: Margaret
Ehrensperger, 1913-15; Mr. Vann, 1915-19; Fletcher Wade, 1919-21; Stanton Hill, 1921-25;
Baldwin Wyley, 1925-27; H. V. Kuykendall, 1927-31; Wilson Gonce, 1 9 3 1 - 3 6 ;W. R. Riley,
1936-37;Stanton Hill, 1937-40.

In 1940 the office of elementary principal was discontinued, and the school was placed
under direct supervision of the high school principal.

The high school building burned just before the 1967-68 term closed. The following
year, 1968-69, the school was housed in emergency quarters, but the 1969-70 term found
the modern new brick building ready for occupation. It is located on the foundation of the
one that burned in 1968.

Bridgeport’s L. & N. Railroad Depot of Spanish The railroad draw bridge that crosses the “slough.”
design was built in 1917. The freight department of Photograph taken in 1968.
the depot was torn down in 1968.
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At this time Bridgeport was feeling the effects of World War 1.Men of military age
were regularly enlisted in military service and formerly unemployed persons were offered
many kinds of employment. Groups of volunteer women were kept busy with Red Cross
activity. The continuous rumble of long troop trains and the regular departure of local boys
to military encampments kept the war spirit high with a driving hope for peace.

Business kept an even course during the war, feeling the distant effects of the tide of
war spending. Here and there a small service was added, but anything, beyond what the local
economy would bear, soon withered away.

When the war ended in 1918, Bridgeport joined the rest of the country for a period of
relaxation asa prelude to further effort toward domestic growth.

While the aftermath of war was mild compared with that of the whole country, it took
on the same tone. The war had been so costly and seemed so brutal and useless that certain
doubts about old beliefs and customs began to appear in every activity and in various ways.
Cigarette smoking by women came into the open, music turned to jazz, and dancing from
the former waltz and two-step to the Charleston and Black Bottom.
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The appearance of the radio in 1920 opened this small corner to the outside world.
The first radio in this area was at the Dixie Inn in Richard City, Tennessee. This attracted
Bridgeport groups who sat, passing the ear phones from one guest to another, until KDKA
went o f f the air.

Youngsters filled the local theater enraptured by silent pictures which were becoming
bolder as they were superseded by the talkies. In these the changing image of the time was
dramatically portrayed by sexy characters and swaggering heroes,

The Flapper, a new type of woman, with free swinging figure, short hair and short
dress appeared,

In the business world, Prosperity was catching on. Many new consumer goods were
being turned out. An automobile agency pushed out the old livery stable. Refrigerators
improved preservation of foods and ended the task of moving the pan from under the old
ice box and mopping its overflow.

Credit was made easy by installment buying, and the standard of living rose to new
levels. The automobile brought paved roads and made the population more mobile.This in
turn created a need for gas and lodging for travelers, so filling stations with auto parts and
motel accommodations sprang up by the roadsides,

This social and economic revolution opened an era of unprecedented materialism, and
Bridgeport contributed its smallpart.
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bolder as they were superseded by the talkies. In these the changing image of the time was
dramatically portrayed by sexy characters and swaggering heroes,

The Flapper, a new type of woman, with free swinging figure, short hair and short
dress appeared.

The bold and restless spirit of the Bridgeport community was reflected in the
Trans-Atlantic flight of Ruth Elder, a former teacher in the Tennessee River Institute,
shortly after Lindbergh’s successful trip. Her plane landed on the Azores after almost
finishing her flight.

In the business world, prosperity was catching on. Many new consumer goods were
being turned out. An automobile agency pushed out the old livery stable, Refrigerators
improved preservation of foods and ended the task of moving the pan from under the old
ice box and mopping its overflow.

Credit was made easy by installment buying, and the standard of living rose to new
levels. The automobile brought paved roads and made the population more mobile. This in
turn created a need for gas and lodging for travelers, so filling stations with auto parts and
motel accommodations sprang up by the roadsides,

This social and economic revolution opened an era of unprecedented materialism, and
Bridgeport contributed its small part,

After a picnic at Russell Cave, these people posed inside the cave for this Picture which was taken in the
summer of 1906. From left to right they are: Albert Raulston, EthelFerguson, Edward Thomas,Mary
Cantrell, Charlie Johnson, Anna Belle Potts,Maggie Ridley, James Alby, Ida Raulston,SamBerryWynne,
(standing)JeffAbbott,Tennie Raulston,Ada Ferguson,and Hillery Barnes. Courtesy, Mrs. Nero Atk ins
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During this time, in 1928,the Aycock HosieryMills beganoperation in Bridgeport, and
the following year the Jacobs and Spivey Hosiery Mills, Inc., started the manufacture of silk
hosiery which had come into great demand. But the year 1929 sounded the alarm to
business. By 1932 the whole country was in the death throes of the greatest of all
depressions. Such businesses ascould not stand still and wait perished.

Bridgeport and surrounding territory were fortunate in the abundance of good earth
within easy reach of everybody. As money passed out of circulation, people looked more
and more to themselves for survival. Almost every backyard hadsa garden, a few chickens, a
pig or two and a cow. The table was supplied in this way and nothing but minimal clothing
was provided for the duration of the depression. Rationing orders were strickly observed by
most people. :

But even so, much of the population felt hunger and the illnesses of malnutrition.
Many were underclothed and barefooted. The prevailing conditions were typical of the
whole country, and this took priority over every other public issue in the nation.

Such a crisis led to a national survey to study the causes and devise plans for the
alleviation of hunger and distress. The election of President Franklin D. Roosevelt in 1932
initiated action in that direction with the broad purpose of alleviation of present distress
and the prevention of its return. Bridgeport stood in direct line for participation in the
programs that followed.

One of the first agencies set up by Congress was the Federal Relief Administration
which provided work programs for the unemployed. This made it possible for able bodied,
unemployed men to work and earn regular wages for their dependents. This wage was
supplemented by surplus commodities consisting of staple foods which were delivered once
amonth.

Work training programs were created for younger men and women. One of these was
the Civilian Conservation Corps which provided training in forest conservation, prevention
of soil erosion, and road construction to trainees under the supervision of army officers.
This covered jobless needy young men of ages 18-25. They were paid regular wages which
were shared by their dependents. Academic studies were available in the accompanying
school program. The National Youth Administration was the other youth program. It
included both needy young males and females who were out of school and without work.
The eligible age range was 16-25. This program set up schools in which lifetime skills were
taught. It also placed young trainees in various agencies and institutions where their training
very often led into careers. The money earned was shared with dependents.
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Many young people in Bridgeport helped to stem the depression tide for their families
as a result of these youth programs. One of the NYA schools was opened in Bridgeport
about 1938 and continued with good attendance unti l it was absorbed by the War
Manpower Commission which began training for war work.

The Social Security Program had the widest coverage of relief needs. It was designed to
meet current distress and to prevent its return in the future, Under i t , the aged, the blind,
and otherwise handicapped and dependent children received cash grants each month. Old
Age and Survivors Insurance and Unemployment Compensation were included aspreventive
measures. Vocational Rehabilitation placed disabled persons with certain skills on
Temunerative projects. Finally, the S. S. Programgave free service through the Public Health
Department for maternity and infant care, and through the Crippled Children’s Service it
diagnosed, hospitalized, and treated needy children with certain physical defects.

It would be impossible to estimate the value of these programs to the people of this
community in the financial income, in health and in the development of skills, by which
many of them earn a living today. Whatever they received in money was put into
circulation, and was pumped through every local business.

Perhaps no federal program has done somuch to improve the standard of living all over
this area asthe Rural Electrification Program. Through the North Alabama Electric Co-op,
electric power lines have criss-crossed the country, placing the current within reach of every
rural family. This has provided them with heat, light, refrigeration, radio and television and
every labor-saving device that their budgets wil l stand.

The Fair Labor Act improved the standard of living for labor employed in interstate
work. This set a floor of forty cents an hour, later raised to seventy-five cents, then to $1.25
and presently to $1.60 an hour with a 40-hour work week with overtime pay of time and a
half. Child labor was forbidden for children under 16, and under 18in hazardouswork.

Tennessee Valley Authority, an invaluable asset to Bridgeport and the adjacent farming
area, was provided by an Act of Congress in 1933. Its flood control program has saved
farmers vast amounts of money from loss by flood water, Its system of locks and dams have
made navigation possible the year round, and the construction of power plants has been of
infinite value to industry. The Widow’s Creek Plant, the largest generating plant in the
world, is located four miles below Bridgeport, and it carries a payroll of 420.

The value of all these programs cannot be limited to any one purpose since their
services, in whatever form, cover the whole area, and the money they provide circulates
through the whole economy.

With the help of government subsidies, soil improvement plans and the scientific aid of
county agents, farming in the adjacent coves and valleys has completely changed in the past
few years. The boll weevil helped to destroy the profit in cotton growing, but diversity has
led to the year-round pastures covered by fine herds of cattle, The countryside is largely
green all year round.
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services, in whatever form, cover the whole area, and the money they provide circulates
through the whole economy.

With the help of government subsidies, soil improvement plans and the scientific aid of
county agents, farming in the adjacent coves and valleys has completely changed in the past
few years. The boll weevil helped to destroy the profit in cotton growing, but diversity has
led to the year-round pastures covered by fine herds of cattle. The countryside is largely
green all year round.
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World Wa r Il and
General Prosperity

The Depression which was weakened by all the New Deal programs completely
disappeared when America entered World War I I . Activity in war industries was so great
that every person who wanted to work could find a job. Military service called for able
bodied young men from nearly every home. Money poured into circulation.

The end of this war was followed by continuous undeclared wars, both hot and cold,
so that defense spending ona big scale has never stopped. The race for material goods has
never been equaled. Even in this remote corner, two or three cars to a family has become a
necessity, boats and even airplanes are longed-for possessions of the majority of families.
Installment buying is rampant and materialism is at an all-time high.

Throughout this period Bridgeport has been moving out of the eddy waters into the
mainstream of progress asthese developments will indicate.

Since 1950’s an active Lions Club, Junior Jaycees and a Chamber of Commerce have
been busy promoting the welfare and growth of the town. Committees from these
organizations have looked for new industries, planned for library facilities and have
recruited patients with eye defects for examination and treatment.

Cultural programs have helped to enrich life in both town and country. Some of these
are the Bridgeport Literary Club, active since 1920; Bridgeport Woman’s Club, and Home
Demonstration Club. An enthusiastic Parent-Teachers organization and Band Booster’s Club
are powerful assets to the schools.

Much credit goes to Mr. C. J.Smith who has promoted and coached a Pee-Wee baseball
team each summer for many, many years. Water sports have become very popular since the
advent of TVA and the affluent period.
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In 1959 this corner of the county secured federal and state financing for the
establishment of a hospital asprovided under the Hill-Burton Act. Its licensed capacity has
grown from 25 beds to 65 beds and 8 bassinets, It is located about halfway between
Bridgeport and Stevenson on Highway 72 and serves awide area.

A modern air-conditioned post office building was opened to serve the Bridgeport area
on February 22, 1963.The official dedication of the buildingwas held onMay 25, 1963.

The National Guard Armory was completed in 1963 by means of federal and state
financing and the city’s contribution of the site. This building consists of a spacious drill
hall, three classrooms, a locker room and an arms vault. Its location on one of thehighest
hills in Bridgeport gives it a formidable appearance.Itsample space was designed to meet
mobilization and emergency needs.

Junior Jaycees concluded an elaborate Civil War Centennial observance in 1961witha
program commemorating Bridgeport’s role in the Civil War. Mr. James Sulzby, Secretary of
Alabama Historical Society, presented the town with a bronze marker which was accepted
by Mayor J. J. Williams and placed on the west side of town on Highway 72. The historic
marker was provided by the Junior Jaycees in commemoration of the strategic role played
by Bridgeport during the CivilWar.

In 1966 the local congregation of the Church of Christ built a handsome new brick
church in modern ecclesiastical style on the west side of town. Dedication services were held
on Sunday, May 15, 1966,with an address by the ReverendMr. Athens Clay Pullias, former
pastor of the congregation, now President of David Lipscomb College in Nashville,
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Alabama NationalGuardArmory

Tennessee. Officers of the church were: Elders: Arthur Reeves, J. Bedford Beck, R. W.
Melton, and Marion F. Loyd. Deacons: John Hall, Curtis Allison, Lawrence Crabtree and
LeonHughes. Pastor: EldonW. Rogers.

A municipal Airport serving both Bridgeport and Stevenson was opened for air traffic
July 24, 1967. The first plane to roll over its paved runway was flown by Senator Dan
Stone. Officials who attended opening ceremonies were: Mayor J. J.Williams of Bridgeport;
State Representative Bill Williams; Chairman of Board of Revenue, Gordon Sebring; Oliver
Williamson of the State Highway Department.

The River Mont Cave Historic Trail was opened in 1967 as a result of the tireless
efforts of the local scout troop. This trail meanders over some of the most beautiful and
interesting landscape to be seen anywhere. The purpose of the trail is to promote greater
interest in scout hiking and in Bridgeport history. I ts inaugural hike was held August 26,
1967, with over 462 boy scouts and their scoutmasters hiking. Since then it has remained a
very popular trail, being hiked by scout troops from all parts of the South and East.

February 23, 1963, was the first day business was

j Vi ta l Memphis~Charleston ra i l r oad ,
: ‘backbone of Confederacy,”

spanned Tennessee River here.
Bridge burned several t imes, 1862-3.

Gen. Mitchell a, occupying ©Huntsvi l le
a f t e r Battie of Shi loh.seized .B:
i n Ap r i l 1862 and held i t un t i l

t o w n became k
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During 1969 a new high school building complex was begun and made ready for
September school opening. This new modern building replaces the one that burned in April
1968. It provides capacity for 800 students in junior and senior high school. It is equipped
with central heating, a modern cafeteria, gymnasium, band rooms and football stadium.

The elementary school building has been expanded with several classrooms. It has a
spacious dining room, cafeteria, and new playground equipment contributed by the
Bridgeport Firemen.

A new Civic Center was completed in May 1969. It occupies the ground of the building
that burned the previous year. This buildingwill accommodate approximately 200 guests. It
is equipped with central heating and cooling and a fully equipped electric kitchen.

The Bridgeport Manufacturing Company, a plant that finishes prefabricated children’s

Dr. Melville B. Grosvenor, President of National Geographic Society and Editor :
of The National GeographicMagazine is shown delivering the dedicatory address Facilities for Tennessee Alloy Corporation
of Russell Cave National Monument Visitor Center. The Visitor Center was are shown under construction, November .
named after his father, the lateGilbert H. Grosvenor. The dedication tookplace 12, 1967. Production was started Monday .
May 7, 1967. Cour tesy, South Pi t tsburg Hustler night, March 4, 1968.

H During 1969 a new high school building complex was begun and made ready for
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1968. It provides capacity for 800 students in junior and senior high school. It is equipped
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of The National GeographicMagazine is shown delivering the dedicatory address Facilities for Tennessee Alloy Corporation
of Russell Cave National Monument Visitor Center. The Visitor Center was are shown under construction, November
named after his father, the lateGilbert H. Grosvenor. The dedication took place 12, 1967. Production was started Monday
May 7, 1967. Cour tesy, South Pit tsburg Hustler night, March 4, 1968.
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demanding an increase in the number of workers and facilities.
The U. S. Stove Manufacturing Company which started operation in 1968 assembles

gas heaters and manufactures electric stoves.
The Allison Poultry Farm and Hatchery with Curtis Allison owner and operator started

out as a family enterprise in 1940 hatching 800 baby chicks aweek. By 1960 this business
had grown to the extent that 135,000 baby chicks were being hatched each week, and there
was a peak employment of 22, with chicks being shipped to five states. An outgrowth of this
successful enterprise has been a very fine stock farm of registered black angus cattle, and the
farm itself is one of the show places of this area.

Bridgeport is in the process of installing a city sewerage system at a cost of
approximately $1,000,000 from federal loans and grants. The plan calls for completion by
1970,When finished, this system will remove much of the source of river water pollution.

State docks are under construction along the industrial site on the banks of the
Tennessee River. This will be of great value to industry by providing barge facilities for
import and export transportation.

Alabama’s 150 years of statehood was commemorated with a Sesqui-Centennial
celebration in Bridgeport on August 23, 1969, After an all day celebration which included a
parade, various contests, the docking of the steamboat, Delta Queen, the observance was
climaxed with a grand ball at the National Guard Armory.

Because of its location, Bridgeport is a direct beneficiary of the Tennessee Valley
Authority which was created in 1933, with amultiple program of flood control, navigation,
reforestation, power development, and soil improvement.

In 1949 the site of Widow’s Bar, four miles south of Bridgeport, was approved by the
Tennessee Valley Authority Board as a site for Widow’s Creek Steam Plant. This
announcement was made in December of that year and construction started March 28,
1950. The first of its six initial units began operation July 1, 1952, and the sixth unit began
operation July 17, 1954.Work started on units seven and eight in March 1958.

Widow’s Creek Steam Plant is n ow rated as the largest steam plant in the world with a
plant capability of 1,750,000 kilowatts.

Russell Cave National Monument was established May 11, 1961. The National
Geographic Society purchased the cave and the surrounding 310-acre farm and presented it
asagift to the people of the United States.

On May 7, 1967, it was officially dedicated by the National Park Service asRussell
Cave National Monument. Its Visitor Center was named in honor of the late Dr. Gilbert H.
Grosvenor, former President and Editor of the National Geographic Society.

The cave’s importance was first discovered in 1953 by these members of the
Chattanooga Chapter of the Tennessee Archaeological Society: Paul H. Brown, J. B.
Graham, LeBaron W. Pahmeyer, and Charles K. Peacock. They informed D r , Matthew W.
Stirling, Director of the Smithsonian’s Bureau of American Ethnology, of their discovery.
Dr. Stirling asked archaeologist, Car] Miller, to go to Bridgeport and check out this
discovery.

This summary of increasing growth manifests renewed vision of the real, natural
potential that no past crisis has changed in this corner of the county. General prosperity has
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Visitor Center, Russell Cave NationalMonument.The exhibits inside the Visitor Center interpret the life of
early mandatingfrom 6,000 B.C.
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This section is dedicated to that small group of first settlers who endured all the
hardships of clearing a wilderness for their homes and families. Through their efforts in this
small corner, they not only opened its area to its future growth, but they acted well their
small part in that mightier pioneering tide that opened America for civilization.

TENNESSEE VALLEY PROPER
The Tennessee River Valley, in this corner of Alabama, is the vast uninterrupted

stretch of alluvial land into which all smaller valleys or coves spread. It is drained by the
Tennessee River which splits at Bridgeport to hold the long, slender, insular land of Long
Island. The men in the following sketches realized its potential.

JAMES WILLIAMS
(1807-1877)

James, son of Sherrod and Polly Looney Williams, was born May 28, 1807, in Maury
County, Tennessee. He was a member of a family of eighteen children. When he was three
years old, his father moved to Franklin County where he lived until his marriage in 1827 to
Katherine Talley, daughter of Jacob and Mourning Talley and sister of Honorable J. B.
Talley, Sr., all of Jackson County, Alabama. The same year, Mr. Williams and wife
purchased farm land along the Tennessee River, a few miles below the present site of
Bridgeport, and built a home which they called “Bowling Green.” There they reared ten
children.

At the age of twenty-seven, Mr. Williams was elected Justice of the Peace, an office
which he held until 1836, when he was inducted into the United States Army asOrderly
Sergeant of Captain Henry Norwood’s Company of “Mountain Men.” This company was
organized to help suppress the Indian uprisingwhich occurred in 1836.

After a brief military service, Mr. Williams had a long political career. He was elected
representative to the Alabama Legislature for seven terms. After his first term which was
held in the state capitol at Tuscaloosa, he was asked by one of his constituents how he
compared with the other members of the honorable body. His answer was, “Well, I was just
an average hog.” This was familiar language to farmers, and it won the lifetime sobriquet of
“Common Hog” Williams for him.

JamesWilliams, 1867 Katherine Talley Williams
Cour tesy, Mrs. Katherine Riggs Cou r t e s y, Mrs. Kather ine Riggs



After his term in the 1847-48 legislature, Mr. Williams retired from public life and
devoted his full time to the duties and pleasures of home and farm life. He was said by his
neighbors to be a “Good Liver” and a fine entertainer. Once a year heopened his home toa
family reunion, and he enjoyed the sports of fishing and hunting deer on Sand Mountain
with friends. These peaceful years were short lived, however, because of the growing threat
of secession and war.

In Apri l 1860,Mr. Williams was a delegate to the Democratic NationalConvention in
Charleston, South Carolina, where Governor William Lowndes Yancey presented the famous
Alabama Platform, denying support to any candidate favoring the exclusion of slavery from
the territory taken from Mexico, and disapproving the permission of settlers within the
territory to vote for or against slavery. This platform was rejected by the Northern
Democrats, whereupon the delegates of seven southern states walked out of the convention.

Having no majority left, the convention adjourned to meet in Baltimore on the
following June 18.

The Southem Democrats also met in Baltimore, adopted the Alabama Platform, and
nominated John C. Breckenridge for the Presidency. When the question of secession arose,
Mr, Williams used all his influence against i t , submitting only when the convention adopted
the Ordinance of Secession. He then gave his full support to the Southern Cause. Two of his
sons served with honor in the Confederate Army.

In 1865Mr.Williams returned to the legislature for a two-year term, during which time
he and W.J. Padgett represented Jackson County in the Constitutional Convention of 1865.

Mr. Williams died in May 1877 in his home at “BowlingGreen” and was buried in the
family cemetery on his estate.

JOHN GUNTER
(1793-1852)

When John Gunter was three years old, his father, Augustus Gunter,moved his family
from Buncombe County, North Carolina, to Warren (now Cannon) County, Tennessee.
Sometime after his marriage to Lavinia Thomason in about 1827, John came to Jackson
County where he entered land and built a log house just inside the state line, in sight of
what later became Copenhagen (now Richard City), Tennessee. The house site can be
located today by a clump of scrubby trees left there to warn of the old well. It lies between
the Jasper branch railroad track and today’s U. S.Highway 72.

When the Federal Land Office opened in Huntsville, Alabama, Mr. Gunter purchased
the land rangingalong the Tennessee River from the present railroad bridge to the state line,
thence westward to the foot of the Cumberland Mountains. Ten children were born and
reared on this farm. As they reached maturity and married, most of them moved westward
with the pioneering tide.

One son, Thomas Montague Gunter, born 1826 in Warren County,Tennessee, went to
Arkansas in 1852, and settled at Fayetteville where he practiced law. He married Marcella
Jackson in Missouri and they had one son, Julius Caldien Gunter, in 1858.

Thomas Montague was a member of the Arkansas Constitutional Convention in 1861.
In 1864 he was elected Lieutenant Colonel of a Confederate battalion of cavalry known as
Gunter’s Battalion which he commanded until the war ended (Confederate Cavalry West of
the Mississippi). After the war he represented his state in the United States Congress from
1873 to 1883.
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John Gunter’s grandson, Julius Caldien, finished law school at the University of
Virginia and went to Colorado where he served asPresident of the State BarAssociation., as
Governor of Colorado, 1916-1920, and asChief Justice of Colorado Supreme Court. He
died in Denver in 1940.

Augustus Gunter was the one son who remained on the John Gunter estate. He was
born in Jackson County, March 9, 1815. He served in the Florida War, 1835-36. He then
retumed to his farm and married Elizabeth Hobbs February 9, 1843. They lived near the
present river bridge unti l the Civil War. They had three sons, William Montague, Rufus
Caldien and John Haley.

When Bridgeport was occupied by the U. S. Army, the land of Augustus was taken
over. His two older sons volunteered for military duty.W. M. enlisted in Company G. Third
Confederate Cavalry, R. C. joined Fourth Tennessee Cavalry, and their parents left, with
their youngest son, John Haley, and went to Georgia for the duration of the war.

After the surrender, the family returned to Bridgeport where they found nothing left
on the farm, not a fence rail, not a house, not a horse nor amule. That year, however, they
started farming and soon opened upa business for fumishing other farmers.

In a few years’ time the three sons owned and operated a steamboat line from Decatur
to Chattanooga. They continued in this business until early 1900’s, after which they
devoted their attention to their other interests and to the promotion of the fabulous growth
of Bridgeport at that time.

Augustus Gunter was for many years agent for the N. C. & St. L. Railroad in
Bridgeport. He was a loyal member of the Methodist Church for which hegave much of his
time asa lay preacher.

He died in 1894 and was buried by the side of his wife in Mount Carmel Cemetery,
which was given in 1888 along witha fully equipped church by his three sons for use by all
denominations.

WILLIAM TERRELL KIRKPATRICK
W. T. Kirkpatrick and his wife Nancy Ann McFarlane Kirkpatrick were among the

pioneers who settled in the big river valley. Their land lay in the area of Newton Hil l about a
mile from the Tennessee-Alabama state line.
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Here they had a family of eleven children, most of whom grew to adulthood on the
“Old Kirkpatrick Homestead.”

One son, Washington LaFayette ( “D ick ” ) Kirkpatrick remained on the old homestead
where he reared a large family. As a young man he taught school in Jackson County, worked
as a section hand on the new N. C. & St. L, Railroad and then as a carpenter and t
contractor. From his earnings hepurchased more land, and in 1877 hejoined the mercantile t
firm of McFarlane and Company; shortly after this he started his own business. Two years
later McFarlane moved his merchandise to his farm near Bridgeport.With Mr. Kirkpatrick as
the sole merchant, and with the coming of Southem States Coal, I ron & Land Company,
and the establishment of machine shops and furnaces on the present site of South Pittsburg,
his business prospered. About this time he plotted the town site of Copenhagen (now
Richard City), Tennessee, and secured a post office for the community. He was the town’s
first postmaster. He served two years as agent for the N. C. & St. L. Railroad, but resigned
to give ful l time to the mercantile business which had becomea successful enterprise.

W. L. Kirkpatrick was a bright and energetic citizen, He was keenly aware of all the
changes that occurred around him, and he participated in every effort toward the progress
of his community. He was the youngest Justice of the Peace ever chosen in Jackson County
up to the time of his death.

Later in life Mr. Kirkpatrick wrote commentaries on conditions in the community as
he had known them. These papers were entitled “From One Who Knows,” and they are
choice reminiscences of his time and location. }

Mr. Kirkpatrick died July 22, 1923, and was buried in the family burial grounds on his }
estate. '

ALEXANDER McFARLANE
(1794-1856)

Pioneer sketches in this story would be incomplete without some account of the
McFarlane clan. Alexander McFarlane and his wife Susan Gaines McFarlane (1800-1856),
settled here sometime around 1830. Family records reveal that Mr. McFarlane came to
Jackson County from Kentucky. His wife was amember of one of the earliest pioneer
families in this section. This couple had five children: Washington LaFayette, William,
Margaret, Nancy Ann and Mary Malinda. The two sons acquired fine farm lands along the i
Tennessee River and built their homes near a big spring, a short distance from the present
Concord Church. This property is still in possession of their descendants.

William married Margaret Long, member of another pioneer family. He represented
Jackson County in the State Legislature in 1876, but later moved to Missouri where he
spent the rest of his life.

Washington L. McFarlane was married twice. His first wife was Judith Price,member of
an early family of the Rocky Springs Community. They had two children; one son died
early, and the other, Richard ( “D ick ” ) Alexander, spent his life in and around Bridgeport.
Washington’s second wife was Mary E. Hughes, of another old family here. He died in 1896
and was buriedwith his two wives in Rocky Springs Cemetery.

Richard (“Dick”) A. McFarlane established a mercantile business known asMcFarlane
and Company near the Tennessee-Alabama State Line in 1876. His business associates were
W. C. Glover, A. McFarlane and W. L. Kirkpatrick. In 1879 he closed out and moved his
merchandise to his farm near Bridgeport where he opened a new store. There he and his wife
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Sarah Emeline Hembree McFarlane and their two children lived until the 1890’s when he
purchased a home on Hudson Avenue in Bridgeport.

Mr. McFarlane engaged in various business pursuits, but his prime interest was in fertile
land, and there he made his heaviest investments. At the time of his death in 1934, hewas
one of the large land holders of Jackson County. His body was interred in Rocky Springs
Cemetery in the family plot October 22, 1934.

CHARLES SMITHSON JONES
(1800-1850)

Charles Smithson Jones was born in Richmond, Virginia. He came into Madison
County as a young man. He served in the Florida War. After his return, he married Delia
Jones by whom he had seven children; Jasper J., who served as captain of Company A.
Thirty-third Alabama Infantry and afterward asRegistrar in Chancery; Marion N. served as
Lieutenant in the Thirty-third Alabama Infantry; Bradley C., who served in the Fourth
Alabama Cavalry; P. P., who died in service as a member of the Thirty-third Alabama
Infantry; R. A.; Mary J.; Sallie E., wife of Thomas Dickens of South Pittsburg,Tennessee.

Mr. Jones held land grants signed by various Presidents of the UnitedStates, asfollows:
one by Andrew Jackson in 1835, one by Zachary Taylor in 1849, another by Franklin
Pierce in 1852, and one by James Buchanan in 1858.

Mr. Jones came to Jackson County from Madison in 1842. He was a trustee of
Alabama University until his death in 1850.

Mr. Jones’ son, R. A. Jones, was born December 10, 1842, and he was brought to
Jackson County as an infant. Leaving school at 19, he entered the Confederate Army as a
private in Company A. Thirty-third Alabama Infantry. He fought in eleven battles, was
wounded and captured at Franklin, Tennessee. He was imprisoned at Camp Douglas and
held until the war closed. After his release, he returned to Jackson County where he
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followed farming for a year. Then he went into the mercantile business at Bridgeport unti l
1890 when he concentrated his interests in the Bridgeport Landand Improvement Company
of which hewas a director.

R. A. Jones was a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church where he served as a
steward and trustee. He married Eliza C. Glover, daughter of Samuel and Jane Copeland
Glover, December 9, 1869, and to this marriage four children were born: Charles, Ollie
May, wife of F. H. Edmonds, and Lillie who died in infancy.

Much credit is due Mrs. Jones and Mrs. TomGlover for their earnest efforts which led
to the establishment of the Methodist Episcopal Church in Bridgeport. Five generations of
Glover andWilliam descendants have been affiliated with this church.

WILLIAM C. GLOVER
(1828-1903)

William Culford Glover was a son of James C. Glover who migrated into Tennessee and
settled on a hill later called Glover’s Hill, near the present site of Kimball in Marion County,
Tennessee. He and his wife had five children, William C., Samuel, Thomas, Katherine and
Margaret. When the father died, William helped his mother rear his younger brothers and
sisters. He then came to Jackson County looking for good land for a home site. This he
found and purchased on the east side of the Tennessee River, near the end of the
drawbridge, across the “little slough” of the river. He built a home there, and the family
moved in and opened up the farm. As the farm population increased, Mr.Glover opened a
small general store.

During the Civil War, Mr. Glover was loyal to the Confederacy. He volunteered for
military service and was raised to the rank of Captain.

Mr. Glover later came into possession of land around Copenhagen, and went into
mercantile business with Alexander and R.A. McFarlane andW. L. Kirkpatrick.

In 1882 his brother, Samuel H. Glover, served a term in the state legislature.
The Glover family adhered to the Methodist faith and helped in the founding of the

Methodist Church in Bridgeport.

PATRICK E. DALY, SR.
(1817-1892)

Mr. Daly owned a farm west of Bridgeport around apoint on U, S.Highway 72 called
Daly’s Crossing, in his honor. He was born in Limerick, Ireland, in 1817, but came to the
United States by way of Charleston, South Carolina, when hewas nineteen years old.While
in South Carolina he married Martha Henson, a descendant of Huguenot refugees. She
joined him in the Catholic Church and soon became a devout supporter of that church.
They had fourteen children.

Mr. Daly was employed for many years here asa section foreman on the N.C.& St. L.
Railroad.He was generally popular for his Irish wit and genial personality.

Among Mr. Daly’s children was a daughter, Martha, who married MasonThomas, C. S.
A. Veteran.

Five generations, descendants of Mr. Daly, have lived in and around Bridgeport.
Mr. andMrs. Daly died in the 1890’sand were buried at Rocky Springs.
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(1795-1862)
Samuel Price James came to Jackson County from Virginia and entereda large tract of

Tennessee Valley land, across the river from the upper end of Long Island. His wife was
Mary Whited James and their home was built near the present day railroad tracks. Of their
ten children only one, Meridith Price James, fastened down on the estate and lived his life out
there. This son married Susan Christian, daughter of a prominent neighboring family.
Descendants of the James families have been some of the county’s foremost citizens.

Samuel James died in 1862 and his wife died in 1887. Both were buried in a family
cemetery on a hill overlooking the estate. Five generations of these pioneer parents have
lived on this fine estate while many have moved into other states.

W. H. CHRISTIAN
(1817-1888)

Mr. Christian served asa Lieutenant in the United States Army against the Seminole
Indians in Florida. He was born in Lynchburg, Virginia, and he came to Jackson County to
make his home in 1836, He married Martha A. McMahan, member of an early family in the
cove of that name,near Stevenson, Alabama.

Mr. Christian was the owner of very fine farm land along the east side of the Tennessee
River from the railroad to the Tennessee state line. He built his home in the little
community of Carpenter where he and his wife had ten children.

M r , Christian died in 1888, and was buried in the James family cemetery because of his
connection with that family. His wife died a few years later and was buried beside him.

After their deaths the family moved away and the estate passed into other hands.

BENJAMIN WINSLOW DUDLEY HILL
Son of Irving and Millie Morgan Hill,Benjamin was born in Warren County, Tennessee,

on May 17, 1829. His brother, John Hill, was killed in the Mexican War at Monterey. His
brother, Jesse, served as a surgeon during the Mexican War and later practiced medicine in
Warren County, Tennessee. Another brother, Lawson, was killed in California during the
Gold Rush in 1849,

B. W. D. Hill was a veteran of the Civil War, serving with the Army of Tennessee. The
census of 1850 lists him as21 years of age with the occupation of school teaching. After the
Civil War, he settled on his farm at the mouth of Widow’s Creek. He married Nancy Jane
Dillard in 1849, Five children came from this marriage. His second marriage to Melvina
Allen in 1877 resulted in three children, Benjamin, Jonathin, and Stanton.

Descendants of Benjamin and Stanton still live around Bridgeport. This family has
contributed a great deal to the culture and development of this part of the county, and
wherever they have gone they have takena civic interest in their location.

PETER BOONE
In 1831 Peter Boone held a grant to 79 and 85/100 acres of land in Section 34,

Township 1, Range 8E. This grant was issued by the U. S. Government and signed by
President Andrew Jackson, June 15, 1831.
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Mr. Boone and his wife Mariah Boone sold this landwith the exception of one acre in
the northwest corner. This acre was reserved for a Baptist Church, New Hope, a few miles
from Bolivar in the vicinity of the old Baptist cemetery.

Minutes of the Mud Creek Association of Primitive Baptists, held at the UnionMeeting
house in Marion County, Tennessee, October 13, 1826, show that Mordecai Boone, L.
Russell and James Troxell representedNew Hope Church there.

Mordecai Boone owned 120 acres of land near the mouth of Jeffries Cove in 1830.He
is said to have been abrother of Daniel Boone,but this claim has not been verified.

No further trace of either of these men has so far been found, but maps of the county
show the exact location of the church.

HOG JAW VALLEY
The following families were well known in Hog Jaw Valley largely during the early

period of its settlement, but detailed information is no t available at this time. They are
Ladd, Troupes, Reece,and Gilliam.

BENJAMIN FRANKLIN HEMBREE
(1793-1864)

Among the earliest settlers in this corner of the state was Benjamin FranklinHembree.
Like most of the other pioneers who came here,he came directly from Tennessee. His wife’s
name cannot be recalled, but one descendant remembers that he had twelve children, two of
whom were early and influential citizens of this area. These were Robert Liles (1825-1892)
and James Whitton,

Mr.Hembree entered anextensive body of land in HogJaw Valley and built his home a
short distance from the present site of Harris Chapel. He died in 1864 and was buried in
Harris Chapel Cemetery where his grave is marked by a huge pile of rocks directly behind
that of his son, Robert Liles.

Robert LilesHembree and ElizabethEmaline Hembree
Cour tesy, Mrs. Ellis Couch
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0}Ajasielpassedaavy0}studes‘jtJoledwade&Jo‘a}eIsooY]JoJUdIUASeUEUTay.The management of the estate, or a great part of i t , seems to have passed largely to
Robert Liles after the father’s death. In 1848 he married Elizabeth Emaline Glasscock and
settled down in the old homeplace where they had a family of ten children; three boys and
seven girls, As time passed, all the girls married and left home except Susan Alabama, who
married Jefferson Lee Gentry and remained on the Hembree estate. (See Jeffries Cove
sketches.) Later two of the sons moved away, leaving only Isaac Shiloh who married Sarah
Webb and had five children. His home was built at the foot of Sand Mountain, in view of his
extensive valley farm. He spent all his active life as afarmer with much success. A short time
before his death he purchased a house on Hudson Avenue in Bridgeport, and he died there
in 1927.

Since the first Hembree came into this valley, six generations have spread out sharing
their talents with many parts of the country.

KINGCOVE

This beauti ful, rich valley lying near the Tennessee-Alabama state line is walled in by
two peaks of the Cumberland Mountains. As it reaches out to join the big river valley of the
Tennessee, it broadens to include a vast stretch of fertile land, broken, around the Rocky
Springs area, by hills and ridges. I ts mountain watersheds drain into Jones Creek which
flows through and irrigates the land all the way to the Tennessee River.

The first white men to settle in this cove are included among the following sketches.
WILLIAM KING

It has been the opinion of many that William M. Kingwas the first white man to settle
in this cove, because it bears his name and has a very old grave which is said to be his. This
grave bears no inscription, but it has been well preserved under a heaped-up pile of native
tock, characteristic of burial practices of the time. It lies within the grounds which are said
to have been the King property. A giant oak tree growing from it attests to its approximate
age,

Land records in the courthouse at Scottsboro, however, set a question asto which man
came into this cove first. According to a land transaction recorded in Deed Book D and
dated April 7, 1831, W. D. Gaines sold 400 acres of land to William M. King, and the
description of this land seems to fit that held by Mr. King, alleged first settler. The
implication here is that W. D. Gaines preceded Mr. King in the cove. It is possible, though,
that this purchase was in addition to the land adjoining the King estate.

No reliable evidence has been found that Mr. King had a family, but Antioch Church
records in 1827 reveal that William M. King, Elisha M. Price and Andrew Russell were elders
in the church at that time.

Since this church is credited with being the oldest Churchof Christ to be established in
Alabama, its achievement must have required unyielding zeal and intensity of effort such as
is urged along by family interest.
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COLONEL JAMES ROULSTON
(1778-1844)

Colonel James Roulston was born in Richmond, Virginia, in 1778. Hemarried Jane
Simmons of South Carolina, January 8, 1802, in Jefferson County, Tennessee. A copy of an
honorable discharge issued in Nashville, Tennessee, May 15, 1815, and signed by
Major-General William Carroll, Second Division Tennessee Militia, certifies that Colonel
Roulston of his division of militia, “performed a tour of duty of six months in the service of
the U. S., and that his good conduct, subordination and valor, under the most trying
hardshipsentitle him to the gratitude of his country.”

While living in Tennessee, ColonelRoulstonrepresented Jackson County,Tennessee, in
the State Legislature, and in 1829-30 he represented Jackson County,Alabama, in the State
Legislature.

Shortly after he was mustered out of military service in the United States Army,
possibly 1816 or 1817, he came to Jackson County, Alabama, and took overa tract of land
in the head of King Cove. He built a house which still stands on the farm, and there he and
his wife had a family of fourteen children, nine of whom were boys and thus able to
continue the name. (Fo r further record, see DoranCove sketches.)

Colonel Roulston died in 1844,and was buried in Doran Cove cemetery. An 1812War
Memorial inscription appears on his tombstone.

On June 11, 1853, the widow of Colonel Roulston, who was then living in Marion
County, Tennessee, filed application, with the County Clerk for additional Bounty Land to
which she might be entitled under the act approved March 3, 1835, declaring that she had
previously applied for and received land warrant Number 52-686 for eighty acres, that this
had been legally disposed of and could not be returned. She further declared that Colonel
Roulstonhad never applied for the LandBounty to.which hewas entitled.

Colonel Roulston’s wife died in Marion County, Tennessee, and was buried in
Beene-RaulstonCemetery.

L. B.WYNNE
In 1861 L. B. Wynne bought the Colonel Roulston farm, including the old home, from

the heirs of the estate and moved into King Cove. Mr.Wynne was born in Tennessee about
1823. He was married twice, first to Kizziah Long and later to Abigail Tate, by whom he
had a son, John Berry. This property remained in the Wynne family for about a century.
Included in the cemetery of William M. King, rest the bodies of John Wynne (1800-1864)
and his wife, a son, L. G. Wynne (1820-1879) and his wife, John Berry Wynne (1869-1935)
and his wife, Julia Lassater Wynne (1872-1937). Three generations have descended from
John Berry and Julia Lassater Wynne. The family has widespread connections who exert
great influence in the county.

ROCKY SPRINGS COMMUNITY
The land around Rocky Springs ranges over the ridges at the mouth of KingCove and

acts as a partial barrier between that cove and the Tennesee Valley proper. Although much
of the land is less fertile than that along the river, it seems to have held a special attraction
for early settlers.
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woos1pue‘uoKednos0a1TyMJopunploysempue]ey}JoYONUTs.QOgTAlsooy}UTIn the early 1800’s much of the land was held under white occupation, and it soon
became one of the most cohesive neighborhoods in the whole area. As early as 1820, it was
included for postal service on the mail route from Huntsville to Washington, in Rhea
County, Tennessee. This service consisted of mail delivery once every two weeks by a
postman on horseback.

As the popular demand increased, a stage road was constructed along this route,
providing for a public carrier. The stage coaches carried passengers, luggage and mail, and
made regular runs. This service brought new kinds. of business to some communities,
including taverns and ferry boat service across the streams, and it added great interest and
color along its route. The accommodation of an inn or tavern was supplied at Rocky Springs
by one of the established settlers in his big log house. There the passengers rested,and the
drivers changed their horses for the rest of the trip.

In 1827 the first Church of Christ in Alabama was opened at the foot of the mountain
at Rocky Springs. This was used for regular worship until 1847 when it was abandoned for a
larger structure. This congregation was integratedwith Negro adherents from the beginning.

During the CivilWar the latter church burned after occupation by Federal soldiers, and
it was not replaced until after theWar, about 1875.

The United States mail service was discontinued throughout this area with the
declaration of the war.

The sketches that follow show something of the settlers who developed this extension
of KingCove.

WILLIAM JAMES PRICE
(1793-1868)

Mr. Price came into this community in the early 1800’s and purchased land ranging
over the hills at the mouth of KingCove. He marriedMalinda Gaines, member of one of the
early families in this area, and they built a large log house on their farm. When the stage
road was built through Jackson County, it passed in front of their home. Because of its
suitable location and adequate space, it was used as the inn for stage coach traffic and care
of horses. It was here that Mr. Price and wife spent their lives and reared a family. They
were faithful members of the Church of Christ. This loyalty led to their donation of eight
acres of land to be used for the building of a new church and the development of a cemetery
at Rocky Springs.

Mr. and Mrs. Price both died in 1868 and were buried in the cemetery that they had
provided.

WILLIAM JAMES HUGHES
(1813-1882)

William James Hughes, a nephew of William Price,was born in Richmond,Virginia. He
entered Alabama by way of Tennessee and went directly to the Price farm where he was
given a home and employment. Sometime later he married Mr. Price’s daughter Sallie, and
they received a part of the Price estate. He had several children by this wife.

Mr. Hughes was a loyal member of the Church of Christ where he served as elder for
many years. After receiving his part of the Price property, he gave a deed for the land
previously informally donated by Mr.Price for a church and cemetery at Rocky Springs.
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After the death of his first wife, Mr. Hughesmarried Lucy Virginia Johnson, daughter
of Berry and Lucy Blalock Johnson. By her he reared asecond family. A son of this union,
L. H. Hughes, lived his entire life in Bridgeport where he was known asone of its most
honored citizens, This son gave freely of his time and service to many local civic programs,
and to school improvement, and he served ascity mayor and asstate legislator from this i
area.

Descendantsof William James Hughes have given much to public service.
William J. Hughes died in 1882,and hewas buried in Rocky Springs Cemetery aswere

his two wives,
BERRY JOHNSON

(1794-1855)
Berry Johnson, a cousin of President Andrew Johnson, came to Jackson County from

Tennessee. His wife was Lucy Blalock Johnson. They reared a large family on their farm on *
the edge of the Rocky Springs Community.

According to relatives,Mrs. Johnson was avery active and loyal member of the Church @
of Christ. It is said that she worked hard in establishing their first church at Antioch in
1827, and later for the first Church of Christ at Rocky Springs in 1847.

When the Civil War ended, two veterans of the Confederate Army came into the
community, married into the Johnson family, and settled around Rocky Springs. These
were James Whitton Hembree and Alexander “Sandy” Loyd. Through their posterity the
influence of these early couples was widely spread.

Mr. Johnson died in 1855 and was buried in the Mount Carmel Cemetery. His wife
survived until 1884. She was buried beside him at Mount Carmel.

JAMES WHITTON HEMBREE
The father of James W. Hembree was Benjamin Franklin Hembree (1793-1864) who

came into Alabama from Roane County, Tennessee, where he had temporarily settled. He
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Axedoy}BuoureoJomYorTYSSees]pueuOITYMSouef‘WIOYMJoOm}‘UdIP]IYOZ]peyhad 12 children, two of whom, James Whitton and Isaac Shiloh were among the early
landholders in this comer of Jackson County. JamesW. took over land in the Rocky Springs
area and built a large log house on the site of the late William Whitcher’s home. James W.
married Rebecca Johnson (1829-1886), daughter of Berry and Lucy Blalock Johnson. Five
children were born to them, but only three lived to be grown. One daughter, Mary
Elizabeth, married a Confederate messenger, Samuel Alexander Adams, who came to the
community with his brother after the end of the Civil War.

Mr. Hembree enlisted in the Confederate Army at Bolivar, Alabama, on September 1,
1862. He was assigned to Company A, First BattalionAlabama Partisan Rangers which was
later made a part of Company C, Eighteenth Battalion Alabama Volunteers and finally
became a part of Company C,Thirty-third Regiment Alabama Infantry. Hewas captured at
Bridgeport, Alabama, November 8, 1863, and sent to Camp Morton, Indiana,where hewas
imprisoned until his release on oath May 10, 1865.

After the war he returned to his farm and set to work to restore the damage and loss
caused by the Federal soldiers during his absence. At his death his body was interred in the
family plot in Rocky Springs Cemetery.

MILTON JENKINS
(1810-1880)

Mr. Jenkins was born in North Carolina March 6, 1810. Along with others who were
moving westward, he and his wife Sarah, born November 17, 1818, came to Alabama soon
after it becamea state. They settled in Jeffries Cove where they reared a family.

A son of this couple, T. C. Jenkins, born September 13, 1845,marriedMartha Melton
of Sweeden’s Cove in October 1866. They moved into KingCove where Mr. Jenkins rented
farm land until he was financially able to buy 150 acres. Hegradually added to this until he
amassed one of the finest farms in this part of the county. A daughter, Ellen,and husband
lived on the farm and reared their son,T. C. Jenkins.

Milton Jenkins died July 26, 1880. His wife, Sarah, died March 14, 1886. Both were
buried in Mount Carmel Cemetery. T. C. and wife were buried in the plot with his parents.

105



W. D. GAINES
The W. D. Gaines family has a long record of land ownership and prominent family

connections in this area, but the line of descent has not been available.

DORAN COVE

This broad fertile valley lies between King and Jeffries Coves. It is a region of great
natural wealth, with its rich soil, coal, mountain timber, limestone and gushing springs of
clear water. These springs form branches which wind across the farm land to join Widow’s
Creek, the main artery of irrigation and drainage for Jeffries and DoranCoves.

It is likely because of these resourceswith natural vegetation and wild life that this area
has a record of human habitation for the many centuries attested by the findings at the
nearby RussellCave NationalMonument. Certainly these features held a magnetic attraction
for the first white pioneers who settled there. Altogether it holds an exciting story of
prehistoric man aswell asa record of the early thrust of white civilization into this comer of
Alabama.

MAJOR JAMES DORAN
(1764-1840)

Major James Doran came into this cove from a point known asDoran’s Stand across
the mountain in Tennessee, before Alabama becamea state. He was the first white man to
settle in the cove that bears his name.

After selecting a site at the foot of LittleMountain, near a perpetual spring, he built his
home of the natural rock which was easily available. The structure consisted of two large
tooms, one of which shared its space with a small cubicle, evidently set aside for guests. The
16-inch walls of this house were built of uniform blocks of stone put together with marked
precision. The deep door and window casings were hand cut and finished from giant trees of
such quality that after 150 years they are well preserved. A massive stone chimney and
fireplace provided heat. Portholes in the rear wall, overlooking the spring, seem to attest to
the wildness of the country at that time.

Over the branch of the big spring, the Major built a log house for refrigeration of
foods. The trees used for this were so superior and so carefully put together that the
building is still well preserved.

Major Doran married the daughter of Cherokee Chief, John Woods, who owned the
reservation on which the Major built his home. As the Chiefwas old and he realized that the
final removal of his nation was near, he was depressed. In this mood he proposed to leave his
lands to the Major in exchange for a home and a place at the head of his table for the rest of
his life. The proposition was accepted, the terms of the agreement were written ona dried
goat skin, and the Chief moved in.

The small guest room in this early house is called the “Jackson room” even today,
because of a story that has come down through the years. According to this, General
Andrew Jackson spent six weeks there in 1819 when the county that bears his name was
being surveyed.
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W. D. GAINES
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connections in this area, but the line of descent has not been available.
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The Major Doran home, built of hand-hewn This spring house, now standing behind the Major
limestone, was built about 1816. The walls are 16 Doran home, was used in refrigerating foods. The
inches thick. Notice the portholes in the rear of walls of this house were possibly built asearly as
the house. Major Doran was the first settler in 1816 or earlier. Notice the spring running from
Doran Cove, thus the cove was named in his under theright side of this house.
honor.

As the cove population filled in, Major Doran set aside certain land near his home to be
used as a church, school building and cemetery. He erected a one-room building and
equipped it with desks and pews. Other communities at some distance away, having no
schools, sent their children there, and this led to the construction of small cabins on the
grounds for boarding pupils.

When the stage road was opened from Winchester, Tennessee, to Bolivar, thence to
Will’s Valley, the Major’s home was used asan inn.

Major Doran’s Indian wife died and was buried in the cemetery provided by her
husband. The body of her father, John Woods, was buried in the Cherokee burial grounds in
front of the Doran home.

Major Doran’s second wife was Linnie Russell, sister of Thomas Russell, another very
early settler. There were no children by either of his marriages. This wife survived her
husband by three years, and her body was interred beside his and that of his first wife in
1843 at the age of 93 years.

Major Doran’s family line descended through his nephew, James Doran, who also came
to the cove from Doran’s Stand in Tennessee. He married Orpha McCormack, and some of
their six children married into the Russell family. Delia Jane (1831-1913) married James
Lowrey Doran Russell (1830-1895). It is from their five children, Lee Ann, James,
Alexander, Orpha, and Jerry, chiefly that the line has reached down to three later
generations,
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THOMAS RUSSELL
(1761-1850)

Thomas Russell, son of Matthew Russell, Scotch-Irish immigrant who came from
Ireland to Pennsylvania, came to Jackson County in the early 1800’s with a brother James
and a sister Linnie who married Major Doran. Thomas entered landjoining Doran and lying
against MontagueMountain.RussellCave was included in this property.

In 1832 Mr. Russell went to Bellefonte, county seat of Jackson County and made an
affidavit that he was living in Jackson County where he had come from Franklin County,
Tennessee. Prior to that he had lived in South Carolina in 1782. This application was
notarized by R. B. Clayton of Bellefonte Courthouse. The following men attested to the
high quality of Mr. Russell’s character: William Jenkins, Esq., John Melton, James Loller,
James Resson, James Doran, Sr., and William D. Gaines. After the approval of the
application, Mr. Russell received aRevolutionaryWar Pension of $41.66 per month until his
death.

Mr. Russell married Tabitha Jenkins (1770-1861) in the late 1700’s. Thirteen children
were born to them in their sixty-six years together. This sketch wil l follow the line as it
descends through their son James.

JAMES RUSSELL
(1798-1887)

James Russellmarried PaulinaGaines,member of one of the earliest pioneer families in
King Cove, They reared their family on the Russell farm. This line continues with their son
James Lowrey Doran Russell (1830-1915) who married Delilah Jane Doran (1836-1913),
daughter of the second James Doran who was born at Doran’s Stand in Tennessee. Their
homewas on the Douthett Branch ashort distance from Major Doran’s home.

Next in line was Alexander GainesRussell whose first wife was Belle, Anderson. At her
death she left six children. Alexander married Barbara Raulston the second time and reared
another family of four children.

THOMAS RUSSELL
(1761-1850)

Thomas Russell, son of Matthew Russell, Scotch-Irish immigrant who came from
Ireland to Pennsylvania, came to Jackson County in the early 1800’s with a brother James
and a sister Linnie who married Major Doran. Thomas entered landjoining Doran and lying
against MontagueMountain. Russell Cave was included in this property.

In 1832 Mr. Russell went to Bellefonte, county seat of Jackson County and made an
affidavit that hewas living in Jackson County where he had come from Franklin County,
Tennessee. Prior to that he had lived in South Carolina in 1782. This application was
notarized by R. B. Clayton of Bellefonte Courthouse. The following men attested to the
high quality of Mr. Russell’s character: William Jenkins, Esq., John Melton, James Loller,
James Resson, James Doran, Sr., and William D. Gaines. After the approval of the
application, Mr. Russell received aRevolutionaryWar Pension of $41.66 per month until his
death.

Mr. Russell married Tabitha Jenkins (1770-1861) in the late 1700’s.Thirteen children
were born to them in their sixty-six years together. This sketch will follow the line as it
descends through their son James.
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JAMES RUSSELL
(1798-1887)

James RussellmarriedPaulinaGaines,member of one of the earliest pioneer families in
King Cove, They reared their family on the Russell farm. This line continues with their son
James Lowrey Doran Russell (1830-1915) who married Delilah Jane Doran (1836-1913),
daughter of the second James Doran who was born at Doran’s Stand in Tennessee. Their
home was on the Douthett Branch ashort distance from Major Doran’s home.

Next in line was Alexander Gaines Russellwhose first wife was Belle Anderson. At her
death she left six children. Alexander married Barbara Raulston the second time and reared
another family of four children.

108



60L

JSIPOYIIWISIJOY}JOUOSISIU],“PWOYWY}IeduP1OOUOD3eYOINYoa]331]ay}Jos1oy10ddns
d1OMpue“YOYISIPoyI@Woy}JOSIoquiaut[eAoTosomAprureypursuTETTTTA\JOfeW

“Woysty}paldnos0eavys}uRpUadsapSUIRITIIA\249fJOSUOTBIOUSSOAT]UDY}2OUTS
“AffureyToy}poreoroytmstypueoyOIOY],,"U9eIDSUL[Mog,,s.1oyIeJsMyJospunossay}uO
SPue}sMOUEY}SUTOYOY}YINGoY“AjUNODUOSyDEF0}PoUINJarsuEITTT\JofewIW

“1+voyyoproses oyUTyrodeSpiigyepayxiomoy‘souRIBoTTeJoyoayypousisSutaeyy“reekeBA[eoUJoypaxeysayaroym
uostid0}poispurpomnideosemay‘aromUoIppYOpuraytmsryoxaymyodeSpugutewoys.zoyIeysty
JospreAparpuny&UTMUoYmpu‘awOYpeze}spuepousisarApjomboy‘swrerptMJofepyJeA0pojowtoid
SPMJBO1JJOYULIEMOBUOYA\‘SI2OGJO1oNAadnsstyAqpasterdsemoyyey)‘pomnideo[Je10“payrySuroq
WoyBUEQE|YWAUINey?ButAesutjuRTTIqpueSuIpuEIsinoossemJoNpUODsty‘eggt‘OTAEW“eRUBTA
“yomy)weesJo9133eqey}UTpue“1ole~0}poyouroIdUOOSsemSUIETTTEA“opeStIqs.XOOTT,UTJuoUNTBar
PUNEQETYYIUINYIUF..g,,Auedutoyoures9qAueduioosry]“eruBnA‘puouryory0}Auedutoostyjo
PeoyoY}7BdOUOyeJUAMPueyrode$pirg0}aTIAsIOUNDWoeoquieaysBUOAuedwoosryYIMPoxEquio.
uot}a}°°payfosueueurystzypazpunyevjoAuedutoo[nyepeYyoyInoYyueUeY?ssofUT***yerWOYS4
BopeutpurpadumoaromUaUTyJOMYstI]Jo90103StqoYaFOYANs}UO1STYJOJOY}UTINOpoyyeMOEY“IEA
TATayJoYeosqynoay}yeeTeNYOFa[IAsIaqUNDWoPeoeoy}PTing0}Surdjoy‘eureqeyy‘oftasroquNy.
FOUMOTOH1DOgyeJo9UTsUd[TAIOBsem‘OMGseUMOUHJoy0q‘SWENTIM“f“HfuTedeg

:AJUNODUOSyoRLJOAIOJSTYSTYUT‘IoUeUUAYWIQoyJoFi
Sp1OMSUPMOTIOJOY}UFPIO}A[SUPALYSSteA[EALOY}UTBOISUIRTTEA\“WEJOA10ysOy]{

“7T8ppur[gpSeded‘gJoQUINNYoogps0qUTpepsodespur‘aje]plaeqespneAq
“EL8I‘STYOURPollySempoopoY“dovageY3JOeoNIsny‘pur“s“YAqpoztrejoupue
URUOTTM“f“APURPIOJMEID“A“DJosouasordoy}UTSWEET,“W°SPUR“f“H“fAqpousis
SOMJUOUINIASUTSTYL.“ABMJey}posnoqAvuIIseBuO]sesovjdSutAmnqpueasnoyjooyos
“yomnyoBJOJUOTLOO]BSBP[OYO}PUaARY0}°°*JSOFOJUTPue9I3T}“JYSMOY}Te‘osneo
PiesUI‘ssossooonstray}0}OsTepuke‘asnedpresJoy‘soojsny‘oqduegow“q“Apuresuryuor‘
“VvUYor“YMOHUYor‘T[assnysowsoyunpozuRIspueutd‘poyyeonboq,,sem‘preAdavsd
Purasnoyyounyooy}Surpnyour‘pueyJosaroesyIJIJ-INOJpuesuo‘poopMoy]“Josue[eBoyv
Aquei0gsofewAqapeurpurlArojoursopueyornyoJouoReuOppapsooarunoy}pozipeUrioy
AoyyourNstyySuLMG“sreod[eIDAaS10}peat]AdY}Bx9YM‘oAODuvIOGUTeoR[douroYUeIOg
JofeWPlooy2peseyoindAoy}pueojepuoryuesngporurewoy“67ST‘8Zyore‘AJUNOD
UosyoeeUTUJOGsem‘sWIRITTMAdelouTOYIeYpuesourerJouos‘sureNTA..c1Of,,

(S06I-6781)
SWVITTIM“fAUNATHHVINIYNAL

"saqeigpayun,
OY}0}SoURIBaTTesyGAPSJaAEUOYING“OSIUEAJUNODUOSYOELUTSOATZR[AI}ISIA0}pourNzor
OH“WeyaajjooBJYSNOGsyaayOOTKIW0}JUAMa]‘Sa}eIgpowUAoy}0}aouRBoTTe
JOYyeOoY}Oye}0}pasnjaroy“IapuaLNsoY}Joy“AdT]eAsessouua]oy}UTpoyerodopue
Ayeaeyeuleqe[yYUN,dy}peztue3IoaaopuvIOgJo[Jessny“Y“W[9UOTODZ98TUT

“AULT8]21OP2JUOD9Y}UIUOSINs&sesATOSO}WTYpoyqeud‘sewWoY]jouospuess
‘TessnyuoteJ0jpapracidayuoHOnsysuT[eoIpoUray)pue“‘TeA\[IAToy}o10JaqAJUNOD
wosyoerUTuRTOISAYd&semaH‘T[assNySeWOY|JoJayI0Iq&SEMJJassNYy“WY“Y[eUOTOD

TTASSAA“V“VTANOTOD

i

COLONEL A. A. RUSSELL
Colonel A. A. Russell was a brother of Thomas Russell. Hewas a physician in Jackson

County before the Civil War, and the medical instruction he provided for Marion Russell,
grandson of Thomas, enabled him to serve asa surgeon in the Confederate Army.

In 1862 Colonel A. A. Russell of Doran Cove organized the Fourth Alabama Cavalry
and operated in the Tennessee Valley. After the surrender, he refused to take the oath of
allegiance to the United States. He went to Mexico where he bought a coffee farm. He
returned to visit relatives in Jackson County in 1880,but he never gave his allegiance to the
UnitedStates.

JEREMIAH HENRY J. WILLIAMS
(1829-1905)

“Jere” Williams, son of James and Katherine Talley Williams, was born in Jackson
County, March 28, 1829. He married Susan Arendale and they purchased the old Major
Doran homeplace in Doran Cove, where they lived for several years. During this time they
formalized the unrecorded donation of church and cemetery landmade by Major Doran by
a legal transfer. Their deed, one and four-fifths acres of land, including the church house and
graveyard, was “bequeathed, given and granted unto James Russell, John Howk, John A.

’ Jenkins and W. D. McCampbell, trustees, for said cause, and also to their successors, in said
cause, all their right, title and interest . . . to have and to hold asa location for a church,
schoolhouse and burying place as long as it may be used that way.” This instrument was
signed by J. H. J. and S. A. Williams in the presence of G. W. Crawford and F. J. Wileman
and notarized by R. S.Gilliland, Justice of the Peace. The deed was filed March 25, 1873,
by Judge DavidTate, and recorded in DeedBook Number 6, pages 481 and 482.

; The story of Mr.Williams’ role in the Civil War is strikingly told in the following words
of Robert Kennamer, in his history of Jackson County:

Captain J. H. J. Williams, better known as Jerre, was a civil engineer at Pole Cat Hollow near
+ Guntersville, Alabama, helping to build the railroad fromGuntersville to Attalla at the outbreak of the Civil

War. Hewalked out in front of his tents where the big force of Irish workmen were camped and made a
t short talk . . . in less than an hour he hada full company of a hundred Irishmen enrolled . . .He then

embarked with his company on a steamboat from Guntersville to Bridgeport andwent at once at the head
of his company to Richmond, Virginia. This company became Company “B ” in the Ninth Alabama
regiment in Wilcox’s brigade. Williams was soon promoted to Major, and in the battle of Salem Church,
Virginia, May 10, 1863, his conduct was so outstanding and brilliant in saving the Ninth Alabama from
being killed, or all captured, that he was praised by his superior officers, When a lower rank officer was
promoted over Major Williams, he quickly resigned and started home,andwhen within ahundred yards of
his father’s home in Bridgeport where his wife and children were, he was captured and carried to prison
where he stayed for nearly a year. Having signed the oath of allegiance, he worked at Bridgeport in the
railroadoffice...

After Major Williams returned to Jackson County, he built the home that now stands
on the grounds of his father’s “Bowling Green.” There he and his wife reared their family.
Since then five generations of Jere Williams’ descendants have occupied this home.

Major Williams and family were loyal members of the Methodist Church, and were
supporters of the litt le church at Concord near their home. This is one of the first Methodist
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Churches in this part of the county, and its existence,which has survived three buildings, is
chiefly due to the Williams family line,

Major Williams and his wife were buried in the family cemetery on their estate.Their
influence, through their posterity, hashadawidespread impact for good.

WILLIAM O. RAULSTON
William O. Raulston, son of Colonel James Roulston (spelling changed) left the old

home in King Cove and moved over the mountain to Doran Cove, secured farm land and
made his home. His first wife was Priscilla Cross Raulston, They had seven children.
Descendants tell the story that a son, James, came to Bridgeport where R. C. Gunter was
recruiting soldiers for the Confederate Army. While here he enlisted, and when his mother
heard about it, she walked with him into the recruiting center and had him remove his name
from the list, an indication that to serve would have been disloyal to the record of his
grandfather, Colonel James Roulston.He left home about that time and died inArkansas,

Two other sons, Matthew and George, served in the United States Army and lost their
lives in action.

After his first wife’s death, Mr. Raulstonmarried again and had four daughters.
The Raulston family in Doran Cove has a continuous record since William O. settled

there.
Sam Houston, son by first wife, married Nancy Smith, half sister to Tom and Marion

Hawk who also owned land in this cove. They had six children, and this line continues
through their only son Robert Simmons who married Kate Gilliam and had ten children.
These include Russell McMahan, Edgar William, Nina Mae, Lawrence Albert, Walter
Anderson, Rice Hugh,Cora Tennessee, Robert Lewisand Ruby.

These are now the oldest living members of the family, and most of them have spent
their lives in or near their birthplace. From them have sprung two or three successive
generations. Altogether this family has built a strong line of responsible farmers, business
and professional people, who promote civic betterment. They were influential sponsors of
the new Church of Christ in the cove, and they have been effective in reclaiming the old
historical DoranCemetery where several of their ancestors are buried.

JAMES SCRUGGS
(1790-1868)

Land records in Scottsboro show James Scruggs in possession of 360 acres of land in
the area of Mount Carmel in 1830.

Richard Scruggs owned 40 acres in the same area in 1834. In 1858 heowned 40.
Alice and L, A. Scruggs owned 31 and 41 acres respectively, Sometime after this

Charlie Ridley purchased land from two Scruggs heirs, possibly Alice and L, A., at Mount
Carmel. He tore away a dilapidated two-story frame house and built a new two-story brick
in its place.

In 1821 James Scruggs was appointed by the Alabama Legislature as amember of the
committee that chose Bellefonte asthe county seat of Jackson County.
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JEFFRIES COVE
This cove consists of a small green valley separated from Doran Cove bya ridge chain

called Cedar Ridge, and it is walled in on the opposite side by the Cumberland Mountains.
According to descendants of its early settlers, the first white man to make his home in this
cove was one Mr. Jeffries. One member of the second generation of the Cloud family says
that the log house of Mr. Jeffries was standing at the head of the cove for many years, but
no recorded evidence has yet been found.

GEORGE CLOUD
Members of the Cloud family report that their ancestor, George Cloud, came from

North Carolina by way of Tennessee into Jackson County as early as 1830, and possibly
earlier, He stopped temporarily on a farm on Jones Creek. Soon afterward he moved into
Jeffries Cove and took over a farm which has been occupied by succeedingmembers of the
Cloud family ever since.

George Cloud was married twice. By his first wife he had five children, After her death
hemarried again and had three sons, James, Joe and Ben.

This cove filled in promptly. Within a short time the names of well-known families
such asLong,Wynne, Jenkins, Phillips,Grider, andGentry appeared there.

An account found among W. L. Kirkpatrick’s reminiscencesshows an interestingphase
of early life in that cove. He says: The time was 1856, place, aschoolhouse about 14 x 20
feet, built of rough, native logs and with “puncheon” floors. The seats were made of split
logs with the flat sides up and peg legs in the circular side. The teacher was Mike Swisher, an
Irishman who was so crippled by rheumatism that he walked on crutches. Among the pupils
were A. J., J. A., T. C., andMartha Jenkins; Caroline, Aphelia, and Susan Long;A. M., R. F.
M., A. L. and W. L. Kirkpatrick aswell asothers which Mr. W. L. Kirkpatrick could not
recall because he was only seven years old when he attended. Those named became his
lifelong friends.

Mr. Kirkpatrick recalls that A. J. Jenkins received a wound in the Battle of Gettysburg
and this shortened his life. The Long family moved later to Missouri, and Martha Jenkins
married Captain W. D. McCampbell, a Confederate Veteran, and lived on their farm in
Doran Cove.

Most of the pupils named here represented old families in Doran Cove. To reach the
school they had to walk several miles down Doran Cove through Cooper’s Gap and across
Jeffries Cove to the little school on the side of the mountain. Only aclearing nowmarks the
location.

Later entrants into this cove were two Wynne brothers,William and Jim Buck, sons of
John and PeggyWynne, prominent land owners of Sweedens Cove.

These brothers owned valuable land near the head of this narrow valley. A sister,
Martha Kansas, married Marion Francis Williams and reared a family of seven girls in Doran
Cove.This line has given many of the best citizens to this part of the county.

Another sister, Margaret Wynne, married Jefferson Lee Gentry, owner of fine farm
land in this cove.

Mr. Gentry served in Company C,Forty-ninthAlabama Infantry, duringthe CivilWar.
He was the father of five children by his first marriage. He served one term as sheriff of
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Jackson County. During this term the last death sentence by hanging occurred in
Scottsboro. While holding this office, Mr. Gentry married his second wife, Susan Hembree,
of that early family in Hogjaw Valley. After leaving office, he went to Carpenter, purchased
the home and land of Robert Liles “Dock” Hembree, and reared a second family of three
children: Robert, Absalom and Millie Sue. He engaged in farming and mercantile business
there until his death,

From this line has come successful business and professional men and women. Mr.
Gentry and last wife were buried in the cemetery at Harris Chapel in Hogjaw Valley.

James Phillips and wife, Nancy Hixson Phillips, are said to have entered 160 acres of
land at the head of Jeffries Cove early in 1800. He then moved to Dry Cove where he lived
for 25 years before returning to Jeffries Cove. His son,Will Phillips, lived with him until his
death. At Will’s death, Archie Phillips bought his farm and lived on it until his death a few
years ago.

Jackson County. During this term the last death sentence by hanging occurred in
Scottsboro. While holding this office, Mr. Gentry married his second wife, Susan Hembree,
of that early family in Hogjaw Valley. After leaving office, he went to Carpenter, purchased
the home and land of Robert Liles “Dock” Hembree, and reared a second family of three
children: Robert, Absalom and Millie Sue. He engaged in farming and mercantile business
there until his death.

From this line has come successful business and professional men and women. Mr.
Gentry and last wife were buried in the cemetery at Harris Chapel in Hogjaw Valley.

James Phillips and wife, Nancy Hixson Phillips, are said to have entered 160 acres of
land at the head of Jeffries Cove early in 1800, He then moved to Dry Cove where he lived
for 25 years before returning to Jeffries Cove. His son,Will Phillips, lived with him until his
death. At Will’s death, Archie Phillips bought his farm and lived on it until his death a few
years ago.
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